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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Reportgrtains forward-looking statements. These forwaiking statements include,
without limitation, predictions regarding the follong aspects of our future:

* Success in the markets of our or our customersiyats

» Sources of competitio

« Research and development costs and improvemetgstinology

* Sources, amounts and concentration of revenueidimg royalties

* Success in renewing license agreem

e Technology product developme

» Outcome and effect of current and potential futotellectual property litigation and other signéitt litigation
« Dispositions, acquisitions, mergers or strategiogactions and our related integration eff
*  Write-down of asset

» Pricing policies of our custome

« Changes in our strategy and business m

« Deterioration of financial health of commercial oterparties and their ability to meet their obligas to us
» Engineering, marketing and general and adminisinaixpense

¢ Contract revenu

e Operating result

« International licenses and operatic

» Effects of changes in the economy and credit mavketur industry and busine
< Ability to identify, attract, motivate and retaingified personne

e Growth in our busines

* Methods, estimates and judgments in accountingips

< Adoption of new accounting pronounceme

« Effective tax rate:

» Realization of deferred tax assets/release of oefeax valuation allowanc

e Trading price of our Common Sto

¢ Internal control environmet

» Corporate governanc

e The level and terms of our outstanding d

* Resolution of the governmental agency matters inmglus

 Litigation expense

« Protection of intellectual proper

» Terms of our licenses and amounts owed under kcagssement

« Indemnification and technical support obligatic

« Issuances of our securities, which could invohadrietive covenants or be dilutive to our existstgckholders; ar
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« Likelihood of paying dividends or repurchasing séas.

You can identify these and other forward-lookinatesments by the use of words such as “may,” “fytushall,” “should,” “expects,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” fgdicts,” “intends,” “potential,” “continue,” “prajcting” or the negative of such terms, or othe
comparable terminology. Forward-looking statemeitds include the assumptions underlying or relatingny of the foregoing statements.

” ” o«

Actual results could differ materially from thosetiaipated in these forwaridoking statements as a result of various faciaduding thost
set forth under Item 1A, “Risk Factors.” All forwdktooking statements included in this documentta®ed on our assessment of information
available to us at this time. We assume no obbgatib update any forward-looking statements.
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Rambus, RDRAM™, XDR™  FlexlO™, FlexPhasé", R+™ CryptoFirewal™, Imerz™, and MicroLen$ are trademarks, registered
trademarks or copyrights of Rambus Inc. Other traat&s or copyrights that may be mentioned in thisual report on Form 10-K are the

property of their respective owners.

Industry terminology, used widely throughout thisaal report, has been abbreviated and, as swege #bbreviations are defined below

your convenience

Differential Power Analysis

Double Data Rate

Dynamic Random Access Memory

Field Programmable Gate Arrays

Graphics Double Data Rate

High Definition Television

Input/Output

Light Emitting Diodes

Liquid Crystal Display

Peripheral Component Interconnect
Rambus Dynamic Random Access Memory
Simple Power Analysis

Single Data Rate

Synchronous Dynamic Random Access Memory
eXtreme Data Rate

DPA
DDR
DRAM
FPGA
GDDR
HDTV
I/0

LED
LCD
PCI
RDRAM ™
SPA
SDR
SDRAM
XDR ™
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From time to time we will refer to the abbreviatemes of certain entities and, as such, have pedvacchart to indicate the full names of
those entities for your convenience.

Advanced Micro Devices Inc. AMD
Broadcom Corporation Broadcom
Cooper Lighting, LLC Cooper Lighting
Cryptography Research, Inc. CRI
Elpida Memory, Inc. Elpida
Freescale Semiconductor Inc. Freescale
Fujitsu Limited Fujitsu
General Electric Company GE
Hewlett-Packard Company Hewlett-Packard
Hynix Semiconductor, Inc. Hynix
Infineon Technologies AG Infineon
Inotera Memories, Inc. Inotera
Intel Corporation Intel
International Business Machines Corporation IBM

Joint Electronic Device Engineering Councils JEDEC
Lighting and Display Technology LDT

LSI Corporation LSI
MediaTek Inc. MediaTek
Memory and Interfaces Division MID
Micron Technologies, Inc. Micron
Mobile Technology Division MTD
Nanya Technology Corporation Nanya
NVIDIA Corporation NVIDIA
Qimonda AG (formerly Infineon’s DRAM operations) Qimonda
Panasonic Corporation Panasonic
Renesas Electronics Renesas
Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. Samsung
Semiconductor Business Group SBG
Sony Computer Electronics Sony
Toshiba Corporation Toshiba
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Iltem 1. Business

Rambus Inc., referred to as we, us or Rambus, swawded in 1990 and reincorporated in Delaware inckd997. Our principal executive
offices are located at 1050 Enterprise Way, SW& Bunnyvale, California. Our website is www.ramsisom. You can obtain copies of our
Forms 10-K, 10-Q, 8-K, and other filings with thE@, and all amendments to these filings, free afgh, from our website as soon as
reasonably practicable following our filing of aafthese reports with the SEC. In addition, you megd and copy any material we file with
the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 1%t0elet NE, Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. iawy obtain information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room by callimg$EC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintaivesbaite that contains reports, proxy,
and information statements, and other informategarding registrants that file electronically witle SEC at www.sec.gov.

We are an innovative technology solutions compaay Ibrings invention to market. Unleashing theliat¢ual power of our world-class
engineers and scientists in a collaborative anérgystic way, we invent, develop, offer and licesetuitions that challenge and enable our
customers to create the future. While we are basivk for creating superior semiconductor memoriéectures, we are also developing
world-changing products and services in securifyaaced LED lighting and displays, and immersivébiteomedia. We believe we have
established an unparalleled business platformiaadding platform that will continue to foster ttievelopment of new foundational
technologies. In addition to licensing, we are tirggnew business opportunities through offeringdoicts and services where our goal is to
perpetuate strong company operating performancéoaiggterm stockholder value. We generate revelyd&bnsing our inventions and
solutions and providing services to market-leadiompanies.

While we have historically focused our efforts be development of technologies for electronics nrgraad chip interfaces, we have been
expanding our portfolio of inventions and solutidosaddress additional markets in lighting, displaghip and system security, digital medie
well as new areas within the semiconductor industugh as imaging and non-volatile memory. We idtiencontinue our growth into new
technology fields, consistent with our mission teate great value through our innovations and tkentlaose technologies available through
both our licensing and non-licensing business nmsd&y to our efforts, both in our current busimssand in any new area of diversification,
will be hiring and retaining world-class inventossjentists and engineers to lead the developnfénventions and technology solutions for
these fields of focus, and the management and &éssBupport personnel necessary to execute oy atehstrategies.

Rambus has four business units: (1) Memory andflades Division, or MID, which focuses on the desidevelopment and licensing of
technology that is related to memory and interfa¢@sCryptography Research, Inc., or CRI, whicbuges on the design, development and
licensing of technologies for chip and system s&cand anticounterfeiting; (3) Lighting and Display Technolesj or LDT, which focuses ¢
the design, development and licensing of techneképr lighting and displays; and (4) Mobile Teclugies Division, or MTD, which focuses
on the design, development and licensing of mu#dia solutions.

As of December 31, 2012, our semiconductor, lighttlisplay, security and other technologies areesed by 1,735 U.S. and foreign
patents. Additionally, we have 1,121 patent apfiticess pending. Some of the patents and pendingipapplications are derived from a
common parent patent application or are foreigmtenpart patent applications. We believe our patkiinovations provide our customers
with the ability to achieve improved performanaayér risk, greater cost-effectiveness and otheefitsrin their products and services.

Our inventions and technology solutions are offdoedur customers through either a patent licemsesmlutions license. Today, our
revenues are primarily derived from patent liceng@®ugh which we provide our customers a licensgse a portion of our broad portfolio of
patented inventions. The license provides our caste with a defined right to use our innovationthim customer's own digital electronics
products, systems or services, as applicable.i€aades may also define the specific field of usens our customers may use or employ our
inventions in their products. License agreemerdssauctured with fixed, variable or a hybrid ofdfd and variable royalty payments over
certain defined periods.

We also offer our customers solutions licensesipgpert the implementation and adoption of our tetbgy in their products or services.
Our solutions license offerings include a rangéeohnologies for incorporation into our custompreducts and systems. We also offer a rang
of services as part of our solutions licenses whainclude know-how and technology transfer, pobdiesign and development, system
integration, and other services. These solutiaebe agreements may have both a fixed price @wmraing) component and ongoing
royalties. Further, under solutions licenses, aist@mers typically receive licenses to our pataptessary to implement these solutions in
products with specific rights and restrictionshe aipplicable patents elaborated in their individoatracts with us.

Background




The demand for increased performance in computdkets, smartphones, consumer electronics and eliaetronic systems rises
dramatically with each passing year. Semiconduaar system designers face key challenges in sirgjdims pace of innovation. We strive to
offer compelling technologies that provide valuetm customers. A key component of our currentriess model is intellectual property
licensing. Our intellectual property broadly inchsd(but is not limited to) our technologies, saun§, and patents that incorporate our
innovations. We focus on intellectual property thas the potential to enable future high-volumessraarket platforms.

Memory and Interfaces

There are three main areas of focus in our Memnodylaterface Division: mobile memory, server memanyg links, and custom solutions.
The main markets for these memory types include ongfDRAM today, NAND in the future), System-on-du@ (SoCs) that connect to
memory (DRAM controllers), and SoCs that use hégked serial link interfaces. Since battery teabgoimproves modestly over time, mot
device designers face adding increased functignafitl higher performance with only small increasgsower budget. For plug-in systems,
there is a strong desire to reduce power consumfidioboth economic and environmental reasons vhilleproviding increased computing
capability and more visually compelling displays.the chip level, it becomes increasingly diffictdtmaintain signal integrity and power
efficiency as data transfer speeds rise to supporé powerful, multi-core processors.

To address these challenges and enable the comiimpeovement of electronics systems, ongoing imiown is required. The many
contributions and patented innovations developeRdmybus scientists and engineers have been, atidwto be, critical in addressing some
of the most difficult chip and system challenges.riiaximize the value of our intellectual propewtig have adopted a licensing strategy that
takes advantage of the adoption life cycle of neshhologies. During early adoption, we enable aigtamers to utilize our innovations
through technology solutions that offer value irg&aand/or emerging markets. As our innovationshrdmoad adoption, we also pursue patent
licensing to monetize products not covered by olut®ns licenses.

We have developed technologies, advanced desigdsievelopment tools for building high-performaace low-power memory and
serial-link interface cores for semiconductor chipge develop both proprietary and industry-staddiaterfaces that we provide to our
customers under solutions license agreements. |Mdetfer a range of services as part of our sohgilicenses which can include know-how
and technology transfer, product design and dewedop, system integration, and other services.ahudry 2013, we introduced a set of
solutions under the name R¥enhanced standard solutions. Fully compatible imidustry standards, R+ solutions offer compelliegefits
that enable our customers to differentiate theadpcts. Also in January 2013, we announced tseR# solution, the R+ LPDDR3 memory
architecture. The R+ LPDDRS3 architecture incluitiesrovements to power efficiency and performanes émable longer battery life and
enhanced mobile device functionality for streantiy video, gaming and data-intensive applicationg&e continue to focus significant
resources and effort to help bring products to maukder solutions license agreements with leadamgpanies in the industry.

Chip and System Security Technology

Security challenges are increasingly prevalentimuétitude of industries, including high-growth s&s such as mobile and content
distribution, providing a variety of opportunitiés our hardware-based security technologies andcss. This market trend provides us with
the opportunity to provide critical technologieadave are deploying and developing products to lenabto achieve this objective. Through
our acquisition of CRIin 2011, we own a portfatibpatented inventions and technology solutions dha needed for creating secure tamper-
resistant electronic devices and systems. CRIlenpad DPA countermeasures are critical in protgaievices against side channel attacks
as differential power analysis, which involve monihg the variations in power consumption or el@ttagnetic emissions of a device. In
addition, CRI's CryptoFirewall™ cores provide ausbhardware-based solution to protect electrasyssems from counterfeiting, piracy, and
other attacks. We believe the hardware based $gthiait can be achieved with our technologies &lyauperior to many software-based
security solutions.

For DPA countermeasures, our business model isoidde a combination of patent licenses, technalegysulting services (training,
evaluation, and design), and test equipment. Weesiagnized worldwide for our expertise in thisaarand our strategy is to strengthen our
offering beyond stand-alone patent licensing. e alrered the existence of SPA and DPA vulneradsliin the 1990s, and patented the
fundamental techniques for preventing againstrtteshod of attack. DPA protections are a criticalusity ingredient in tamper-resistant
products, and are important or required for a braagje of applications and devices (including sroartls, mobile devices, FPGAs,
government/defense applications, consumer setdgpd) FPGASs, postage meters and security tokens).

In addition to the DPA countermeasures portfolie,lvave developed technologies, expertise, advatesigns, and development tools for
building highly secure cryptographic semiconductares. We provide semiconductor cores under ouptGRirewall™ brand. We have
successfully deployed these cores in two primapliegtion areas where effective security




is valued and paid for by customers: content ptiaie@nd antieounterfeiting. For CryptoFirewall™ cores, our mostnmon business mode
to partner with chip manufacturers to integrateteaghnology, and then license it to downstreamarusts. We have completed integrations
with content-protection SoC partners which compgamhore than 75% of set-top box chipsets.

Mobile Technology Divisior

The Mobile Technology Division (MTD) is a new busss unit that was previously an initiative devetbpg our corporate R&D
organization. MTD is developing solutions for a orajew market trend: the creation of a compelling eteractive media experience which
naturally connects people to information. The tweecopportunities are in the areas of contentaativrity and access. In addition, the mobile
device is emerging as the hub of content accesspwdéry and interactivity, and will co-exist witklévision to provide a common canvas for
video consumption. Our strategic positioning isteate the first integrated video platform with thebile device being the hub for content
discovery, access and interactivity while seamjeissegrating premium video and commerce and defigean immersive and uncompromised
viewing experience across platforms. This multi-raesblution, called the Imefzmedia platform, consists of the following key compats:
single point of integration for Content Rights Owgjaunique searching interface to discover andcsgldeo content; seamless connection
between TV and mobile, including mobile-based meéeiote control; deep social integration so congaroan be connected through their
social networks to share, post, and discuss wiegtrthviewing from their mobile device and TV; arreen interactivity with video and
broadcast content, including frame-by-frame syneitzation of temporal/spatial tags for story-tellipgoduct information and e-commerce;
unparalleled communication opportunities for constso use in-app instant messaging, voice chd¢ovthat and on-TV social viewing; and
content tagging service, including curated or livetadata logging.

Lighting and Display Technolog'

The continued evolution of the light-emitting disd& ED) as a bright, reliable and energy-efficiégiit source creates significant market
opportunities in consumer electronics and in gdrigiating. Harnessing the benefits of LEDs, howey®esents a new set of challenges for
companies that offer and provide electronics agitiing products and solutions. Our technology afl@wstomers to efficiently and uniformly
spread the point source of light emitted from amldver a large area in a very cost effective wishpreover, we can control and direct the
emitted light to improve the overall product penfiance or application efficiency. This technologwleles clasteading price/performance a
freedom of design in both the lighting and disgi@jds. This value proposition is equally valuabtFoss all segments of our business -
lighting fixtures, bulbs and display backlights.eWelieve our patented technology, software andviinow, which enables precise placement
of MicroLens® on light guides, provides our custoswith a fundamental competitive advantage ovierahtive products in the market. We
continue to focus resources and effort to helpgbtirese new products to market under solutionasie@agreements with leading companies in
the industry. Our business model is a blend cémtadind technology licensing, product sales andcees to help bring innovative products to
market.

Corporate Research & Development

We have a centralized R&D and business incubatigarozation which is focused on consolidation afyeatage investments, longer-term
research activities, and worldwide engineeringsTdrganization has been structured to ensure sufppor the business units for the majority
of its spending. However, certain risk-reducinghtemlogy approaches in the business units will besictered. The current investment profiles
reflect best development practices as well as @dfaility. This function reflects a start-up fundingdel for new businesses being incubated
and a reduction in total engineering capacity tibdbealign with current internal and external deghan

Design and Manufacturing

Our technology solutions are developed with hightiree commercial manufacturing processes in mind.<0lutions can be delivered in a
number of ways, from reference designs to full kesncustom development deliverables. A referensigdeengagement might include an
architectural specification, data sheet, theorgpsration and implementation guides. A custom dgraknt project would entail a specific
design implementation optimized for the customm@mufacturing process. In some cases, we may @audply chain enablement services
where we assist our customers in designing andledtang certain manufacturing processes to implaoer technologies in their product
offerings.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to evolve from providing primanigtent licenses to providing additional technolqgypducts and services while creating
and leveraging strategic synergies to increasentexaNe believe that the successful executionisfstinategy requires an exceptional busines:
model that relies on the skills and talent of cmpéyees. Accordingly, we seek to hire and retadmlg¢class scientific and engineering
expertise in all of our fields of technological €xs; as well as the executive




management and operating personnel required tessitdly execute our business strategy. In ordatttact the quality of employees required
for this business model, we have created an envieoih and culture that encourages, fosters and sispgsearch, development and innovatiol
in breakthrough technologies with significant ofpaities for broad industry adoption. We believevese created a compelling company for
inventors and innovators who are able to work withibusiness model and platform that focuses dmt#ogy development to drive strong
future growth.

Research and Development and Employees

Our ability to compete in the future will be subgtally dependent on our ability to develop keyamations that meet the future needs of a
dynamic market. To this end, we have assembledra td highly skilled inventors, engineers and st whose activities are focused on
continually developing new innovations within otnosen technology fields. Using this foundationrofavations, our technical teams develop
new solutions that enable increased performaneetgr power efficiency, increased levels of segua$ well as other improvements and
benefits. Our solution design and development @®dea multi-disciplinary effort requiring expediin multiple fields across all of our
business units.

As of December 31, 2012, we had approximately 30pleyees in our engineering departments, represgapproximately 70% of our
total number of 455 employees. None of our emplsye covered by collective bargaining agreeméwsioted, we believe that our future
success is dependent on our continued abilityantify, attract, motivate and retain qualified pemsel. To date, we believe that we have beer
successful in recruiting qualified employees arat thur relationship with our employees is good.

A significant number of our scientists and engisesgrend all or a portion of their time on reseancti development. For the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, research antbgevent expenses were $140.5 million, $115.7 nmlbod $92.7 million, respectively,
including stockbased compensation of approximately $9.5 millidrQ.$ million and $10.2 million, respectively. Fbetyears ended Decem
31, 2012 and 2011, research and development expafseincluded $20.5 million and $15.7 milliorspectively, for the accrual of retention
bonuses for engineers. There was no accrual fentien bonuses in 2010. Since innovation is clitic@ur future success, we expect to
continue to invest substantial funds in researchdavelopment activities. In addition, becauseaustomer agreements often call for us to
provide engineering support, a portion of our tetagineering costs are allocated to the cost afrachrevenue.

Competition

Our selected industries are intensely competithetlzave been impacted by price erosion, rapid tdolgical change, short product life
cycles, cyclical market patterns and increasingifpr and domestic competition. We face competifiom semiconductor and digital
electronics products and systems companies, ogneicenductor intellectual property companies thavjgle security cores, and non-edge lit
LED display and general lighting options that araible to the market.

We believe that our principal competition for oechnologies may come from our prospective custonserae of whom are evaluating and
developing products based on technologies thatdbatend or may contend will not require a licefisen us. Some of our competitors use a
system-level design approach similar to ours, iiclg activities such as board and package desmmepand signal integrity analysis, and
thermal management. Many of these companies agerland may have better access to financial, teahand other resources than we pos

To the extent that alternatives might provide corapke system performance at lower than or simibest to our technologies, or are
perceived to require the payment of no or loweatdys, or to the extent other factors influenaeitidustry, our customers and prospective
customers may adopt and promote alternative teobied. Even to the extent we determine that suehnative technologies infringe our
patents, there can be no assurance that we wowltlbdéo negotiate agreements that would resutiyalties being paid to us without litigatic
which could be costly and the results of which widog uncertain. Litigation has been, and may castio be required to enforce and protect
our intellectual property rights, as well as thbstantial investments undertaken to research avel@®our innovations and technologies.

Patents and Intellectual Property Protection

We maintain and support an active program to ptatecintellectual property, primarily through tfikng of patent applications and the
defense of issued patents against infringemenaf A&cember 31, 2012, we have 1,735 U.S. and forg#gents on various aspects of our
technology, with expiration dates ranging from 2662037, and we have 1,121 pending patent apjaitatThese patents and patent
applications cover important inventions in semiaactdr, lighting, display, security and other teclogges. Some of the patents and pending
patent applications are derived from a common pgratent application or are foreign counterparepaapplications. We have a program to
file applications for and obtain patents in the tgdiStates and in selected foreign countries wiverbelieve filing for such protection is
appropriate and would further our overall busirgsategy and objectives. In some instances, obiiappropriate levels of protection may
involve prosecuting continuation and counterpatépgapplications based on a common parent apjlicdh addition, we attempt to protect
our




trade secrets and other proprietary informationugh agreements with current and prospective cieawmmand confidentiality agreements with
employees and consultants and other security messie also rely on trademarks and trade secrsttiaprotect our intellectual property.

Information concerning revenue, results of operatiand revenue by geographic area is set fortiem 6, “Selected Financial Data,” in
Item 7, “Management's Discussion and Analysis ofRtial Condition and Results of Operations,” anblote 7, “Segments and Major
Customers,” of Notes to Consolidated Financialeédtesnts of this Form 10-K, all of which are incomued herein by reference. Information
concerning identifiable assets is also set fortNae 7, “Segments and Major Customers,” of Note€dnsolidated Financial Statements of
this Form 10-K. Information on customers that coisgd 0% or more of our consolidated revenue arkd agtendant to our foreign operations
is set forth below in Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

Our Executive Officers

Information regarding our executive officers anditlages and positions as of February 25, 201&)ritained in the table below. Our
executive officers are appointed by, and servheatiscretion of, our Board of Directors. Theraasfamily relationship between any of our
executive officers.

Name Age Position and Business Experience

Ronald D. Black, Ph.D. 49 Chief Executive Officer and President. Dr. Blacls Isarved as our chief executive
officer and president since June 2012 and as atdirsince July 2012. Dr. Black was
previously the Managing Director of R.D. Black & @pany, a consulting firm, since
August 2011. From September 2010 to August 2011Bck was the Chief Executi
Officer of MobiWire, formerly Sagem Wireless, avaiely-held mobile handset
company headquartered near Paris, France thas gffeducts and services to original
equipment manufacturers and mobile network opesatothe mobile phone
marketplace. From June 2009 to October 2010, kxclBserved as Chairman and CEO
of UPEK, Inc. Dr. Black currently serves as a baaember of AuthenTec, Inc., which
he joined following the AuthenTec-UPEK merger irp&enber 2010, Inside
Contactless, a France-based company engaged $ettieonductors and information
technology industry, and EnOcean GmbH, a Germaaebasmpany that manufactures
and markets energy harvesting technology, senandstadio frequency
communication. From September 2004 to June 200@asechief executive officer of
Wavecom S.A., a publicly traded French wirelessitsmhs company. Dr. Black holds a
Bachelor of Science, a Masters of Science, and@.Rhmaterials science and
engineering from Cornell University in Ithaca, N.Y.

Kevin Donnelly 51 senior Vice President and General Manager, Memodylaterfaces. Mr. Donnelly

leads the development of our DRAM and high-spesdtiechnology. Prior to this
position, Mr. Donnelly served as the senior vicesptent of both IP Strategy and
Engineering, where he led business strategy andefie¢chnology development for us.
Earlier, Mr. Donnelly served as vice-president, icdgterface Division, where he led
the development and deployment of logic interfawapcts. Before joining us, Mr.
Donnelly held engineering positions at National 8amductor, Sipex and Memorex.
He holds a bachelor's degree in electrical engingemnd computer sciences from the
University of California, Berkeley and a masteegke in electrical engineering from
San Jose State University. Mr. Donnelly holds nwusipatents in the area of high-
speed clocking and 1/O circuits.
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Name

Age

Position and Business Experience

Jae Kim

Satish Rishi

Martin Scott, Ph.D.

Laura Stark

42

53

57

44

Senior Vice President and General Counsel. Mr. K& served as the senior vice
president and general counsel since February 28d 3siour vice president, corporate
legal since joining us in July 2010. Prior to teaure with us, Mr. Kim held senior
legal positions with both private and public comianwhere his scope of
responsibilities included compliance, intellectpedperty, commercial transactions, i
litigation. Mr. Kim has also had significant exparce in private practice with the law
firm of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, where &dvised high technology and
emerging growth companies on mergers and acquisitjarivate financings, public
offerings, securities compliance, public comparporéng and corporate governance.
Mr. Kim began his legal career as an attorney tithUnited States Securities and
Exchange Commission, Division of Corporation Fir@arin Washington, D.C. Mr. Kim
is a member of both the California State Bar and/Nerk State Bar, and received a
JD from the American University, Washington Collegd.aw, and his bachelor's
degree from Boston University.

Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Finar@féiter. Mr. Rishi joined us in his
current position in April 2006. Prior to joining ,udr. Rishi held the position of
executive vice president of Finance and chief famrofficer of Toppan Photomasks,
Inc., (formerly DuPont Photomasks, Inc.) one ofwrld’s leading photomask
providers, from November 2001 to April 2006. Durimg 25-year career, Mr. Rishi has
held senior financial management positions at sentiactor and electronic
manufacturing companies. He served as vice presaehassistant treasurer at Dell
Inc. Prior to Dell, Mr. Rishi spent 13 years atlnCorporation, where he held financial
management positions both in the United Stateaadseas, including assistant
treasurer. Mr. Rishi holds a B.S. with honors indii@nical Engineering from Delhi
University in Delhi, India and an M.B.A. from theniversity of California at

Berkeley’s Haas School of Business. He also sasesdirector of Measurement
Specialties, Inc.

Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Offi€ar. Scott leads our platform
development efforts, responsible for long-rangeaesh and development. Dr. Scott
joined us from PMC-Sierra where he was most regemte president and general
manager of its Microprocessor Division. Previougly, Scott was vice president and
general manager for 1/O Solutions at Agilent Tedbgies. Dr. Scott started his
professional career at HP Labs before holding uarimanagement positions at HP
including ASIC Business Unit manager. He earnedhihelor's degree at Rice
University and both a master's degree and Ph.In Btanford University.

Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy, MergatsAcquisitions. Ms. Stark leads
our efforts of diversification. Originally joinings in 1996 as strategic accounts
manager, Ms. Stark has held positions of vice gesgj Alliances and Infrastructure,
vice president, Memory Interface Division, and sewice president, Platform
Solutions Group. Prior to joining us, she held @asi positions in the Semiconductor
Products Division of Motorola during a six-yearues, including technical sales
engineer for the Apple sales team, and field appbos engineer for the Sun and SGI
sales teams. Ms. Stark earned a bachelor of sctlgree in electrical engineering
from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors
RISK FACTORS

Because of the following factors, as well as otraiables affecting our operating results, pastiial performance may not be a reliable
indicator of future performance, and historicahtie should not be used to anticipate results odgén future periods. See also “Special Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” elsewhetéisreport.

Risks Associated With Our Business, Industry and Miket Conditions

The success of our business depends on sustainingrewing our royalty and contract revenue and tffi@glure to achieve such revenue
would lead to a material decline in our results operations.

Our revenue consists mainly of patent and techiyoiognse fees paid for access to our patents eméldped technology and development
and support services provided to our customers.aDility to secure the licenses from which our raxes are derived depends on our custo
adopting our technology and using it in the prodibey sell. If we do not achieve our revenue gamals results of operations could decline.

We have traditionally operated in industries thateahighly cyclical and competitive.

Our target customers are companies that developnankiet high volume business and consumer prodiustesmiconductors, computing,
tablets, handheld devices, mobile applications,iggrand graphics, high definition televisions amepthys, general lighting, cryptography and
data security. The electronics industry is intepseimpetitive and has been impacted by price enpsépid technological change, short prot
life cycles, cyclical market patterns and increggoreign and domestic competition. We are sulifgahany risks beyond our control that
influence whether or not we are successful in wigrtarget customers or retaining existing custopmectuding, primarily, competition in a
particular industry, market acceptance of sucharusts' products and the financial resources of sustomers. In particular, DRAM
manufacturers, which make up many of our tradii@uatomers, have suffered material losses and atheerse effects to their businesses,
leading to industry consolidation that may resulioiss of revenues under our existing license agee¢s or loss of target customers. As a r¢
of ongoing competition in the industries we operatand the economic downturn of the past severats; we may achieve a reduced number
of licenses, tightening of customers' operatingdausl difficulty or inability of our customers tayour licensing fees, extensions of the
approval process for new licenses and consolidaimang our customers, all of which may adversdlcathe demand for our technology and
may cause us to experience substantial fluctuationar operating results.

In order to grow, we may have to invest more resms in research and development than anticipatetial could increase our operatin
expenses and negatively impact our operating result

If new competitors, technological advances by égstompetitors, and/or development of new techgiel® or other competitive factors
require us to invest significantly greater resosrtgn anticipated in our research and developefémts, our operating expenses could
increase. If we are required to invest significagileater resources than anticipated in researdhi@velopment efforts without an increase in
revenue, our operating results could decline. Weeekkthese expenses to increase in the foresefeiinie as our technology development
efforts continue.

Our revenue is concentrated in a few customers, ange lose any of these customers, our revenue magrease substantially.

We have a high degree of revenue concentrationtdpuiive customers for each reporting period repnéed approximately 68%, 66% and
85% of our revenues for the years ended Decemhe&(3P, 2011 and 2010, respectively. For the yeded December 31, 2012, revenues
from Samsung accounted for 10% or more of our negeRor the year ended December 31, 2011, revérarasElpida, NVIDIA and
Samsung, each accounted for 10% or more of ountevd-or the year ended December 31, 2010, revfemmeElpida and Samsung, each
accounted for 10% or more of our total revenueaAssult of our settlement with Samsung in Jang@at0, Samsung accounted for a
significant portion of our ongoing licensing revergince 2010 as reflected above. We expect toraomto experience significant revenue
concentration for the foreseeable future as atresthe addition of new contracts, expiration ristéing contracts, renewal of existing contre
industry consolidation.

In addition, our license agreements are complexsanae of our license agreements contain termgéiaire us to provide certain
customers with the lowest royalty rate that we mrewto other customers for similar technologiedur@es and schedules. These clauses m
subject to interpretation and may limit our abilityeffectively price differently among our custameo respond quickly to market forces, or
otherwise to compete on the basis of price.
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We continue to be in negotiations with customeis rospective customers to reach license agreemdietexpect royalties will continue
to vary based on our success in renewing exisiiem$e agreements and adding new customers, aasibié level of variation in our
customers' reported shipment volumes, sales priderax, offset in part by the proportion of custarpayments that are fixed. A number of
material license agreements are scheduled to exp2@15. If we are unsuccessful in renewing anthege license agreements on favorable
terms or at all, our results of operations may idecsignificantly.

If our counterparties are unable to fulfill theirihancial and other obligations to us, our busineasd results of operations may be affect
adversely.

Any downturn in economic conditions or other busméactors could threaten the financial healthusfapunterparties, including compan
with whom we have entered into licensing arrangdmerttiement agreements or that have been subjiiifjation judgments that provide f
payments to us, and their ability to fulfill thdéinancial and other obligations to us. Such finahpressures on our counterparties may
eventually lead to bankruptcy proceedings or o#ttesmpts to avoid financial obligations that are ¢ttmus under licenses, settlement
agreements or litigation judgments. Because baméyumurts have the power to modify or cancel caxts of the petitioner which remain
subject to future performance and alter or disobhg@a@yment obligations related to pre-petition delvessmay receive less than all of the
payments that we would otherwise be entitled teikecfrom any such counterparty as a result ofrikhgotcy proceedings.

Our business and operations could suffer in the avef security breaches.

Attempts by others to gain unauthorized accessitanormation technology systems are becoming nsoghisticated. These attempts,
which might be related to industrial or other espige, include covertly introducing malware to oomputers and networks and impersonating
authorized users, among others. We seek to detddhaestigate all security incidents and to prétkair recurrence, but in some cases, we
might be unaware of an incident or its magnitude effiects. While we have not identified any matdriaidents of unauthorized access to d
the theft, unauthorized use or publication of aueliectual property and/or confidential businegsrimation could harm our competitive
position, reduce the value of our investment irraesh and development and other strategic inigatin otherwise adversely affect our
business. To the extent that any future securiadin results in inappropriate disclosure of outausrs' confidential information, we may
incur liability. We expect to devote additional oesces to the security of our information technglegstems.

Failures in our products and services or in the ghacts of our customers, including those resultingpin security vulnerabilities, defects or
errors, could harm our business.

Because the techniques used by hackers to acceabatage secure chip and other technologies cHerggeently and generally are not
recognized until launched against a target, we bgaynable to anticipate these techniques and miagdaess them in our data security
technologies. Furthermore, our data security teldyies may also fail to detect or prevent secusigaches due to a number of reasons such
the evolving nature of such threats and the coatismergence of new threats. An actual or percedeedrity breach of our customers or their
endcustomers, regardless of whether the breach ibutble to the failure of our data security tedbgés, could adversely affect the mark
perception of our security technologies. We mayh®oéble to correct any security flaws or vulnditiéss promptly, or at all. Any breaches,
defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our data siégtechnologies could result in;

« expenditure of significant financial and reséaand development resources in efforts to analyaeect, eliminate or work-around
breaches, errors or defects or to address andnalienvulnerabilities;

« financial liability to customers for breach of @rt contract provision

» loss of existing or potential custom

« delayed or lost revent

« delay or failure to attain market accepta

* negative publicity, which will harm our reputaticemc

« litigation, regulatory inquiries or investigatiotisat may be costly and harm our reputa

Some of our revenue is subject to the pricing p@iof our customers over whom we have no cont

We have no control over our customers' pricinghefrtproducts and there can be no assurance teatkd products will be competitively
priced or will sell in significant volumes. One iomtant requirement for our memory chip interface®r any premium charged by our
customers in the price of memory and controllepsluver alternatives to be reasonable in compatistine perceived benefits of the chip
interfaces. If the benefits of our technology do match the price premium charged by our custontleestesulting decline in sales of products
incorporating our technology could harm our opeatiesults.
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Our licensing cycle is lengthy and costly, and amarketing and licensing efforts may be unsuccessful

The process of persuading customers to adopt easié our chip interface, lighting, display andadscurity, and other technologies ca
lengthy. Even if successful, there can be no asserthat our technologies will be used in a prothat is ultimately brought to market,
achieves commercial acceptance or results in signif royalties to us. We generally incur signifitenarketing and sales expenses prior to
entering into our license agreements, generatiicgase fee and establishing a royalty stream feach customer. The length of time it take
establish a new licensing relationship can takeynmaonths or even years. In addition, our ongoingliectual property litigation and
regulatory actions have and will likely continuent@ve an impact on our ability to enter into nesellises and renewals of licenses. We may
incur costs in any particular period before anyeiged revenue stream begins, if at all. If ourketing and sales efforts are very lengthy or
unsuccessful, then we may face a material advéfieset en our business and results of operatiorsrasult of failure or delay to obtain
royalties.

Future revenue is difficult to predict for severakasons, and our failure to predict revenue accuebt may result in our stock price
declining.

Our lengthy and costly license negotiation cycld aar ongoing intellectual property litigation madaer future revenue difficult to predict
because we may not be successful in enteringicgndes with our customers on our estimated tiragland we are reliant on the litigation
timelines for any results or settlements.

While some of our license agreements provide f@dj quarterly royalty payments, many of our lieeagreements provide for volume-
based royalties, and may also be subject to capsyatties in a given period. The sales volume jamckes of our customers' products in any
given period can be difficult to predict. As a riésaur actual results may differ substantiallyrfranalyst estimates or our forecasts in any ¢
quarter.

In addition, a portion of our revenue comes fromal@pment and support services provided to ourocasts. Depending upon the nature o
the services, a portion of the related revenue Ingasecognized ratably over the support period, ay be recognized according to contract
accounting. Contract revenue accounting may rasuléferral of the service fees to the completibthe contract, or may be recognized over
the period in which services are performed on agréage-of-completion basis. There can be no asseithat the product development
schedule for these projects will not be changedietayed.

All of these factors make it difficult to prediaitire revenue and may result in our missing preshoannounced earnings guidance or
analysts' estimates which would likely cause ooclsprice to decline.

We have in the past and may in the future make aisifions or enter into mergers, strategic transamtis or other arrangements that may r
produce expected operating and financial resu

From time to time, we engage in acquisitions, sgittransactions and strategic investments. We hamnpleted a number of acquisitions
from 2009 to 2012, including the acquisition of GRR011, our largest transaction to date. Mangwfacquisitions or strategic investments
entail a high degree of risk, and investments nayecome liquid for several years after the date@investment, if at all. Our acquisitions
strategic investments may not generate the finhretiarns we expect, and we may be subject toliiegs that are not covered by
indemnification protection we may obtain or becasubject to litigation. Achieving the anticipatechiéits of business acquisitions depends in
part upon our ability to integrate the acquiredibesses in an efficient and effective manner. Tivegration of companies that have previously
operated independently may result in significaralieimges, including, among others: retaining kepleyees; successfully integrating new
employees, business systems and technology; megadnistomers of the acquired business; minimiziegdiversion of management's attention
from ongoing business matters; coordinating gedycally separate organizations; consolidating redeand development operations; and
consolidating corporate and administrative infiactiures. In addition, we may record impairment gkarrelated to our acquisitions or strategi
investments. Any losses or impairment chargeswiahncur related to acquisitions or strategic itwents will have a negative impact on our
financial results, and we may continue to incur mevadditional losses related to acquisitions @tsgic investments that we have not fully
impaired or exited.

We may have to incur debt or issue equity secsrttigpay for any future acquisition, which debequity securities could involve restrict
covenants or be dilutive to our existing stockhadde

From time to time, we may divest assets, where &g provide certain representations, warrantiescavenants. While we would ensure
the accuracy of such representations and warraantié$ulfillment of any ongoing obligations, we miag subject to claims by a purchaser of
such assets.

A substantial portion of our revenue is derived frosources outside of the United States and thissrave and our busines
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generally are subject to risks related to internatial operations that are often beyond our contr

For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar®] B8denue received from our international custeneenstituted approximately 73%,
67% and 93%, respectively, of our total revenue.eifeect that future revenue derived from intermaticources will continue to represent a
significant portion of our total revenue.

To date, all of the revenue from international oostrs has been denominated in U.S. dollars. Howé&véhne extent that such customers'
sales are not denominated in U.S. dollars, anyltiegavhich are based as a percentage of the cestoeales that we receive as a result of
sales could be subject to fluctuations in currezxghange rates. In addition, if the effective pofdicensed products sold by our foreign
customers were to increase as a result of fluctnatin the exchange rate of the relevant currendemand for licensed products could fall,
which in turn would reduce our royalties. We do ns¢ financial instruments to hedge foreign excbaatg risk.

We currently have international design operationindia and Italy and business development opersiiio Japan and Korea. Our
international operations and revenue are subjeztvariety of risks which are beyond our contnotliding:

« export controls, tariffs, import and licensing regtons and other trade barrie

« profits, if any, earned abroad being subjedbtal tax laws and not being repatriated to thetéthStates or, if repatriation is possible,
limited in amount;

« treatment of revenue from international souaas changes to tax codes, including being subjefcireign tax laws and being liable for
paying withholding, income or other taxes in forejgrisdictions;

« foreign government laws and regulations and chamgdgese laws and regulatio

« lack of protection of our intellectual propeggd other contract rights by jurisdictions in whigh may do business to the same extent ¢
the laws of the United States;

« hiring, maintaining and managing a workforce rertyossd under various legal syste

* natural disasters, acts of war, terrorism, widesgpiness or securities breact

« social, political and economic instabili

« geopolitical issues, including changes in diplomaticlarade relationships; a

» cultural differences in the conduct of businlesth with customers and in conducting businessiinirternational facilities and
international sales offices.

We and our customers are subject to many of ths described above with respect to companies wdniehocated in different countries.
There can be no assurance that one or more oisteeassociated with our international operatiofisnat result in a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition or results ofragiens.

Weak global economic conditions may adversely afféemand for the products and services of our cus#ss.

Our operations and performance depend significamtlworldwide economic conditions, and the U.S. aodd economies have
experienced a prolonged period of weak economiditions, and the threats of further regional or idaide downturn are evident today.
Uncertainty about global economic conditions pasesk as consumers and businesses may postpamgirspén response to tighter credit,
negative financial news and declines in incomessetwvalues, which could have a material negaffeeteon the demand for the products of
our customers in the foreseeable future. If outarasrs experience reduced demand for their prodscesresult of economic conditions or
otherwise, our business and results of operationklde harmed.

If we are unable to attract and retain qualified pgonnel, our business and operations could suff

Our success is dependent upon our ability to iflerattract, compensate, motivate and retain gedlipersonnel, especially engineers,
senior management and other key personnel. Emptoyeever has accelerated for us in the past y&arrasult of our reduction in our
workforce in August 2012 and voluntary separatidie loss of the services of any of these emplogeakl be disruptive to our development
efforts or business relationships and could causéuosiness and operations to suffer.

We are subject to various government restrictiomsdaegulation, including on the sale of products drservices that use encryption
technology and those related to privacy and othensumer protection matters.

Regulatory initiatives throughout the world camatseate new and unforeseen regulatory obligationgs and the technology we develop.
The impact of these potential obligations variesellon the jurisdiction, but any such changes cioupédct whether we enter, maintain or
expand our presence in a particular market or pattiicular potential customers.

Various countries have adopted controls, licengairements and restrictions on the export, impod ase of products or
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services that contain encryption technology. Initamit, governmental agencies have proposed additi@guirements for encryption
technology, such as requiring the escrow and gonental recovery of private encryption keys. Resuits on the sale or distribution of
products or services containing encryption techgwlmay impact the ability of CRI to license its aaecurity technologies to the
manufacturers and providers of such products arwices in certain markets or may require CRI ociistomers to make changes to the
licensed data security technology that is embedidedch products to comply with such restrictioc@svernment restrictions, or changes to the
products or services of CRI's customers to comjilly such restrictions, could delay or prevent theeptance and use of such customers'
products and services. In addition, the UnitedeStand other countries have imposed export corttratprohibit the export of encryption
technology to certain countries, entities and irdlials. Our failure to comply with export and usgulations concerning encryption technol

of CRI could subject us to sanctions and penalitiediding fines, and suspension or revocationxpiogt or import privileges.

We are subject to a variety of laws and regulatiarthe United States, the European Union and atbentries that involve, for example,
user privacy, data protection and security, cord@at consumer protection. A number of proposalpaneling before federal, state, and fore
legislative and regulatory bodies that could sigaifitly affect our business. Existing and propds@gs and regulations can be costly to compl
with and can delay or impede the development of pealucts, result in negative publicity, increase @perating costs and subject us to cle
or other remedies.

Our operations are subject to risks of natural ditars, acts of war, terrorism, widespread illnesssecurity breach at our domestic and
international locations, any one of which could rek in a business stoppage and negatively affect operating results.

Our business operations depend on our ability timt@ian and protect our facilities, computer systemd personnel, which are primarily
located in the San Francisco Bay Area. The Sanciem Bay Area is in close proximity to known egrihke fault zones. Our facilities and
transportation for our employees are susceptibtlatoage from earthquakes and other natural disasieh as fires, floods and similar events.
Should a catastrophe disable our facilities, waalohave readily available alternative facilitiesrh which we could conduct our business,
which stoppage could have a negative effect oroperating results. We also rely on our networkasfiructure and technology systems for
operational support and business activities, whrehsubject to damage from malicious code and oéhatred vulnerabilities common to
networks and computer systems, including acts nflabsm and potential security breach by thirdipartActs of terrorism, widespread illness,
war and any event that causes failures or inteomph our network infrastructure and technologgteyns could have a negative effect at our
international and domestic facilities and couldnhaur business, financial condition, and operatasults.

Unanticipated changes in our tax rates or in thextéaws and regulations could expose us to additibimcome tax liabilities which could
affect our operating results and financial conditio

We are subject to income taxes in both the UniteteS and various foreign jurisdictions. Significardgment is required in determining
our worldwide provision for income taxes and, ie tirdinary course of business, there are manyacdiogss and calculations where the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Our effectax rate could be adversely affected by chaitgése mix of earnings in countries with
differing statutory tax rates, changes in the vidueof deferred tax assets and liabilities, chanigdax laws and regulations as well as other
factors. Our tax determinations are regularly stiifie audit by tax authorities and developmenthase audits could adversely affect our
income tax provision. Although we believe that tax estimates are reasonable, the final deterroimati tax audits or tax disputes may be
different from what is reflected in our historiéatome tax provisions which could affect our opeigtesults.

We do not have extensive experience in manufactgrand marketing products, and as a result, willyedn sales and distribution channels
for the light bulb. If we are unable to secure &l and distribution channels or do not manage theoctcessfully, our operating results cot
be adversely affected.

In order to grow our business, we will need to watth various partners to enable them to sell agglaly our solutions. We may be unable
to successfully establish and expand the effectisgf our distribution channels. If our chanratmers do not effectively market and sell out
solutions, if they choose to place greater emplasijsroducts of their own or those offered by campetitors, or if they fail to meet the needs
of our customers, our ability to grow our businasd our operating results may be adversely affected

Our business and operating results will be harmédavie undertake any restructuring activities.

From time to time, we may undertake to restructurebusiness, such as the reduction in our workftinat we announced in August 2012.
There are several factors that could cause a o#stilng to have an adverse effect on our busirfeemcial condition and results of operations.
These include potential disruption of our operagidhe development of our technology, the deliget@eour customers and other aspects of ot
business. Employee morale and productivity coudd auffer and we may lose employees whom we wakeep. Loss of sales, service and
engineering talent, in particular, could damagebusginess.
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Any restructuring would require substantial managentime and attention and may divert management fsther important work. Employee
reductions or other restructuring activities alaase us to incur restructuring and related expeswsgsas severance expenses. Moreover, we
could encounter delays in executing any restruogupians, which could cause further disruption additional unanticipated expense.

Risks Related to Capitalization Matters and Corporde Governance
The price of our common stock may continue to fluate significantly.

Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ GlobalegseMarket under the symbol “RMBS.” The tradingcprof our common stock has
at times experienced price volatility and may aoui to fluctuate significantly in response to vasidactors, some of which are beyond our
control. These factors include:

* any progress, or lack of progress, real or peeck in the development of products that incorpur innovations and technology
companies' acceptance of our products, includiegéBults of our efforts to expand into new targatkets;

e our signing or not signing new licenses and the tifsstrategic relationships with any custor

« new litigation or developments in current litigatiand the unpredictability of litigation resultssmttlement:

< announcements of our technological innovationsesv products by us, our customers or our compej

< changes in our strategies, including changesiirlicensing focus and/or acquisitions of compamigh business models or target
markets different from our own;

e positive or negative reports by securities analgst® our expected financial results and busidegslopment:

« developments with respect to patents or propriaights and other events or fact

 trading activity related to our share repurchas@glan

« issuance of additional securities by us, includingcquisitions

In addition, the stock market in general, and @rifce companies in our industry in particular, haxperienced extreme volatility that often
has been unrelated to the operating performanseabf companies. These broad market and industiufitions may adversely affect the price
of our common stock, regardless of our operatinfppmance.

Because our outstanding senior convertible notesamvertible into shares of our common stock, tildilaor depressed prices of our
common stock could have a similar effect on thdiirg price of our notes. In addition, the existentée notes may encourage short selling ir
our common stock by market participants becausedheersion of the notes could depress the pric@ioEommon stock.

We have been party to, and may in the future bejsabto, lawsuits relating to securities law matsawhich may result in unfavorable
outcomes and significant judgments, settlements deghl expenses which could cause our businessaficial condition and results of
operations to suffer.

We and certain of our current and former officerd directors, as well as our current auditors, veetgect to several stockholder derivative
actions, securities fraud class actions and/owviddal lawsuits filed in federal court against uslaertain of our current and former officers
directors. The complaints generally alleged thatdbfendants violated the federal and state sexsuliws and state law claims for fraud and
breach of fiduciary duty. For more information abthis litigation, see Note 18, “Litigation and Asted Claims,” of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements contained in this Form 104ke @mount of time to resolve any lawsuits is uraiertand these matters could require
significant management and financial resourcesatfable outcomes and significant judgments, seéttés and legal expenses in litigation
related to our past and any future securities lams could have material adverse impacts on osiniess, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and the trading price ofammmon stock.

We are leveraged financially, which could adverselfect our ability to adjust our business to regmgbto competitive pressures and to obt
sufficient funds to satisfy our future research ardkvelopment needs, to protect and enforce ourliattual property and other need

We have indebtedness. In 2009, we issued $172liBmidlggregate principal amount of our 2014 Noldg degree to which we are
leveraged could have important consequences, imgjutut not limited to, the following:

» our ability to obtain additional financing inetffuture for working capital, capital expenditurasquisitions, litigation, general corporate
or other purposes may be limited,;

» asubstantial portion of our cash flows frommiens in the future will be dedicated to the pawtnof the principal of our indebtedness
as we are required to pay the principal amountuof2®14 Notes in cash upon conversion if specif@aditions are met or when due;
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< if upon any conversion of our 2014 Notes werarpiired to satisfy our conversion obligation wattares of our common stock or we are
required to pay a “make-whol@remium with shares of our common stock, our exgstitockholders' interest in us would be dilutedj

« we may be more vulnerable to economic downtuass, able to withstand competitive pressures esslflexible in responding to
changing business and economic conditions.

A failure to comply with the covenants and othesvisions of our debt instruments could result iere¢ of default under such instruments,
which could permit acceleration of all of our notAgy required repayment of our notes as a regwtfandamental change or other
acceleration would lower our current cash on harmuth shat we would not have those funds available$ée in our business.

If we are at any time unable to generate sufficeash flows from operations to service our indeisgd when payment is due, we may be
required to attempt to renegotiate the terms ofrtiuments relating to the indebtedness, seedfimance all or a portion of the indebtedness
or obtain additional financing. There can be naessce that we will be able to successfully reneg@such terms, that any such refinancing
would be possible or that any additional finanatogld be obtained on terms that are favorable ceptable to us.

Compliance with changing regulation of corporate gernance and public disclosure may result in addital expenses.

Changing laws, regulations and standards relatiraptporate governance and public disclosure hesterftally created uncertainty for
companies such as ours. Any new or changed lagslations and standards are subject to varyinggregations in many cases due to their
lack of specificity, and as a result, their apgii@a in practice may evolve over time as new gudggis provided by regulatory and governing
bodies, which could result in continuing uncertairggarding compliance matters and higher costess#ated by ongoing revisions to
disclosure and governance practices.

Our restated certificate of incorporation and bylawDelaware law and our outstanding convertible astcontain provisions that could
discourage transactions resulting in a change inrtool, which may negatively affect the market pricé our common stock.

Our restated certificate of incorporation, our daand Delaware law contain provisions that migtatde our management to discourage,
delay or prevent a change in control. In additibese provisions could limit the price that investawould be willing to pay in the future for
shares of our common stock. Pursuant to such pomés

e our board of directors is authorized, withoubpstockholder approval, to create and issue predestock, commonly referred to as
“blank check” preferred stock, with rights seniorthhose of common stock, which means that a stddkhoights plan could be
implemented by our board;

» our board of directors is staggered into two classely one of which is elected at each annual img;

» stockholder action by written consent is prohiby

* nominations for election to our board of direstand the submission of matters to be acted upatdekholders at a meeting are subjec
to advance notice requirements;

» certain provisions in our bylaws and certificaténcorporation such as notice to stockholddrs,ability to call a stockholder meeting,
advance notice requirements and action of stoclensldy written consent may only be amended withagroval of stockholders
holding 66 2/3% of our outstanding voting stock;

» our stockholders have no authority to call spetieétings of stockholders; &

« our board of directors is expressly authorized &ken alter or repeal our byla

We are also subject to Section 203 of the Delavmeeral Corporation Law, which provides, subjearamerated exceptions, that if a
person acquires 15% or more of our outstandinghgattock, the person is an “interested stockholdad’ may not engage in any “business
combination” with us for a period of three yeawsnirthe time the person acquired 15% or more obatstanding voting stock.

Certain provisions of our outstanding convertibi¢éas could make it more difficult or more expendiwea third party to acquire us. Upon
the occurrence of certain transactions constitwifigndamental change, holders of the notes wilehike right, at their option, to require us to
repurchase, at a cash repurchase price equal % @0the principal amount plus accrued and unpatiekést on the notes, all or a portion of
their notes. We may also be required to issue iatdit shares of our common stock upon conversiaguoh notes in the event of certain
fundamental changes.

Litigation, Regulation and Business Risks Relatedotour Intellectual Property

We face current and potential adverse determinagdn litigation stemming from our efforts to proté@nd enforce our patents and
intellectual property and make other claims, whiclould broadly impact our intellectual property righ, distract
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our management and cause substantial expenses adinkes in our revenue and stock price.

We seek to diligently protect our intellectual peofy rights. In connection with the extension of bcensing program to SDR SDRAM-
compatible and DDR SDRAM-compatible products, wedmee involved in litigation related to such effatsainst different parties in multiple
jurisdictions. In each of these cases, we haveneldiinfringement of certain of our patents, while manufacturers of such products h
generally sought damages and a determinationhbaidtents in suit are invalid, unenforceable astdnfringed. Among other things, the
opposing parties have alleged that certain of atemnis are unenforceable because we engaged imdatspoliation, litigation misconduct
and/or acted improperly during our 1991 to 1995ipgation in the JEDEC standard setting organizafincluding allegations of antitrust
violations and unfair competition). We have alsodree involved in litigation related to infringemeaftour patents related to products having
certain peripheral interfaces. In addition, we wid prevail at jury trial in our antitrust suit agst certain memory manufacturers in
November 2011, which caused the market price obtagk to drop significantly, and we face appeals farther proceedings related to si
actions. See Note 18, “Litigation and Asserted i8faf of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemehtiis Form 10-K.

There can be no assurance that any or all of thesipg parties will not succeed, either at thd ttappellate level, with such claims or
counterclaims against us or that they will notdmg other way establish broad defenses againgtatents, achieve conflicting results or
otherwise avoid, delay paying royalties for the aeur patented technology, or obtain orders tpire us to pay or reimburse their costs or
attorneys' fees in material amounts or post bondeter such amounts. Moreover, there is a riskitlome party prevails against us, other
parties could use the adverse result to defeatnirdur claims against them; conversely, there lsamo assurance that if we prevail against
party, we will succeed against other parties orilaimnalaims, defenses, or counterclaims. In additibere is the risk that the pending litigatit
and other circumstances may cause us to accephkssvhat we now believe to be fair consideratiosettlement.

Any of these matters or any future intellectualgandy litigation, whether or not determined in éavor or settled by us, is costly, may ce
delays (including delays in negotiating licensethwither actual or potential customers), will téadliscourage future design partners, will t
to impair adoption of our existing technologies acert the efforts and attention of our managenaent technical personnel from other
business operations. In addition, we may be unsséakin our litigation if we have difficulty obtaing the cooperation of former employees
and agents who were involved in our business duhiagelevant periods related to our litigation anel now needed to assist in cases or testif
on our behalf. Furthermore, any adverse deternainati other resolution in litigation could resuitaur losing certain rights beyond the rights
at issue in a particular case, including, amongiothings: our being effectively barred from suatbers for violating certain or all of our
intellectual property rights; our patents beingdhielalid or unenforceable or not infringed; oumgesubjected to significant liabilities; our
being required to seek licenses from third parties;being prevented from licensing our patentetirielogy; or our being required to
renegotiate with current customers on a temporapemmanent basis.

Even if we are successful in our litigation, or aytlement of such litigation, there is no guazarihat the applicable opposing parties will
be able to pay any damages awards timely or asal result of financial difficulties or otherwidgelay or any or all of these adverse results
could cause substantial expenses or declines iregenue and stock price.

From time to time, we are subject to proceedingsgloyernment agencies that may result in adverseedainations against us and could
cause our revenue to decline substantially.

An adverse resolution by or with a governmentahagecould result in severe limitations on our d@bitd protect and license our intellect
property, and would cause our revenue to declibstantially. Third parties have and may attemptge adverse findings by a government
agency to limit our ability to enforce or licensar patents in private litigations, to challengeotrerwise act against us with respect to such
government agency proceedings.

Further, third parties have sought and may sedkweand reconsideration of the patentability ofantions claimed in certain of our patents
by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“PTO”)/anthe European Patent Office (the “EPQ"). Curygrwe are subject to numerous re-
examination proceedings, including proceedingsaitat! by Hynix and Micron as a defensive actiondannection with our litigation against
those companies. A number of these re-examinatiocegdings are being reviewed by the PTO's BoaRhté#nt Appeals and Interferences
(“BPAI"). The BPAI has issued decisions in a fevges, finding the challenged claims of Rambus'snpate be invalid. Decisions of the BPAI
are subject to further PTO proceedings and appehkt Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.idaf adverse decision by the PTO or EPO
could invalidate some or all of these patent cla@md could also result in additional adverse comsecges affecting other related U.S. or
European patents, including in our intellectualpamy litigation. If a sufficient number of suchtpats are impaired, our ability to enforce or
license our intellectual property would be sigrafitly weakened and this could cause our revendedline substantially.

The pendency of any governmental agency actingssrithed above may impair our ability to enforcdicegnse our
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patents or collect royalties from existing or pdigncustomers, as our litigation opponents magmaftt to use such proceedings to delay or
otherwise impair any pending cases and our existirgptential customers may await the final outcarhany proceedings before agreeing to
new licenses or pay royalties.

Litigation or other third-party claims of intellectual property infringemertould require us to expend substantial resourceslaould
prevent us from developing or licensing our techogly on a co<effective basis.

Our research and development programs are in haghpetitive fields in which numerous third parties/e issued patents and patent
applications with claims closely related to thejgabmatter of our programs. We have also been damthe past, and may in the future be
named, as a defendant in lawsuits claiming thateehnology infringes upon the intellectual propeights of third parties. As we develop
additional products and technology, we may facendaf infringement of various patents and othégllactual property rights by third parties.
In the event of a third-party claim or a successffringement action against us, we may be requioguhy substantial damages, to stop
developing and licensing our infringing technolotgydevelop non-infringing technology, and to obtiééenses, which could result in our
paying substantial royalties or our granting ofssrticenses to our technologies. We may not betaldbtain licenses from other parties at a
reasonable cost, or at all, which could cause expend substantial resources, or result in detgys the cancellation of, new product.

If we are unable to successfully protect our invents through the issuance and enforcement of patgrdur operating results could k
adversely affected.

We have an active program to protect our propnyetarentions through the filing of patents. Theasm de no assurance, however, that:

e any current or future U.S. or foreign patent agilans will be approved and not be challenged byl tharties

e ourissued patents will protect our intellectualg@rty and not be challenged by third par

« the validity of our patents will be uphe

« our patents will not be declared unenforce

« the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfe our ability to do busine:

« Congress or the U.S. courts or foreign countridisnot change the nature or scope of rights raféal patents or patent owners or alter in
an adverse way the process for seeking or enfopzatents;

« changes in law will not be implemented, or clemnim interpretation of such laws will occur, thall affect our ability to protect and
enforce our patents and other intellectual propémtyiuding as a result of the passage of the Acadnivents Act of 2011 (which codifi
several significant changes to the U.S. patent Ewveswill remain subject to certain rule-making amerpretation, including changing
from a “first to invent” to a “first inventor tol&” system, limiting where a patentee may file gepasuit, requiring the apportionment of
patent damages, replacing interference proceediithlerivation actions, and creating a post-gapgosition process to challenge
patents after they have issued);

* new legal theories and strategies utilized by ampetitors will not be successi

» others will not independently develop similar omgzeting chip interfaces or design around any patiait may be issued to us

« factors such as difficulty in obtaining coop@atfrom inventors, pre-existing challenges oghtiion, or license or other contract issues
will not present additional challenges in secuingtection with respect to patents and other ietélial property that we acquire.

If any of the above were to occur, our operatirsytts could be adversely affected.

In addition, our patents will continue to expireaiding to their terms, with expiration dates ramggirom 2013 to 2037. Our failure to
continuously develop or acquire successful innovetiand obtain patents on those innovations cogihdfisantly harm our business, financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

Our inability to protect and own the intellectualrpperty we create would cause our business to suffe

We rely primarily on a combination of license, deyenent and nondisclosure agreements, trademade secret and copyright law and
contractual provisions to protect our non-patergétellectual property rights. If we fail to protehese intellectual property rights, our
customers and others may seek to use our technuelitiggut the payment of license fees and royaltisch could weaken our competitive
position, reduce our operating results and incréasdkelihood of costly litigation. The growth ofir business depends in large part on the us
of our intellectual property in the products ofrthparty manufacturers, and our ability to enfdntellectual property rights against them to
obtain appropriate compensation. In addition, ¢iifedrade secret protection may be unavailabléngted in certain foreign countries.
Although we intend to protect our rights vigoroysfywe fail to do so, our business will suffer.
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We rely upon the accuracy of our customers' recoediping, and any inaccuracies or payment disputesgmounts owed to us under our
licensing agreements may harm our results of opévas.

Many of our license agreements require our custettedocument the manufacture and sale of prodliatsncorporate our technology and
report this data to us on a quarterly basis. Whinses with such terms give us the right to abnditks and records of our customers to verify
this information, audits rarely are undertaken biseahey can be expensive, time consuming, anahiimite detrimental to our ongoing
business relationship with our customers. Therefweetypically rely on the accuracy of the repdrtsn customers without independently
verifying the information in them. Our failure tadit our customers' books and records may reswltiirreceiving more or less royalty revenue
than we are entitled to under the terms of ounbeeagreements. If we conduct royalty audits irfubgre, such audits may trigger
disagreements over contract terms with our custermed such disagreements could hamper customéonsladivert the efforts and attention
of our management from normal operations and impacbusiness operations and financial condition.

Any dispute regarding our intellectual property magquire us to indemnify certain customers, the to$ which could severely hamper ol
business operations and financial condition.

In any potential dispute involving our patents traw intellectual property, our customers coule dscome the target of litigation. While
we generally do not indemnify our customers, sofmeuo license agreements provide limited indemsjtend some require us to provide
technical support and information to a customer ihavolved in litigation involving use of ourdbnology. In addition, we may agree to
indemnify others in the future. Any of these inddfication and support obligations could result ubstantial expenses. In addition to the time
and expense required for us to indemnify or sugpbh support to our customers, a customer's dewelop marketing and sales of licensed
semiconductors, lighting and display, mobile comioations and data security technologies could lversdy disrupted or shut down as a re
of litigation, which in turn could severely hamprr business operations and financial conditioa essult of lower or no royalty payments.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
ltem 2. Properties

As of December 31, 2012, we occupied offices inl¢fased facilities described below:

Number of
Offices
Under Lease Location Primary Use
6 United States
Sunnyvale, CA (2) (Corporate Executive and administrative offices, researchdenktlopment, sales and markei
Headquarters) and service functions
Chapel Hill, NC Research and development
Brecksville, OH (2) Research and development and prototyping facility
San Francisco, CA Research and development
1 Bangalore, India Administrative offices, research and developmeunt sarvice functions
1 Tokyo, Japan Business development
1 Taipei, Taiwan Business development
1 Seoul, Korea Business development
1 Burago Di Molgora, Italy Research and development
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

For the information required by this item regardiegal proceedings, see Note 18 “Litigation ande&esl Claims,” of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
PART Il
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Skbwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Our Common Stock is listed on The NASDAQ GlobaleseMarket under the symbol “RMBS.” The followirapte sets forth for the
periods indicated the high and low sales pricespare of our Common Stock as reported on The NASQAdpal Select Market.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 92¢ $ 626 $ 2220 $ 18.1:
Second Quarter $ 648 $ 41 $ 216¢ $ 13.0¢
Third Quarter $ 61C $ 37¢ $ 157t $ 9.7¢
Fourth Quarter $ 568 $ 401 $ 185 $ 4.0C

The graph below compares the cumulative 5-yeal tetarn of holders of Rambus Inc.'s common stoitk the cumulative total returns of
the NASDAQ Composite index and the RDG Semiconductimposite index. The graph tracks the performafiee$100 investment in our
common stock and in each of the indexes (with ¢ievestment of all dividends) from December 31, 2@December 31, 2012.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Rambus Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index,
and the RDG Semiconductor Composite Index

$140 -

§120 -

$100 -

§0 s : . A i
12107 12108 12109 1210 1211 12112

—H&—Rambus Inc. —-a—-NASDAQComposite -—<---RDG Semiconductor Composite

2100 invested on 12/31/07 in stoeck or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Fiscal years ending:

12/07 12/08 12/09 12/10 12/11 12/12
Rambus Inc. 100.0(q 76.03 116.52 97.80 36.06 23.26
NASDAQ Composite 100.0q 59.03 82.25 97.32 98.63 110.79
RDG Semiconductor Composite 100.04 50.95 85.67 99.01 92.48 91.00

The stock price performance included in this graphot necessarily indicative of future stock preformance.

Information regarding our securities authorizedifsuance under equity compensation plans wilhbkided in Item 12, “Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Manageraed Related Stockholder Matters,” of this reporf~orm 10-K.

22




Table of Contents

As of January 31, 2013, there were 661 holdersaind of our Common Stock. Since many of the shafresr Common Stock are held by
brokers and other institutions on behalf of stod#trs, we are unable to estimate the total numbbkeweficial stockholders represented by
these record holders.

We have never paid or declared any cash dividendsio Common Stock or other securities.
Private Issuance of Common Stock

On January 19, 2010, pursuant to the terms of thek$Purchase Agreement, Samsung purchased forfreashus 9.6 million shares of our
common stock (the “Shares”) with certain restricti@nd put rights. The issuance of the Shares by 8amsung was made through a private
transaction. The Stock Purchase Agreement prov&@edsung a one-time put right, which Samsung exadi 4.8 million of the Shares.
Samsung currently continues to hold the remaini8gillion of the Shares.

The Stock Purchase Agreement currently providetsShmsung can transfer a limited number of shames aaily basis, provides us with a
right of first offer for proposed transfers abowstain daily limits, and, if no sale occurs to usler the right of first offer, allows Samsung to
transfer the Shares. Under the Stock Purchase Agnete Samsung has certain rights to register tlageSHor sale under the securities laws of
the United States, subject to customary terms anditions.

See Note 19, “Settlement Agreement with Samsurfg\lades to Consolidated Financial Statements af Btarm 10K for further discussiol

Share Repurchase Program

In October 2001, our Board of Directors (the “Bdam@pproved a share repurchase program of our Camtatack, principally to reduce the
dilutive effect of employee stock options. Undds tbrogram, the Board approved the authorizatiaeparchase up to 19.0 million shares of
our outstanding Common Stock over an undefineddesf time. On February 25, 2010, the Board appt@eew share repurchase program
authorizing the repurchase of up to an additio2sh illion shares. Share repurchases under tigrgsmomay be made through open market,
established plan or privately negotiated transastio accordance with all applicable securitiesslamwles, and regulations. There is no
expiration date applicable to the program. The skare repurchase program replaces the programriagithdn October 2001. In addition, on
August 19, 2010, we entered into a share repurcigieE=ment (the “Share Repurchase Agreement”)daithMorgan Securities Inc. JP
Morgan delivered to us approximately 4.8 milliorasts of Common Stock at an average price of $18.88 completion of the Share
Repurchase Agreement in December 2010.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201didwet repurchase any shares of our Common Stodknour share repurchase
program. For the year ended December 31, 2010eprechased approximately 9.5 million shares of@mmmon Stock with an aggregate
price of approximately $195.1 million, includingetiprice paid pursuant to the Share Repurchase fgmge As of December 31, 2012, we had
repurchased a cumulative total of approximatel3 2gillion shares of our Common Stock with an aggtegrice of approximately
$428.9 million since the commencement of the pnugira2001. As of December 31, 2012, there remaaredutstanding authorization to
repurchase approximately 5.2 million shares ofaustanding Common Stock.

We record stock repurchases as a reduction tohsttades’ equity. We record a portion of the purehpsce of the repurchased shares as ¢
increase to accumulated deficit when the pricnefshares repurchased exceeds the average opgicakeds per share received from the
issuance of Common Stock. During the year ende@ibber 31, 2010, the cumulative price of the shampsrchased exceeded the proceeds
received from the issuance of the same numberaseshThe excess of $163.6 million was recordeghdacrease to accumulated deficit for
the year ended December 31, 2010.

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial dataand as of the years ended December 31, 2012, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was derivec
from our consolidated financial statements. Thefeing selected consolidated financial data shdmédead in conjunction with Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations,” and ltemRnancial Statements and
Supplementary Datagnd other financial data included elsewhere inrtp®rt. Our historical results of operations asemecessarily indicati
of results of operations to be expected for anyriuperiod.
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Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 (1)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Total revenue $ 234,05. $ 312,360 % 323,39( $ 113,000 $ 142,49:
Net income (loss) $ (13433() $ (43,059 $ 150910 $ (92,189 $ (199,110
Net income (loss) per share:

Basic $ (120 $ 039 $ 132 $ 0.8 $ (1.90)
Diluted $ 120 $ (039 $ 1.3C $ (0.89 $ (1.90)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securites $  203,33( $ 28945t $ 512,006 $ 460,19 $  345,85:
Total assets $ 587,81 $ 693,65: $ 663,17: $ 555,86¢ $ 397,37(
Convertible notes $ 147,55¢ $ 133,49 $ 121,50 $ 248,04: $ 125,47:
Stockholders’ equity $ 32159 $ 429,79 $ 334,78 $ 255,327 $ 232,94

(1) The summary consolidated selected financitd da of the year ended December 31, 2008 hasaupested as a result of the retrospective
adoption on January 1, 2009 of Financial AccounSitendards Board (“FASB”) accounting guidance wlilgrifies the accounting for
convertible debt instruments that may be settlezhgh upon conversion, including partial cashesetint (“FASB convertible debt
accounting guidance”). The following amounts aréhiousands. The year ended December 31, 2008 exhdjustments for the FASB
convertible debt accounting guidance to increats &ssets by $480, decrease convertible noted bi$6 and increase stockholders’
equity by $11,956.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

This report contains forward-looking statementshimitthe meaning of Section 27A of the SecuritigeAt933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statemelait® to our expectations for future events ane toariods. All statements other than
statements of historical fact are statements tbaildbe deemed to be forward-looking statementdydiing any statements regarding trends ir
future revenue or results of operations, gross rimaog operating marginexpenses, earnings or losses from operations, giggor other
financial items; anstatements of the plans, strategies and objectifesanagement for future operations; any statememgerning
developments, performance or industry ranking; stagements regarding future economic conditionpesformance; any statements
regarding pending investigations, claims or disgytny statements of expectation or belief, andstatements of assumptions underlying an
of the foregoing. Generally, the words “anticipdtéelieves,” “plans,” “expects,” “future,” “i may,” “should,” “estimates,”

" ow ” ” w

intend s,
“predicts,” “potential,” “continue” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Gumird-looking statements are based on
current expectations, forecasts and assumptionsaaadubject to risks, uncertainties and changesoimdition, significance, value and effect.
As a result of the factors described herein, anthexdocumentincorporated herein by reference, including, in fi@rlar, those factors
described under “Risk Factors,” we undertake noigdtion to publicly disclose any revisions to thésmvard-looking statements to reflect
events or circumstances occurring subsequentitgfthis report with the Securities and Exchangen@uossion.

Business Overview

We are an innovative technology solutions compaay Ibrings invention to market. Unleashing theliattual power of our world-class
engineers and scientists in a collaborative anérgystic way, we invent, develop, offer and licesstutions that challenge and enable our
customers to create the future. While we are basivk for creating superior semiconductor memoriéectures, we are also developing
world-changing products and services in securifyaaced LED lighting and displays, and immersivébiteomedia. We believe we have
established an unparalleled business platformiaadding platform that will continue to foster ttievelopment of new foundational
technologies. In addition to licensing, we are tinggnew business opportunities through offeringdoicts and services where our goal is to
perpetuate strong company operating performancéoaggterm stockholder value. We generate revelydebnsing our inventions and
solutions and providing services to market-leadiompanies.

While we have historically focused our efforts e tlevelopment of technologies for electronics nrgraad chip interfaces, we have been
expanding our portfolio of inventions and solutidosaddress additional markets in lighting, displaghip and system security, digital medie
well as new areas within the semiconductor indyustngh as imaging and non-volatile memory. We idtencontinue our growth into new
technology fields, consistent with our mission teate great value
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through our innovations and to make those technedogyvailable through both our licensing and noefsing business models. Key to our
efforts, both in our current businesses and inraw area of diversification, will be hiring anda#ting world-class inventors, scientists and
engineers to lead the development of inventionstadithology solutions for these fields of focusd #me management and business support
personnel necessary to execute our plans andgitsate

We have four business units: (1) Memory and Intax$aDivision, or MID, which focuses on the desidevelopment and licensing of
technology that is related to memory and interfa®sCryptography Research, Inc., or CRI, whicbuges on the design, development and
licensing of technologies for chip and system sigcand antieounterfeiting; (3) Lighting and Display Technolegj or LDT, which focuses ¢
the design, development and licensing of technekopr lighting and displays; and (4) Mobile Teclugies Division, or MTD, which focuses
on the design, development and licensing of mu#dia solutions. Additionally, a centralized resbaaind development and business
incubation organization ("CTO") has been formeddasolidate early-stage investments, longer-tegaarch activities and worldwide
engineering, which also includes MTD. As of Decenidig 2012, only MID and CTO were considered regduld segments as they met the
guantitative thresholds for disclosure as a reptetaegment. The results of the remaining immdtegarating segments were combined and
shown under “All Other”. For additional informati@mencerning segment reporting, see Note 7, “Seggraard Major Customers,” of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K

Our strategy is to evolve from providing primanigtent licenses to providing additional technolqgyducts and services while creating
and leveraging strategic synergies to increasea/é/Ne believe that the successful executionisfstinategy requires an exceptional busines:
model that relies on the skills and talent of cmpéoyees. Accordingly, we seek to hire and retadmlgivclass scientific and engineering
expertise in all of our fields of technological s as well as the executive management and apgiagrsonnel required to successfully
execute our business strategy. In order to atthectjuality of employees required for this businesslel, we have created an environment anc
culture that encourages, fosters and supportsnadseadevelopment and innovation in breakthroughretogies with significant opportunities
for broad industry adoption. We believe we havatae a compelling company for inventors and innongatvho are able to work within a
business model and platform that focuses on teclygalevelopment to drive strong future growth.

As of December 31, 2012, our semiconductor, lighttlisplay, security and other technologies areeped by 1,735 U.S. and foreign
patents. Additionally, we have 1,121 patent aptiices pending. Some of the patents and pendingipafmlications are derived from a
common parent patent application or are foreigmtenpart patent applications. We have a prografitet@pplications for and obtain patents in
the United States and in selected foreign countviesre we believe filing for such protection is ejggiate and would further our overall
business strategy and objectives. In some instanbéaining appropriate levels of protection mayoive prosecuting continuation and
counterpart patent applications based on a comrammnpapplication. We believe our patented innovestiprovide our customers with the
ability to achieve improved performance, lower rigkeater cost-effectiveness and other benefitlsain products and services.

Our inventions and technology solutions are offécedur customers through either a patent licemseswlutions license. Today, our
revenues are primarily derived from patent licente®ugh which we provide our customers a licensgse a portion of our broad portfolio of
patented inventions. The license provides our caste with a defined right to use our innovationthie customer's own digital electronics
products, systems or services, as applicable.iTerdes may also define the specific field of ukens our customers may use or employ our
inventions in their products. License agreemergssauctured with fixed, variable or a hybrid ofdd and variable royalty payments over
certain defined periods. Leading consumer prodighiconductor and system companies such as AMxd8am, Elpida, Freescale, Fujitsu,
GE, Intel, Panasonic, Renesas, Samsung and Tdsinedlicensed our patents for use in their own getsd The majority of our intellectual
property in MID was developed in-house and we idtenexpand our business strategy of monetizingllr intellectual property to include
the sale of select intellectual property. As arlgsaxecuted under this expanded strategy reprasshponent of our ongoing major or cer
operations and activities, we will record the rethproceeds as revenue.

We also offer our customers solutions licensesiipsrt the implementation and adoption of our tedbgy in their products or services.
Our customers include leading companies such apé&tdaghting, Elpida, GE, IBM, Panasonic, Samsusgpy and Toshiba. Our solutions
license offerings include a range of technologgesricorporation into our customers' products arslesns. We also offer a range of services a
part of our solutions licenses which can includevhow and technology transfer, product designdekelopment, system integration, and
other services. These solutions license agreem@myshave both a fixed price (non-recurring) compr@ad ongoing royalties. Further, under
solutions licenses, our customers typically recéibenses to our patents necessary to implemesetbelutions in their products with specific
rights and restrictions to the applicable patef#barated in their individual contracts with us.

The remainder of our revenue is contract servieesirue which includes license fees and enginesgngces fees. The timing and amot
invoiced to customers can vary significantly depegan specific contract terms and can thereforelzasignificant impact on deferred
revenue or account receivables in any given period.
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We intend to continue making significant expendituassociated with engineering, marketing, gem@diladministration and expect that
these costs and expenses will continue to be #ismm percentage of revenue in future periodsetiar such expenses increase or decree
a percentage of revenue will be substantially dépenhupon the rate at which our revenue or expesisesge.

Executive Summary
On June 20, 2012, our Board of Directors appoiltedRonald D. Black as our new president and oiiefcutive officer.

During 2012, we signed license agreements with NX|DMediaTek, Cooper Lighting and Fujitsu. As aukof the patent license
agreements with NVIDIA and MediaTek, we settledaaitstanding claims with them, including resolutafrpast use of our patented
innovations. The license agreement with Fujitsuecs\the use of our patented innovations implementadbroad range of integrated circuit
("IC") products offered by Fujitsu Semiconductor.

In 2012, we also acquired Unity Semiconductor Coapion (“Unity”), an innovative memory technology company for $35illan in cash
We expect that this acquisition will expand theduith of our breakthrough memory technologies. Sete N, “Acquisitions,” of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form lfosKurther discussion.

In addition, during the second quarter of 2012 cammpleted a stock option exchange program. See N{té&Equity Incentive Plans and
Stock-Based Compensation,” of Notes to Consolid&tadncial Statements of this Form 10-K for furtbdéscussion regarding the stock option
exchange program.

Also during 2012, the Secure Content Storage Aasioci (“SCSA”) selected our CRI group to providewsdty leadership and expertise to
the SCSA efforts. The goal of the SCSA is to prevédnsumers with new ways to build digital homedlites. The SCSA initiative will give
consumers an easier and faster way to organize, atal move their high-definition digital moviesdafiv shows across multiple devices. Our
security expertise will be deployed across thisfpien to provide the necessary security.

During the third quarter of 2012, we initiated atracturing effort to reduce overall corporate exges which is expected to improve future
profitability while refining some of our researchdadevelopment efforts. As a result of the restmigy program, we recorded a pre-tax charge
of $7.3 million during 2012 related primarily toetiheduction in workforce. See Note 16, “RestruciyiCharges,” of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements of this Form 10-K for furtdéscussion. In addition, we recorded a non-casihgehfor the impairment of goodwill and
long-lived assets within our LDT group of $35.5lioih as a result of the change in our businessegfyawith less focus on the higher margin
display technology licensing and an increased facusur general lighting technologies. See Notériangible Assets and Goodwill,” of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements offtbisn 1(-K for further discussion.

Research and development continues to play a Keyrrour efforts to maintain product innovatio@sir engineering expenses in the
aggregate for the year ended December 31, 201@4dsed $29.1 million as compared to 2011 primarly th increased headcount related ¢
of $11.4 million from additional employees to supgpmur research and development efforts, increaseattization expense of $9.1 million
related to increased acquisitions, increased ctingiéxpenses of $6.3 million and increased acarfigdtention bonuses related to acquisition:
of $4.9 million, partially offset by the $4.2 mdin decrease in funding for our 2012 corporate iticerplan (“CIP") which is lower than our
2011 CIP.

Marketing, general and administrative expensebkeraggregate for the year ended December 31, 2&¥2ased $51.5 million as comparec
to 2011 primarily due to a decreased litigationenges of $47.8 million, $8.1 million decrease indimg for our 2012 CIP, and decreased
stock-based compensation expense of $3.9 milliartighly offset by increased headcount relatedscof$3.2 million from the average
increase in employees to support our business.

Trends

There are a number of trends that may have a rabieypact on us in the future, including but natitied to, the evolution of memory
technology, adoption of LEDs in general lightinge tuse and adoption of our inventions or technel®gnd global economic conditions with
the resulting impact on sales of consumer eleatreystems.

We have a high degree of revenue concentratioh, auit top five customers representing approximai&hp, 66% and 85% of our revenue
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 an@, 284pectively. As a result of our settlement vl8msung in 2010, Samsung is expectec
to account for a significant portion of our ongolitgnsing revenue. For the year ended Decembe2®I2, revenue from Samsung accountec
for 10% or more of our total revenue. For the yaradted December 31, 2011, revenue from Elpida, NXI&id Samsung each accounted for
10% or more of our total revenue. For the year dridlecember 31, 2010, revenue from Elpida and Sagnsach accounted for 10% or mort
our total revenue. We expect to continue to expegesignificant revenue concentration for the feeable future.
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The particular customers which account for revesareentration have varied from period to period assult of the addition of new
contracts, expiration of existing contracts, rernlsw existing contracts, industry consolidatior dne volumes and prices at which the
customers have recently sold to their customerssé&lvariations are expected to continue in thesémable future.

The semiconductor industry is intensely competitime highly cyclical, limiting our visibility withrespect to future sales. To the extent tha
macroeconomic fluctuations negatively affect oungipal customers, the demand for our technology brasignificantly and adversely
impacted and we may experience substantial pedquetiod fluctuations in our operating resultsFebruary 2012, Elpida, one of our top 10
customers by revenue for the past two years, coroetkebankruptcy proceedings in Japan as a resdéhifloads, competition and declining
prices for memory chips. Additionally, our royalgvenue from certain customers in the DRAM marketh as Samsung and Elpida, are
variable and are based on our customers' revermgquarters in arrears.

The royalties we receive from our semiconductotamers are partly a function of the adoption of mahnologies by system companies.
Many system companies purchase semiconductorsicimgtaur technologies from our customers and dchawe a direct contractual
relationship with us. Our customers generally doprovide us with details as to the identity orwmk of licensed semiconductors purchased
by particular system companies. As a result, we thfficulty in analyzing the extent to which owttire revenue will be dependent upon
particular system companies. System companiesifit@ese competitive pressure in their markets, tvhie characterized by extreme
volatility, frequent new product introductions aragbidly shifting consumer preferences.

The display industry is also intensely competitivel highly cyclical. Since LED backlighting solut®are increasingly pervasive in LCD
for computers, smartphones, tablets, game systagisdefinition televisions and any user interfageorporating an active display, the trend
towards higher resolution displays across thesdyats requires more LEDs per system. The increasage of LEDs is thereby creating a r
for increased power efficiency since the LED bagiuliis the primary source of power consumption angnconsumer electronics products
including smartphones.

The highly fragmented general lighting industryiglergoing a fundamental shift from incandescesitrielogy to cold cathode fluorescent
lights and LED driven technology by the need taueaenergy consumption and to comply with goverrtmandates. LED lighting typically
saves energy costs as compared to existing indtadleting. Our LDT group's patents in LED edgditihtguide technology also can be appliec
in the design of next generation LED lighting protdu In January 2013, we announced the launcHRafrabus LED bulb as an additional
product offering incorporating our LED technolo@is is our first step in marching towards our gafabeing a major player in the general
lighting industry.

Global demand for effective security technologiestmues to increase. In particular, highly intégdadevices such as smart phones and
tablets are increasingly used for applications irgrgisecurity such as mobile payments, contentgatn, corporate information and user ¢
Our CRI group is primarily focused on positionitg DPA countermeasures and CryptoFirewall™ techgyosmlutions to capitalize on these
trends and growing adoption among technology pestaed customers.

Our revenue from companies headquartered outsitteedfnited States accounted for approximately 78P% and 93% of our total
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2012, 284 2010, respectively. We expect that revenuigetbfrom international customers will
continue to represent a significant portion of taal revenue in the future. To date, all of theereue from international customers have been
denominated in U.S. dollars. However, to the extieat such customers’ sales to their customera@rdenominated in U.S. dollars, any
royalties that we receive as a result of such sadafl be subject to fluctuations in currency exgerates. In addition, if the effective price of
licensed products sold by our foreign customereweiincrease as a result of fluctuations in theharge rate of the relevant currencies,
demand for licensed products could fall, whichumtwould reduce our royalties. We do not use fai@rinstruments to hedge foreign
exchange rate risk.

For additional information concerning internationatenue, see Note 7, “Segments and Major Custghuérsiotes to Consolidated
Financial Statements of this Form 10-K.

Engineering costs in the aggregate and as a pagmof revenue increased in the year ended Dece3ttb@012 as compared to the prior
year. In the near term, we expect engineering ¢odie higher as we intend to continue to makestnaents in the infrastructure a
technologies required to maintain our product iratmn in semiconductor, lighting, security and etteehnologies.

Marketing, general and administrative expenseblérafggregate and as a percentage of revenue detinabe year ended December 31,
2012 as compared to the prior year. Historicallg,vave been involved in litigation stemming frora tinlicensed use of our inventions. Our
litigation expenses have been high in the pastdéfidult to predict, and future litigation expersseould be significant, volatile and difficult to
predict. If we are successful in the litigation ndelated licensing, our
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revenue could be substantially higher in the futifreve are unsuccessful, our revenue may not gyomay decrease. Furthermore, our succe:
in litigation matters pending before courts andutetpry bodies that relate to our intellectual pndp rights have impacted and will likely
continue to impact our ability and the terms updricly we are able to negotiate new or renegotiatiag licenses for our technology. We
expect to continue to pursue litigation againssthoompanies that have infringed our patented tdogies, which in turn will cause litigation
expenses to remain significant until such litigatie resolved. Additionally, in the near term, wgect our non-litigation marketing, general
and administrative costs to be lower due to ouruesliring plan undertaken during the third quacie2012.

Our continued pursuit of litigation and investmantesearch and development projects, combined avithlower revenue from our
customers in the future, will negatively affect @ash from operations.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the percentage of total revenue represédmytedrtain items reflected in our

consolidated statements of operations:

Revenue:
Royalties
Contract revenue
Total revenue
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue*
Research and development*
Marketing, general and administrative*
Restructuring charges

Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets
Costs of restatement and related legal activities,

Gain from settlement
Total operating costs and expenses
Operating income (loss)

Interest income and other income, net

Interest expense
Interest and other income (expense), net
Income (loss) before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net income (loss)

* Includes stock-based compensation:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Marketing, general and administrative

Total Revenue
Royalties
Contract revenue

Total revenue

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
99.2 % 95.7% 99.C %
0.7% 4.2% 1.C%
100.0 % 100.0% 100.0 %
12.1% 7.7% 2.1%
60.C % 37.C% 28.7%
48.1% 52.€ % 36.€%
3.1% — % — %
15.2% — % — %
0.1% 5.2 % 1.2%
— % 2.0% (39.9%
138.6% 100.5 % 29.€%
. 0 .<)70 .2 /0
38.6)% 0.5)% 70.2 %
0.C% 0.2% 0.4%
(11.9% (8.0% (6.2)%
(11.% (7.9% (5.9%
(50.% (8.9% 64.£%
7.C% 5.5 % 17.7%
(57.9% (13.% 46.7%
—% 0.2% 0.1%
4.1% 3.4% 3.1%
5.5% 5.4% 6.2%

Years Ended December 31,

2011 to 2012

2010to 2011

2012 2011 2010 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
23224 $  299. $ 320 (22.9% (6.6)%
1.7 13.2 3.2 NM* NM*
2341 $ 3124 $ 323« (25.0)% (3.9%

*  NM — percentage is not meaning

Royalty Revenue

Patent Licenses
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Our patent royalties decreased approximately $58l®n to $208.7 million for the year ended DeceanBB1, 2012 from $267.6 million for
the same period in 2011. The decrease was prindu#yto recognition of one-time royalty revenueinigi2011 from new patent license
agreements signed in 2011 and lower royalties tegday certain customers in the semiconductor imgukiring 2012. The decreased revenue
is partially offset by revenue recognized from was new patent license agreements signed in 2012.

Our patent royalties decreased approximately $20ll®n to $267.6 million for the year ended DeceanBB1, 2011 from $288.4 million for
the same period in 2010. The decrease was prindu#yto the one-time recognition of royalty revefroen the settlement agreement signed
with Samsung in 2010 which was partially offsetthg revenue recognized from one-time and/or onglidegsing agreements with NVIDIA,
Broadcom, Freescale and a major smartphone manuadh 2011.

We are in negotiations with prospective customéfs.expect patent royalties will continue to vamynir period to period based on our
success in adding new customers, as well as tleédéwvariation in our customers' reported shipmasitimes, sales price and mix, offset in
part by the proportion of customer payments thatfixed or hybrid in nature.

Solutions Licenses

Royalties from solutions licenses decreased apprabdly $7.7 million to $23.7 million for the yeamded December 31, 2012 from $31.4
million for the same period in 2011. The decreaas primarily due to lower royalties reported froetrkased shipments related to DDR2
technologies and lower royalties from XBDRDRAM associated with decreased shipments of thy BtayStatiore 3 product.

Royalties from solutions licenses decreased apprabdly $0.4 million to $31.4 million for the yeamded December 31, 2011 from $31.8
million for the same period in 2010. The decreaas wrimarily due to lower royalties reported froeteased shipments related to DDR2
technologies.

In the future, we expect solutions royalties withtinue to vary from period to period based onaustomers’ shipment volumes, sales
prices, and product mix.

Royalty Revenue by Reportable Segment

Royalty revenue from the MID reportable segmenticiviincludes patent and solutions license royaltiesreased approximately $67.6
million to $214.0 million for the year ended DeceamB1, 2012 from $281.6 million for the year en@Etember 31, 2011. The decrease was
primarily due to recognition of on@me royalty revenue during 2011 from patent limeagreements signed in 2011 and lower royaltiesrteq
by certain customers in the semiconductor industiy lower royalties reported from decreased shipsnefated to DDR2 technologies and
lower royalties from XDR~ DRAM associated with decreased shipments of thy $dayStatiore 3 product. The decreased revenue is
partially offset by revenue recognized from varioesv patent license agreements signed in 2012.

Royalty revenue from the All Other reportable seghiecreased approximately $1.0 million to $18.4lion for the year ended December
31, 2012 from $17.4 million for the year ended Deber 31, 2011. The increase was primarily duerteva license agreement signed in 2012.

Royalty revenue from the MID reportable segmentel@sed approximately $38.2 million to $281.6 millfor the year ended December
2011 from $319.8 million for the year ended Decendie 2010. The decrease was primarily due to tieetone recognition of royalty revenue
from the settlement agreement signed with Samsu2@10 and lower royalties reported from decreabguments related to DDR2
technologies. The decreased revenue was partiddlgtdy the revenue recognized from one-time anaidgoing licensing agreements with
NVIDIA, Broadcom and Freescale in 20:

Royalty revenue from the All Other reportable seghiecreased approximately $17.0 million to $17 #liom for the year ended December
31, 2011 from $0.4 million for the year ended DebenB1, 2010. The increase was primarily due teva patent license agreement signed in
2011 and various patent license agreements acahiredgh the CRI acquisition in 2011.

Contract Revenue

Contract revenue decreased approximately $11.7omiib $1.7 million for the year ended DecemberZ112 from $13.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011. The decrease waarjlyitiue to absence of new technology developroentracts in 2012

Contract revenue from the MID reportable segmentefesed approximately $9.4 million to $1.0 millimn the year ended December 31,
2012 from $10.4 million for the year ended DecenBier2011. Contract revenue from the All Other régdule segment decreased
approximately $2.3 million to $0.7 million for thyear ended December 31, 2012 from $3.0 milliorttier
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year ended December 31, 2011. Both decreases wararity due to absence of new technology develapaentracts in 201:

Contract revenue increased approximately $10.2anitb $13.4 million for the year ended DecemberZ1l1 from $3.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2010. The increase wasiisirdue to new technology development contre

Contract revenue from the MID reportable segmetrteiased approximately $7.2 million to $10.4 millfon the year ended December 31,
2011 from $3.2 million for the year ended Decentier2010. Contract revenue from the All Other régaole segment increased approxima
$3.0 million to $3.0 million for the year ended Retber 31, 2011 from $0 for the year ended Dece®be2010. Both increases were
primarily due to new technology development corira 2011.

We believe that contract revenue recognized wilticme to fluctuate over time based on our ongaimigtractual requirements, the amount
of work performed, the timing of completing engiriag deliverables, and by changes to work requiasdyell as new technology developrr
contracts booked in the future.

Engineering costs:

Years Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)
Engineering costs

Cost of revenue $ 07 $ 4¢ % 1.7 (86.9% NM*

Amortization of intangible assets 27.1 18.€ 5.C 48.€ % NM*

Stock-based compensation 0.C 0.€ 0.2 (96.5% NM*

Total cost of revenue 28.4 241 6.S 17.£€% NM*
Research and development 131.C 105.2 82.t 24.5% 27.4%
Stock-based compensation OAE 10.5 10.z (9.2% 3.5%
Total research and development 140.t 115.3 92.7 21.4% 24.8%
Total engineering costs $ 168¢ §  139.¢ $ 99.€ 20.€ % 40.%%

*  NM — percentage is not meaning

Engineering costs are allocated between cost efney and research and development expenses. Geseatie reflects the portion of the
total engineering costs which are specifically deddo individual customer development and suppentices as well as amortization expense
related to various acquired intellectual propeaygatent licensing. The balance of engineeringscascurred for the development of applici
technologies, is charged to research and develaphmes given period, the allocation of engineerangts between these two components is a
function of the timing of the development and inmpéntation schedules of individual customer congract

For the year ended December 31, 2012 as compatkd same period in 2011, total engineering costeased 20.8% primarily due to
increased headcount related costs of $11.4 milfmm additional employees to support our reseanthdevelopment efforts, increased
amortization expense of $9.1 million related t@mgible assets acquired since the second quarB&1df, increased consulting expenses of
million and increased accrual of retention bonusésted to acquisitions of $4.9 million, offset $4.2 million decrease in funding for our 2012
CIP which is lower than our 2011 CIP.

For the year ended December 31, 2011 as compatkd same period in 2010, total engineering costeased 40.3% primarily due to
increased headcount related costs of $6.9 milliomfadditional employees (including employees fthm CRI acquisition) to support our
development efforts, increased amortization expegis¢ed to acquired intangible assets of $13.6anibs well as the accrual of the CRI
acquisition retention bonuses of $15.7 million &gher prototyping costs of $3.1 million, offset the $2.8 million decrease in funding for «
2011 CIP which is lower than our 2010 CIP.

In the near term, we expect engineering costs tudieer as we intend to continue to make investmenthe infrastructure and technolog
required to maintain our product innovation in sesniductor, lighting, security and other technolsgie

Marketing, general and administrative costs:
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Years Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)
Marketing, general and administrative costs

Marketing, general and administrative costs $ 86.2 $ 86.z $ 76.€ 0.2% 12.€%
Litigation expense 13.2 61.C 221 (78.9% 168.7 %
Stock-based compensation 13.C 16.¢ 20.2 (23.29% (16.9%
Total marketing, general and administrative costs $ 1126 $§ 1641 $  119: (31.49% 37.4%

Marketing, general and administrative expensesidekxpenses and costs associated with trade spobls; relations, advertising,
litigation, general legal, insurance and other ratirlg and administrative efforts. Litigation expesfiave been a significant portion of our
marketing, general and administrative expensesandary significantly from quarter to quarter. Gistent with our business model, our
licensing and marketing activities aim to develogtwengthen relationships with potential and aureistomers. In addition, we work with
current customers through marketing, sales andieghefforts to drive adoption of their produdtat use our innovations and solutions, by
system companies. Due to the long business develoipeycles we face and the semi-fixed nature oketarg, general and administrative
expenses in a given period, these expenses ggnéoatiot correlate to the level of revenue in feiod or in recent or future periods.

For the year ended December 31, 2012 as compagl iy total marketing, general and administrativets decreased 31.4% which
included a decrease in litigation expenses relat@mhgoing major cases of $47.8 million. Non-litiga related marketing, general and
administrative costs remained relatively flat foe tyear ended December 31, 2012 as compared to @Oharily due to increased headcount
related costs of $3.2 million from the average éase in employees to support our business durihg, 28creased accrual of retention bonuse:
of $1.8 million related to acquisitions, increasedortization expense of $1.1 million related t@mgible assets acquired since the second
quarter of 2011 and increased costs related ts salé marketing events of $1.0 million, offset Byl$million decrease in funding for our 2012
CIP, which is lower than our 2011 CIP.

For the year ended December 31, 2011 as compag&ail @ total marketing, general and administrativets increased 37.4% primarily ¢
to the increased litigation expenses of $38.3 arillielated to ongoing major cases. Non-litigatielated marketing, general and administrative
costs increased for the year ended December 31, @@harily due to the accrual of the CRI acquisitretention bonuses of $2.4 million and
increased headcount related costs of $4.7 milliomfthe increase in employees to support our basiae well as higher consulting costs of
$3.4 million and the acquisition costs related Rl ©f $3.9 million, offset by the $5.0 million dexase in funding for our 2011 CIP, which is
lower than our 2010 CIP, and lower stock-based @sation expense of $3.3 million.

In the future, marketing, general and administeatests will vary from period to period based oatifade shows, advertising, legal,
acquisition and other marketing and administrasigtvities undertaken, and the change in salesketiag and administrative headcount in any
given period. In the near term, we expect our ribgakion marketing, general and administrativetsds decrease due to our restructuring plat
undertaken in 2012, Litigation expenses are expdcdeary from period to period due to the varidpiof litigation activities.

Restructuring charges:

Years Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010to 2011
2012 2011 2010 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)

Restructuring charges $ 73 % — $ — NM* N/A*

*  N/A — not applicabl
*  NM — percentage is not meaning

During 2012, we initiated a restructuring programméduce overall corporate expenses which is egddotimprove future profitability by
reducing spending on marketing, general and adtratiise programs and refining some of our researchdevelopment efforts. As a result of
the restructuring program, we recorded a pre-taxggof $7.3 million during 2012 related primatitythe reduction in workforce, which
included approximately $1.8 million in early terration payments to certain employees related t@ firevious retention bonus arrangements.
We expect to substantially complete our restruotudctivities by the first quarter of 2013. Ref@iNote 16, “Restructuring Charges,” of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements of this FobaiKTor further discussion.
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Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets:

Years Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)

Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets $ 355§ — $ — NM* N/A*

*  N/A — not applicabl
*  NM — percentage is not meaningful as the change isatge

During 2012, we recorded a non-cash charge fointipairment of goodwill and long-lived assets witliar LDT group of approximately
$35.5 million. Under generally accepted accoungirigciples, when indicators of potential impairmang identified, companies are required tc
conduct a review of the carrying amounts of gooldawid long-lived assets to determine if impairmexists. We conducted this impairment
review as a result of the change in our busineasesty with less focus on the higher margin dispéahnology licensing and an increased f
on general lighting technologies. Refer to Notditangible Assets and Goodwill,” of Notes to Colidated Financial Statements of this
Form 10-K for further discussion.

Costs of restatement and related legal activities:

Years Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)
Costs of restatement and related legal activities, $ 02 § 16z § 42 (98.5)% NM*

*  NM — percentage is not meaning

Costs of restatement and related legal activitiesist primarily of settlement payments, invesimataudit, legal and other professional
fees related to the 2006-2007 stock option invatitg and the filing of the restated financial staénts and related litigation.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, cost ofteesémt and related legal activities were $0.2 omillprimarily due to litigation expense
associated with the derivative lawsuit relatech®s2006-2007 stock option investigation.

For the year ended December 31, 2011, costs afteeseént and related legal activities were $16.Haniprimarily due to a settlement
payment and the litigation expense associated aviiivate shareholder lawsuit related to the 2008¢2tock option investigation. In
December 2011, we reached a settlement agreena¢metolved the matter captiontliart J. Steele, et al. v. Rambus Inc., et\ahere we
have agreed to settle the claims against us anddhadual defendants for approximately $10.9 roiil. Until all the litigation and related
issues are resolved, we anticipate that there dmuldditional amounts relating to these mattetkarfuture.

Gain from settlement:

Years Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010to 2011
2012 2011 2010 Change Change

(Dollars in millions)
Gain from settlement $ — % 62 $ 126.% N/A* (95.1)%

*  N/A — not applicabl

The settlement with Samsung is a multiple elemeaingement for accounting purposes. For a mulgfgenent arrangement, we are
required to determine the fair value of the elermeWite considered several factors in determiningtto®unting fair value of the elements of
the settlement with Samsung which included a tpharty valuation using an income approach, the Bcholes-Merton option pricing model
and a residual approach (collectively the “Fairuéd). The total gain from settlement related to gb&lement with Samsung of $133.0 million
has been recognized as of the end of the firstguaf 2011. The gain from settlement represergd=dir Value of the cash consideration
allocated to the resolution of the antitrust litiga settlement and the residual value of othemelsts.
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Interest and other income (expense), net:

Years Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Interest income and other income (expense), net $ 0.C % 0 % 1.4 (89.5)% (59.5%
Interest expense (27.5) (24.9) (20.2) 10.€ % 22.7%
Interest and other income (expense), net $ (279 8 (249 $ (189 13.1% 28.€ %

Interest income and other income (expense), nasists primarily of interest income generated fiomestments in high quality fixed
income securities.

Interest expense consists of interest expenseiasmaevith our imputed facility lease obligations the Sunnyvale and Ohio facilities and
non-cash interest expense related to the amodizafithe debt discount and issuance costs ondhedhvertible senior notes due 2014 (the
“2014 Notes”) as well as the coupon interest relatethe 2014 Notes. For the years ended Decenbhe032, 2011 and 2010, we recognized
$4.1 million, $3.3 million and $0.5 million, resgaely, of interest expense in connection with ittuted financing obligations in our
statement of operations. See Note 12, “CommitmamisContingencies,” of Notes to Consolidated Firdr#gtatements of this Form 10-K for
additional details. We expect our non-cash intezgpense to increase steadily as the 2014 Notek meaturity. See Note 11, “Convertible
Notes” of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementthisf Form 10-K for additional details.

Provision for income taxes:

Years Ended December 31, 2011 to 2012 2010 to 2011
2012 2011 2010 Change Change
(Dollars in millions)
Provision for income taxes $ 16.5 $ 17.2 $ 57.1 (4.6)% NM*
Effective tax rate (14.0% (66.9% 27.5%

*  NM — percentage is not meaning

Our effective tax rates for the year ended DecerBlheP012 and 2011 are different from the U.Sustay tax rate applied to our pretax I
because of the valuation allowance on our U.S.rdsdeax assets, foreign losses with no currenbemefit recorded, and foreign withholding
and income taxes. Our effective tax rate for tharysnded December 31, 2010 was different from ti$ Etatutory tax rate applied to our
pretax income because of the valuation allowanceuwnJ.S. deferred tax assets, partially offsetdsgign withholding taxes and state
alternative minimum taxes.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we paid wldirig taxes of $15.7 million. We recorded a prawisfor income taxes of $16.5
million which is primarily comprised of withholdinaxes, other foreign taxes and current state tdasthe year ended December 31, 2011,
we paid withholding taxes of $16.6 million. We reded a provision for income taxes of $17.3 milliwhich is primarily comprised of
withholding taxes, other foreign taxes and curstate taxes. For the year ended December 31, 2@&lpaid withholding taxes of $55.0
million. We recorded a provision for income taxé$57.1 million which is primarily comprised of waitolding taxes, other foreign taxes and
current state taxes.

As of December 31, 2012, we continued to maintaialaation allowance against our U.S. deferredassets. Management periodically
evaluates the realizability of our deferred taxetsdased on all available evidence, both posithenegative. The realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent on our ability to generatécift future taxable income during periods prmthe expiration of tax attributes to fully
utilize these assets. Based on all available ecielene determined that it was not more likely thahthat the deferred tax assets would be
realized. Should we achieve sustained taxable iedarthe future, we would release the valuatioovedince to recognize the deferred tax a:
which would provide a valuable benefit to us.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
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December 31,

2012 December 31, 2011
(In millions)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 149.C $ 162.2
Marketable securities 54.: 127.2
Total cash, cash equivalents, and marketable siesuri $ 203.: $ 289.4

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In millions)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 175 $ 53.C $ 2352
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities $ 2€ % (24.) % (181.5)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 1.7 $ 819 $ (127.9

Liquidity
We currently anticipate that existing cash, cadhivedents and marketable securities balances astuft@avs from operations will be
adequate to meet our cash needs for at least #hd Aenonths. Additionally, substantially all ofrocash and cash equivalents are in the Unite

States. Our cash needs for the year ended Decé&hp2012 were funded primarily from cash colledtedn our customers and maturities of
marketable securities.

We do not anticipate any liquidity constraints assult of either the current credit environmenvgstment fair value fluctuations or the
repayment of the 2014 Notes. Additionally, we hthesintent and ability to hold our debt investmehtst have unrealized losses in
accumulated other comprehensive loss for a sufiigieriod of time to allow for recovery of the pripal amounts invested. Additionally, we
have no significant exposure to European sovermém. We continually monitor the credit risk in quortfolio and mitigate our credit risk
exposures in accordance with our policies. As diesdrelsewhere in this “Management's Discussionfemalysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and this Annual Report om#&0-K, we are involved in ongoing litigation redd to our intellectual property and our
past stock option investigation. Any adverse smiiets or judgments in any of this litigation cobhlive a material adverse impact on our re
of operations, cash balances and cash flows ipe&hied in which such events occur.

Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities of $17.5 millfonthe year ended December 31, 2012 was primatifibutable to the cash net loss of
$14.4 million, which included the payment of $8.8lion for the interest related to the 2014 Notaisd changes in operating assets and
liabilities. Changes in operating assets and litdsl for the year ended December 31, 2012 primardluded decreases in accounts payable
accrued litigation due to payments of invoices dadreases in accrued salaries and benefits andamttried liabilities due to lower accruals
for the 2012 CIP, offset by increases in prepajgeeses and other assets, and deferred revenueichagily to our current commitment to
purchase intellectual property from Elpida.

Cash provided by operating activities of $53.0 imrillfor the year ended December 31, 2011 was pilyredtributable to changes in
operating assets and liabilities and the net Idfssted for non-cash items, including stock-basmdpensation expense, non-cash interest
expense, depreciation and amortization expensengelsain operating assets and liabilities for tharysded December 31, 2011 primarily
included increases in accounts payable, accrugdtiiin and decreases in prepaid expenses andasbets.

Cash provided by operating activities of $235.2iomilin the year ended December 31, 2010 was pifynaitributable to the signing of
Samsung and Elpida license agreements. In totais@ag and Elpida provided approximately $300.2iomibf net operating cash flow after
applicable foreign tax withholdings. Additionallpsh provided by operating activities included iases in accrued salaries due to the 2010
CIP and bonus related to the Samsung Settlemeichwims offset by decreases in accrued litigatiahaatounts payable.

Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities of $2.6 moitlifor the year ended December 31, 2012 primadhsisted of proceeds from the
maturities of available-for-sale marketable se@sibf $183.1 million, partially offset by cash ¢pdor purchases of available-for-sale
marketable securities of $110.7 million and theugsitjon of Unity and other businesses of $46.3iamil net of cash acquired. In addition, we
paid $21.8 million to acquire property, plant amghipment, primarily related to building improvemgaind computer equipment, and $1.7
million for intangible assets.
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Cash used in investing activities of $24.1 millfonthe year ended December 31, 2011 primarily isted of cash paid for the acquisition
of CRI of $167.4 million, net of cash acquired, gnochases of available-for-sale marketable seesriff $174.0 million, partially offset by
proceeds from the maturities of available-for-sabrketable securities of $337.9 million. In additive paid $19.4 million to acquire property
and equipment, primarily computer equipment, mastyirand software.

Cash used in investing activities of approxima&l31.5 million in the year ended December 31, 20iarily consisted of purchases of
available-for-sale marketable securities of $428ilion, partially offset by proceeds from the maties of available-for-sale marketable
securities of $296.6 million and proceeds fromdake of marketable securities of $1.8 million. iBgurchased patents and businesses for
aggregate price of approximately $24.8 million. Aiddhally, we paid $26.7 million for the build-oof the facilities in Sunnyvale, California
and Brecksville, Ohio as well as to acquire compsitétware, computer hardware and machinery angewnt.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $1.7 imnilfor the year ended December 31, 2012 primaliky to proceeds of $4.1 million from
issuance of common stock under equity incentivalaartially offset by $1.9 million for paymentsder installment payment arrangement
acquire fixed assets and $0.5 million related ®ghncipal payments against the lease financinigation.

Cash used in financing activities was $81.9 milionthe year ended December 31, 2011 as a refstie sepurchase in August 2011 from
Samsung of approximately 4.8 million shares of@enpany’s common stock for an aggregate amount@®$ million pursuant to a put
option exercised by Samsung in accordance witheitmes of a stock purchase agreement with Samsued danuary 19, 2010. This is partii
offset by $8.8 million received from the landloat the tenant improvements related to the leagummyvale and $12.3 million from issuance
of common stock under equity incentive plans. Ve ahade payments of $2.5 million under an instalinpayment plan to acquire intangible
assets and computer software and $0.5 millionadltd the principal payments against the leaseding obligation.

Cash used in financing activities was $127.5 miliio the year ended December 31, 2010 was primduiéy/to the payment upon maturity
$137.0 million in face value of 2010 Notes and ktpurchased with an aggregate price of $195.lomiuinder our share repurchase progi
which includes the shares purchased under Shanerétegse Agreement with J.P. Morgan, offset by prdseeceived of $192.0 million from
the issuance of common stock pursuant to the Sackhase Agreement with Samsung. Additionally, eeeived approximately $16.5 million
from the issuance of common stock under equityritige plans. We also made payments of $4.3 millinder an installment payment plan to
acquire intangible assets and computer software.

Contractual Obligations

On December 15, 2009, we entered into a lease mgrador approximately 125,000 square feet of ef§pace located at 1050 Enterprise
Way in Sunnyvale, California commencing on JulQ10 and expiring on June 30, 2020. The office sfimased for our corporate
headquarters, as well as engineering, marketingadministrative operations and activities. We hawe options to extend the lease for a
period of 60 months each and a one-time optioenminate the lease after 84 months in exchangarf@arly termination fee. Pursuant to the
terms of the lease, the landlord agreed to reingbussapproximately $9.1 million , which was recdiby the year ended December 31, 2011 .
We recognized the reimbursement as an additionalifed financing obligation as such payment fromlanellord is deemed to be an imputed
financing obligation. On November 4, 2011, to betian for future expansion, we entered into anraafed lease for our Sunnyvale facility for
approximately an additional 31,000 square feepats commencing on March 1, 2012 and expiring oe B30, 2020. Additionally, a tenant
improvement allowance to be provided by the lardilwas approximately $1.7 million . On September2f,2, we entered into a second
amended Sunnyvale lease to reduce the tenant imxmevt allowance to approximately $1.5 million . Wére not started the tenant
improvements construction as of December 31, 20i&.annual base rent for these leases includesirteent abatement and increases
annually over the lease term.

On March 8, 2010, we entered into a lease agreefoeapproximately 25,000 square feet of office amghufacturing areas, located in
Brecksville, Ohio. The office space is used for L®&ngineering activities while the manufacturipgse is used for the manufacturer of
prototypes. This lease was amended on Septemb2029,to expand the facility to approximately 5D,@6tal square feet and the amended
lease will expire on July 31, 2019. We have anapto extend the Lease for a period of 60 months .

We undertook a series of structural improvementeaaly the Sunnyvale and Brecksville facilitiesdor use. Since certain improvements
to be constructed by us were considered structursdture and we were responsible for any costramer for accounting purposes, we were
treated in substance as the owner of the congtruptioject during the construction period. At tloenpletion of each construction, we
concluded that we retained sufficient continuingpirement to preclude de-
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recognition of the building under the FASB authatiite guidance applicable to the sale leasebacksabfstate. As such, we continue to
account for the building as owned real estate amddord an imputed financing obligation for oufigdition to the legal owners.

Monthly lease payments on the facility are alloddtetween the land element of the lease (whicbhdsunted for as an operating lease) an
the imputed financing obligation. The imputed fingay obligation is amortized using the effectiveenest method and the interest rate was
determined in accordance with the requirementsalef lsaseback accounting. For the years ended Deredi, 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , we
recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Ojpera$4.1 million , $3.3 million and $0.5 milliomespectively, of interest expense in
connection with the imputed financing obligationtbase facilities. At December 31, 2012 and 20he jmputed financing obligation balance
in connection with these facilities was $45.9 noitliand $43.8 million , respectively, which was paiity classified under long-term imputed
financing obligation.

In November 2011, we entered into a lease agreefoeapproximately 26,000 square feet of officecgpan San Francisco, California to be
used for CRI's office space and is treated as amatimg lease. This lease has a commencementfdaébuary 1, 2012 and a lease term of 75
months from the commencement date. The annualrbasécludes certain rent abatement and incremsasally over the lease term.

In connection with the June 3, 2011 acquisitiolCB, we are obligated to pay a retention bonusttain CRI employees and contractors,
subject to certain eligibility and accelerationysoons including the condition of employment, imee equal amounts of approximately $16.7
million . The first payment was paid in cash durihg second quarter of 2012, and the remaining paysrpayable on June 3, 2013 and 2014
will be paid in cash or stock at our election. ADecember 31, 2012 , the remaining retention bawmsmitment is $33.3 million and may be
forfeited in part or whole by the covered employaed contractors upon voluntary departure from egrpkent or discontinuation of services.
Any amounts forfeited will be accelerated and midis to a designated charity. See Note 5, “Actjaiss,” of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements of this Form 10-K for additional infotioa regarding the acquisition of CRI.

On June 29, 2009, we entered into an Indenture With Bank, National Association, as trustee, idpto the issuance by us of $150.0
million aggregate principal amount of the 2014 Notn July 10, 2009, an additional $22.5 millioraggregate principal amount of 2014
Notes were issued as a result of the underwritegscesing their overallotment option. The aggregatacipal amount of the 2014 Not
outstanding as of December 31, 2012 and 2011 w&a.Sillion , offset by unamortized debt discoah$24.9 million and $39.0 million,
respectively, in the accompanying consolidatedrizgasheets. The debt discount is currently beingréed over the remaining 18 months
until maturity of the 2014 Notes on June 15, 2(B&e Note 11, “Convertible Notes,” of Notes to Cdidsted Financial Statements of this
Form 10-K for additional details.

As of December 31, 2012 , our material contracdiéibations are as follows (in thousands):

Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
Contractual obligations (1)
Imputed financing obligation (2) $ 5449¢ $ 6825 $ 6994 $ 7,168 $ 7,34t $ 7,52¢ $ 18,64«
Leases and other contractual obligations 16,35( 10,74¢ 1,657 1,541 1,04¢ 1,01¢ 34C
Software licenses (4) 43¢ 35¢ 80 — — — —
Acquisition retention bonuses (5) 37,95 18,201 18,20¢ 1,54( — — —
Convertible notes 172,50( — 172,50( — — — —
Interest payments related to convertible
notes 12,931 8,62¢ 4,312 — — — —
Total $ 294,67¢ $ 44,76 $ 203,74¢ $ 1024¢ $ 8394 $ 854/ $ 18,98¢

(1) The above table does not reflect possible gagsin connection with uncertain tax benefitspfraximately $16.8 million including10.6
million recorded as a reduction of long-term defdrtax assets and $6.2 million in long-term incaaxes payable, as of December 31,
2012 . As noted in Note 17, “Income Taxes,” of Natie Consolidated Financial Statements of this FDOAK, although it is possible that
some of the unrecognized tax benefits could béesettithin the next 12 months , we cannot reasgnatimate the outcome at this time.
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(2) With respect to the imputed financing obligatithe main components of the difference betwbheramount reflected in the contractual
obligations table and the amount reflected on tbesGlidated Balance Sheets are the interest oimiiieted financing obligation and the
estimated common area expenses over the futuredgeri

(3) Leases and other contractual obligations thelour current operating lease commitments and éomant to purchase intellectual property
from Elpida.

(4) We have commitments with various software wador non-cancellable license agreements gegdralling terms longer than one year.
The above table summarizes those contractual dligaas of December 31, 2012 which are also ptedean our Consolidated Balance
Sheet under current and other long-term liabilities

(5) In connection with recent acquisitions, we @légated to pay retention bonuses to certain eygas and contractors, subject to certain
eligibility and acceleration provisions includirtgetcondition of employment. The remaining $33.3iorilof CRI retention bonuses
payable on June 3, 2013 and 2014 will be paid &h @& stock at our election.

Contingently Redeemable Common Stock

On January 19, 2010, pursuant to the terms of thek$?urchase Agreement, Samsung purchased forfreeshus 9.6 million shares of our
common stock (the “Shares”) with certain restrisi@nd put rights. The issuance of the Shares by 8amsung was made through a private
transaction. The Stock Purchase Agreement prové@edsung a one-time put right, beginning 18 monifites the date of the Stock Purchase
Agreement and extending to 19 months after the afatee Stock Purchase Agreement, to put back tgou® 4.8 million of the Shares at the
original issue price of $20.885 per share (for ggragate purchase price of up to $100.0 milliome #.8 million shares were recorded as
contingently redeemable common stock on the catlai@d balance sheet as of December 31, 2010.

The Stock Purchase Agreement prohibited the tranéfihe Shares by Samsung for 18 months afteddte of the Stock Purchase
Agreement, subject to certain exceptions. Afteri@tipn of the transfer restriction period on JuB; 2011, the Stock Purchase Agreement
provided that Samsung could transfer a limited nemab shares on a daily basis, provide us witlyhtrof first offer for proposed transfers
above certain daily limits, and, if no sale ocdursis under the right of first offer, allowed Samguo transfer the Shares. Under the Stock
Purchase Agreement, we also agreed that afterahsfér restriction period, Samsung would haveagerights to register the Shares for sale
under the securities laws of the United Stategestibo customary terms and conditions.

On July 20, 2011, we received notice from Samsuwegogsing their option to put back to us approxieha#.8 million of the Shares for ca
of $100.0 million. In August 2011, we paid $100.0lion to Samsung in exchange for the 4.8 millidrages, which were retired. The differe
between the amount recorded as contingently redeleraammon stock and the cash paid was recordaddiSonal paid-in capital in our
consolidated balance sheet.

See Note 19, “Settlement Agreement with SamsurfgNlades to Consolidated Financial Statements af Btarm 10K for further discussiol
Share Repurchase Program

In October 2001, our Board of Directors (the “Bdaw@pproved a share repurchase program of our Camtatack, principally to reduce the
dilutive effect of employee stock options. Unddstbrogram, the Board approved the authorizatiaeparchase up to 19.0 million shares of
our outstanding Common Stock over an undefineddesf time. On February 25, 2010, the Board appt@eew share repurchase program
authorizing the repurchase of up to an additio2sh illion shares. Share repurchases under trgrgsmomay be made through open market,
established plan or privately negotiated transastio accordance with all applicable securitiesslamwles, and regulations. There is no
expiration date applicable to the program. The skare repurchase program replaces the programriagithin October 2001.

On August 19, 2010, we entered into a share repsechgreement (the “Share Repurchase Agreemeniti’Yvid. Morgan Securities Inc., as
agent for JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Associationdon Branch (“*JP Morgan”) to repurchase apprmtely $90.0 million of our
Common Stock, as part of our share repurchase amoddnder the Share Repurchase Agreement, we pidepdP Morgan the $90.0 million
purchase price in the third quarter of 2010 for@wnmon Stock and JP Morgan delivered to us apprately 4.8 million shares of Common
Stock at an average price of $18.88 at the congpleif the Share Repurchase Agreement in Decemié. 20

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201didwet repurchase any shares of our Common Stoed&nour share repurchase
program. For the year ended December 31, 2010epuirechased approximately 9.5 million shares of@ummon Stock with an aggregate
price of approximately $195.1 million, includingetiprice paid pursuant to the Share Repurchase mgme As of December 31, 2012, we had
repurchased a cumulative total of approximatelB 26illion shares of our
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Common Stock with an aggregate price of approxim&428.9 million since the commencement of thegpam in 2001. As of December 31,
2012, there remained an outstanding authorizatioegurchase approximately 5.2 million shares ofoutstanding Common Stock.

We record stock repurchases as a reduction tosttadrs’ equity. We record a portion of the purehpsce of the repurchased shares as ¢
increase to accumulated deficit when the pricénefshares repurchased exceeds the average opgicakeds per share received from the
issuance of Common Stock. During the year ende@ibber 31, 2010, the cumulative price of the shampsrchased exceeded the proceeds
received from the issuance of the same numberaseshThe excess of $163.6 million was recordeghdacrease to accumulated deficit for
the year ended December 31, 2010.

Shareholder Litigation Related to Historical StockOption Practices
See Note 18, “Litigation and Asserted Claims,” aftés to Consolidated Financial Statements of thisnFLO-K for further discussion.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial caodiaind results of operations are based upon msatiolated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the United Statbe freparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgriat affect the reported amounts of assetslitias, revenue and expenses, and relatec
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.a@@rongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates,dijuthose related to revenue recognition,
investments, income taxes, litigation and othettiogencies. We base our estimates on historicamapce and on various other assumptions
that are believed to be reasonable under the cstames, the results of which form the basis fatinggjudgments about the carrying value:
assets and liabilities that are not readily apgarem other sources. Actual results may diffenirthese estimates under different assumption
or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect our more significant judgments and esdtmased in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition
Overview

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, we have delivered the praatyserformed the service, the fee is
fixed or determinable and collection is reasonalsiyured. If any of these criteria are not met, eferdrecognizing the revenue until such time
as all criteria are met. Determination of whethenat these criteria have been met may require nsake judgments, assumptions and
estimates based upon current information and déstozxperience.

Certain revenue contract consists of service fessaated with integration of our solutions inta oustomers’ products and fees associate
with providing training, evaluation and test equgrhto our customers. Under the accounting guidahttee deliverables have standalone
value upon delivery, we account for each deliveraalparately. When multiple-deliverables includedn arrangement are separated into
different units of accounting, the arrangement @eration is allocated to the identified separati#ésubased on a relative selling price
hierarchy. We determine the relative selling pfaea deliverable based on our best estimate tihggirice (‘BESP”). We have determined
that vendor-specific objective evidence of sellprige for each deliverable is not available asdhgem lack of consistent number of standalone
sales and third-party evidence is not a practittafraative due to differences in our service ofigs compared to other parties and the
availability of relevant third-party pricing inforation. We determined BESP by considering our oVpraling objectives and market
conditions. Significant pricing practices takerpigbnsideration include our discounting practities,size and volume of our transactions, the
customer demographic, the geographic area whersepuices are sold, our price lists, our go-to-raastrategy, historical standalone sales an
contract prices. The determination of BESP is nthdsugh consultation with and approval by managenteking into consideration the go-to-
market strategy. As our go-to-market strategiedveyvave may modify our pricing practices in theuitgt, which could result in changes in
relative selling prices. In most cases, the retatialues of the undelivered components are noffigignt to the overall arrangement and are
typically delivered within twelve months after tbere product has been delivered. In such agreerrssiliag price is determined for each
component and any difference between the totdi@teparate BESP and total contract consideratard{scount) is allocated pro-rata across
each of the components in the arrangement.

Our revenue consists of royalty revenue and conteaenue derived from MID, CRI and LDT operatiregments. Royalty revenue cons
of patent license and solutions license royalt@emtract revenue consists of fixed license feeggdfiengineering fees and service fees
associated with integration of our technology soha into our customers’ products.

Royalty Revenue
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We recognize royalty revenue upon natification by customers and when deemed collectible. The tefrtie royalty agreements
generally either require customers to give us ivatifon and to pay the royalties within 60 dayshef end of the quarter during which the sales
occur or are based on a fixed royalty that is ditkiw45 days of the end of the quarter. Many of customers have the right to cancel their
licenses. In such arrangements, revenue is onbgrézed to the extent that is consistent with t#uecellation provisions. Cancellation
provisions within such contracts generally providiea prospective cancellation with no refund ddalready remitted by customers for
products provided and payment for services renderied to the date of cancellation. We have twcetypf royalty revenue: (1) patent license
royalties and (2) solutions license royalties.

Patent licenses We license our broad portfolio of patented invemsi to companies who use these inventions in thelolement and
manufacture of their own products. Such licensigigaments may cover the license of part, or albusfpatent portfolio. The contractual ter
of the agreements generally provide for paymenés am extended period of time. For the licensingagents with fixed royalty payments,
generally recognize revenue from these arrangenasrasnounts become due. For the licensing agreemithtvariable royalty payments
which can be based on either a percentage of salasmber of units sold, we earn royalties at imetthat the customers’ sales occur. Our
customers, however, do not report and pay royatiesd for sales in any given quarter until after tonclusion of that quarter. As we are
unable to estimate the customers’ sales in anyngiuerter to determine the royalties due to usiemegnize royalty revenues based on
royalties reported by customers during the quamerwhen other revenue recognition criteria are met

In addition, we may enter into certain settlemerfitgatent infringement disputes. The amount of m®ration received upon any settlement
(including but not limited to past royalty paymertgture royalty payments and punitive damages)lixated to each element of the settlemer
based on the fair value of each element. In additievenues related to past royalties are recodnipen execution of the agreement by both
parties, provided that the amounts are fixed ogmieihable, there are no significant undeliveredgattions and collectability is reasonably
assured. We do not recognize any revenues priexeoution of the agreement since there is no feliadsis on which we can estimate the
amounts for royalties related to previous periodassess collectability. Elements that are relwadyalty revenue in nature (including but not
limited to past royalty payments and future royg@ayments) will be recorded as royalty revenudédonsolidated statements of operations.
Elements that are not related to royalty revenuwaiire (including but not limited to punitive dageaand settlement) will be recorded as gain
from settlement which is reflected as a separateitem within the operating expenses sectionénctinsolidated statements of operations.

Solutions licenses We develop proprietary and industry-standard pectslthat we provide to our customers under solstlmense
agreements. These arrangements include royaltlégshwan be based on either a percentage of satfegmber of units sold. We earn royalties
on such licensed products sold worldwide by outausrs at the time that the customers’ sales o€wr customers, however, do not report
and pay royalties owed for sales in any given quantil after the conclusion of that quarter. As are unable to estimate the customers’ sale
in any given quarter to determine the royalties tues, we recognize royalty revenues based ontreyaeported by customers during the
quarter and when other revenue recognition crigmeamet.

Contract Revenue

We generally recognize revenue using percentagerapletion for development contracts related teriges of our solutions that involve
significant engineering and integration services. &l license and service agreements accounteasiog the percentage-of-completion
method, we determine progress to completion usipgtimeasures based upon contract costs incurredhae evaluated use of output
measures versus input measures and have deterthatezlr output is not sufficiently uniform withggect to cost, time and effort per unit of
output to use output measures as a measure ofeggtyr completion. Part of these contract feesheajue upon the achievement of certain
milestones, such as provision of certain delivexally us or production of chips by the customee fBmaining fees may be due on pre-
determined dates and include significant up-freett

A provision for estimated losses on fixed pricetcacts is made, if necessary, in the period in Wiie loss becomes probable and can be
reasonably estimated. If we determine that it essary to revise the estimates of the total cesqtsired to complete a contract, the total
amount of revenue recognized over the life of thetiact would not be affected. However, to the mixtee new assumptions regarding the t
efforts necessary to complete a project are lesstie original assumptions, the contract fees evbalrecognized sooner than originally
expected. Conversely, if the newly estimated teffarts necessary to complete a project are lotigar the original assumptions, the contract
fees will be recognized over a longer period.

If application of the percentage-of-completion neethesults in recognizable revenue prior to aniitimg event under a customer contract,
we will recognize the revenue and record an unbilkeeivable. Amounts invoiced to our customemxcess of recognizable revenue are
recorded as deferred revenue. The timing and aradoviced to customers can vary
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significantly depending on specific contract teransl can therefore have a material impact on defeeeenue or unbilled receivables in any
given period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of the net tangible and idieiiie intangible assets acquired in a
business combination. Intangible assets resultmmm the acquisitions of entities accounted for gghe purchase method of accounting are
estimated by management based on the fair valoetafssets received. Identifiable intangible asmetsomprised of patents, customer
contracts and contractual relationships, existauiphology, intellectual property and other intatgdssets. Identifiable intangible assets are
being amortized over the period of estimated bénsfng the straight-line method and estimateduldiees ranging from one to ten years.
Goodwill is not subject to amortization, but is gdh to at least an annual assessment for impatrrapplying a fair-value based test.

We evaluate goodwill, at a minimum, on an annuaidand whenever events and changes in circumstanggest that the carrying amc
may not be recoverable. Goodwill is allocation &wiwus reporting units, which are generally an apieg segment. The fair values of the
reporting units are estimated using an income sralinted cash flows approach. If the carrying armotithe reporting unit exceeds its fair
value, goodwill is considered impaired and a seciag is performed to measure the amount of imgaitross, if any.

Under the income approach, we measure fair valtleeofeporting unit based on a projected cash fit@thod using a discount rate
determined by our management which is commensuwigttethe risk inherent in our current business nho@ear discounted cash flow
projections are based on our annual financial fstcdeveloped internally by management for usesinaging our business.

We amortize long-lived assets over their estimateful lives. We evaluate long-lived assets forampent whenever events or changes ir
circumstances indicate the carrying value of artassly not be recoverable. The carrying value ig@mverable if it exceeds the undiscou
cash flows resulting from the use of the assetimnelventual disposition. Our estimates of futuastcflows attributable to our long-lived assets
require significant judgment based on our histdrécal anticipated results and are subject to maotofs. Factors we consider important whict
could trigger an impairment review include sigrafit negative industry or economic trends, signifidass of clients, and significant changes
in the manner of our use of the acquired assetseostrategy for our overall business.

When we determine that the carrying value of tmgitved assets may not be recoverable based ingoexistence of one or more of the
above indicators of impairment, we measure themiglempairment based on a projected discountsti iaw method using a discount rate
determined by our management to be commensuratehdtrisk inherent in our current business maoélelimpairment loss is recognized only
if the carrying amount of the longred asset is not recoverable and exceeds itwédire. Different assumptions and judgments couwdtenially
affect the calculation of the fair value of our ¢plived assets.

In August 2012, as a result of the change in bgsisérategy for the LDT reporting unit, we revised projected cash flows for LDT,
triggering an interim impairment analysis for godltland long-lived assets. The decline in the prtge cash flows for LDT resulted from a
change in business strategy with less focus ohititeer margin display technology licensing andrasréased focus on our general lighting
technologies.

As a result of the interim impairment analysis,sacluded that our LDT asset group was not abtedover the carrying amount of our
LDT assets. Determining the fair value of an agsetip unit is judgmental in nature and requiresue of significant estimates and
assumptions, considered to be Level 3 fair valpets including current replacement costs, reveraweith rates and operating margins, and
discount rates, among others. Accordingly, we wegglired to make various estimates in determirtiegfair values of the LDT asset group.
Due to the highly customized nature of the LDT nfanturing equipment, we primarily utilized the cagproach to estimate the fair value of
its property, plant and equipment. To determineetstenated fair value of its property, plant andipment, adjustment factors, including cost
trend factors, were applied to each individual tssgiginal cost in order to estimate currentaepment cost. The current replacement cos
then adjusted for estimated deductions to recoghizeffects of deterioration and obsolescence fabrvauses, as well as indirect costs suc
installation. Where appropriate, we utilized a neipproach to estimate the fair value of our prigpelant and equipment. This approach
included the identification of market prices inwadttransactions for similar assets based on agkiags for assets currently available for sale,
as well as obtaining and reviewing certain direatket values based quoted prices with manufactareatsecondary market participants for
similar equipment. Upon completion of this analysis recorded an impairment charge of $5.8 milidod $0.6 million for building
improvements and software in our LDT asset groegpectively.

The estimated fair value of the acquired intang#ssets was determined based on the income apprsach Level 3 fair value inputs, as it
was deemed to be the most indicative of our fdinerén an orderly transaction between market pigdits.
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Under the income approach, we determined fair vahsed on the estimated future cash flows resuitorg the licensing of the technology
underlying the intangible assets. The estimated flawss in the income approach were discountedrbgsiimated weighted-average cost of
capital which reflects the overall level of inhereisk of the reporting unit and the rate of retamoutside investor would expect to earn. Upor
completion of this analysis, we recorded an impaimticharge of $15.4 million in the third quarter26fL2 related to acquired intangible assets

Accordingly a long-lived asset impairment charggragating to $21.8 million was included in "Impaént of goodwill and long-lived
assets" in the Consolidated Statements of Operation

As noted above, the Company performed an evenewlinterim impairment analysis of goodwill as ofguist 31, 2012.

We estimated the fair value of all the reportingsinsing the income approach which was determisag Level 3 fair value inputs. The
utilization of the income approach to determine Y@ilue requires estimates of future operatingltesund cash flows discounted using an
estimated discount rate. Cash flow projectionsbaeed on management's estimates of revenue gratethand operating margins, taking into
consideration industry and market conditions. Tisea@lint rate used is based on a weighted averag®toapital adjusted for the relevant risk
associated with the characteristics of the busiaadsthe projected cash flows. Certain estimated irsthe income approach involve
information from businesses with developing revemaelels and limited financial history, which incseahe risk of differences between the
projected and actual performance. One of the keyraptions used in applying the income approactuited discount rates which ranged from
20% to 35% depending on the reporting units' oveisK profile relative to other guideline compasii¢he reporting units' respective industr
well as the visibility of future expected cash flaw

Upon the completion of the goodwill impairment ayséd as of August 31, 2012, we recorded a non-gashwill impairment charge of
$13.7 million relating to all of the goodwill oféhLDT reporting unit. The fair value of each of titber reporting units exceeded the goodwill
carrying value. The goodwill impairment chargerisliuded in “Impairment of goodwill and long-livedsets” in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, we performed ourwaigoodwill impairment analysis and we also firadl the financial information that w
be regularly reviewed for resource allocation aadgrmance assessment under the new internal r@aegimn which was announced in the
third quarter of 2012. The new internal organizattructure resulted in four reporting units: MICRI, LDT and MTD. As of December 31,
2012, the fair value of our MID reporting unit, tvi$19.9 million of goodwill, exceeded the carrywajue of its net assets by approximately
260%; the fair value of our CRI reporting unit, wi97.0 million of goodwill, exceeded the carrywajue of its net assets by approximately
60%; and the fair value of our MTD reporting umith $8.1 million of goodwill, exceeded the carrgimalue of its net assets by approximately
50%. To arrive at our cash flow projections utitlza the income approach, we used the reportingsuiorecast of estimated operating results
based on key assumptions such as long-term re\grouwgh rates, costs and estimates of future armtiegbchanges in operating margins basec
on economic and market information. Key assumptiesesi to determine the fair value of our reportings at December 31, 2012, were the
expected after-tax cash flows for the forecastqueaind terminal year, terminal growth rates andyiveid average cost of capital. Certain
estimates used in the income approach involve imdion from businesses with limited financial higtand developing revenue models which
increase the risk of differences between the ptegeand actual performance. One of the key assamgptised in applying the income appro
include discount rates which ranged from 21% to 3&¥ending on the reporting units’ overall riskffjeorelative to other guideline
companies, the reporting units' respective indussryvell as the visibility of future expected célshws.

It is reasonably possible that the businesses qmarddrm significantly below our expectations ateterioration of market and economic
conditions could occur. This would adversely impaat ability to meet our projected results, whichuld cause the goodwill in any of our
reporting units or long-lived assets in any of asset groups to become impaired. Significant difiees between these estimates and actual
cash flows could materially affect our future ficéal results. If the MTD and LDT reporting unitseamot successful in commercializing new
business arrangements, or if we are unsuccess$igming new license agreements or renewing owgtiagi license agreements for the MID .
CRI reporting units, the revenue and income foséheporting units could adversely and materiadlyiate from their historical trends and
could cause goodwill or long-lived assets to becanpaired. If we determine that our goodwill or ¢plived assets are impaired, we would be
required to record a non-cash charge that could hawnaterial adverse effect on our results of djpersiand financial position.

Litigation

We are involved in certain legal proceedings, asufised in Note 18, “Litigation and Asserted ClaimmgNotes to Consolidated Financial
Statements of this Form 10-K. Based upon consaitatiith outside counsel handling our defense isdheatters and an analysis of potential
results, if we believe that a loss arising frombsotatters is probable and can be reasonably estiiinae record the estimated liability in our
consolidated financial statements. If only a raofjestimated losses can be estimated, we recoaghanint within the range that, in our
judgment, reflects the most likely outcome; if nc
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of the estimates within that range is a bettenesti than any other amount, we record the liakditthe low end of the range of estimates. Any
such accrual would be charged to expense in theoppate period. We recognize litigation expensethée period in which the litigation
services were provided.

Income Taxes

As part of preparing our consolidated financiatestzents, we are required to calculate the incomexpense or benefit which relates to the
pretax income or loss for the period. In additiame, are required to assess the realization of tferrdel tax asset or liability to be included on
the consolidated balance sheet as of the repaltites.

As of December 31, 2012, our consolidated balaheetsncluded net deferred tax assets, before tiatuallowance, of approximately
$211.0 million, which consists of net operatingslasirryovers, tax credit carryovers, amortizatemployee stock-based compensation
expenses and certain liabilities, partially redubgdieferred tax liabilities associated with thewertible debt instruments. As of December 31
2012, a valuation allowance of $206.5 million regdicet deferred tax assets to $4.5 million. Managemeriodically evaluates the
realizability of our net deferred tax assets basedll available evidence, both positive and negaflhe realization of net deferred tax assets
dependent on our ability to generate sufficientifattaxable income during periods prior to the etjon of tax statutes to fully utilize these
assets. Our forecasted future operating resultbighdy influenced by, among other factors, assuomgtregarding (1) our ability to achieve 1
forecasted revenue, (2) our ability to effectiveignage our expenses in line with our forecasteemes and (3) general trends in the industrie
in which we operate.

We periodically evaluate the realizability of owtmleferred tax assets based on all available esgjdoth positive and negative. The
realization of net deferred tax assets is depenaieur ability to generate sufficient future tabeaincome during periods prior to the expirai
of tax statutes to fully utilize these assets. Wéighed both positive and negative evidence anerohéted that there is a continued need for a
valuation allowance due to the uncertainty of gatieg sufficient taxable income to utilize deferted assets based on forecasted revenues,
which we considered significant negative evidefidgmugh considered positive evidence, potentialimedrom currently unsigned favorable
patent and related settlement litigation were nolided in the determination for the valuation wbmce due to our inability to reliably estim
the probability, timing and amounts of such settdats. Even though we are no longer in a cumuldbis® position, the uncertainty of
generating sufficient taxable income to utilizeatedd tax assets based on forecasted revenueeimtve factor that outweighs the positive
factors leading to a conclusion that a releas@@f/aluation allowance is not yet appropriate.

Tax attributes related to stock option windfall detions are not to be recognized until they resudt reduction of cash taxes payable. The
benefit of these excess tax benefits will be reedria equity when they reduce cash taxes payable.

We will only recognize a tax benefit from stock-bdsawards in additional paid-in capital if an inoental tax benefit is realized after all
other tax attributes currently available have betdized. In addition, we have elected to accowntthe indirect effects of stock-based awards
on other tax attributes, such as the researchréaiits, through the consolidated statement of digeraas part of the tax effect of stock-based
compensation.

The calculation of our tax liabilities involves wartainties in the application of complex tax lavdaagulations in a multitude of jurisdictio
Although FASB Accounting Standards Codification 88") 740 Income Taxes, provides further clarifioaton the accounting for uncertainty
in income taxes, significant judgment is requirgchteanagement. If the ultimate resolution of taxentainties is different from what is
currently estimated, it could materially affectamee tax expense.

Stock-Based Compensation

We maintained stock plans covering a broad rangmtEntial equity grants including stock optionspwmested equity stock and equity stock
units and performance based instruments. In addii@ sponsor an Employee Stock Purchase Plan PESRhereby eligible employees are
entitled to purchase Common Stock semi-annuallynbgns of limited payroll deductions, at a 15% alistt from the fair market value of the
Common Stock as of specific dates.

The accounting guidance for share-based paymemigres the measurement and recognition of compiensaxpense in our statement of
operations for all share-based payment awards mhoaoler employees, directors and consultants innydimployee stock options, nonvested
equity stock and equity stock units, and employeekspurchase grants. Stock-based compensatiomsgpe measured at grant date, based o
the estimated fair value of the award, reducedrbgstimate of the annualized rate of expecteditarfss, and is recognized as expense ove
employees’ expected requisite service period, gdliyarsing the straight-line method. In additidme taccounting guidance for share-based
payments requires the benefits of tax deductiorexa@ess of recognized compensation expense tqbeted as a financing cash flow, rather
than as an operating cash flow as prescribed wprégious accounting rules. Our forfeiture rate espnts the historical rate at which our
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stock-based awards were surrendered prior to weskime accounting guidance for share-based paymemtsres forfeitures to be estimated at
the time of grant and revised on a cumulative héfsigecessary, in subsequent periods if actudéfmres differ from those estimates. See Not:
13, “Equity Incentive Plans and Stock-Based Comatmis,” of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statetaef this Form 10-K for more
information regarding the valuation of stock-basethpensation.

Marketable Securities

Available-for-sale securities are carried at failue, based on quoted market prices, with the linegbgains or losses reported, net of tax,
in stockholders’ equity as part of accumulated otteenprehensive income (loss). The amortized cidebt securities is adjusted for
amortization of premiums and accretion of discototsaturity, both of which are included in interaad other income, net. Realized gains
losses are recorded on the specific identificathi@thod and are included in interest and other irgamat. We review our investments in
marketable securities for possible other than teargampairments on a regular basis. If any lossneestment is believed to be other than
temporary, a charge will be recognized in operatidm evaluating whether a loss on a debt secisribgher than temporary, we consider the
following factors: 1) our intent to sell the se¢yri2) if we intend to hold the security, whethemot it is more likely than not that we will be
required to sell the security before recovery ef$bcuritys amortized cost basis and 3) even if we interftbtd the security, whether or not
expect the security to recover the entire amortesd basis. Due to the high credit quality andtstesm nature of our investments, there have
been no other than temporary impairments recoreidte. The classification of funds between shemitand long-term is based on whether
the securities are available for use in operatmrsther purposes.

Convertible Notes

See Note 11, “Convertible Notes,” of Notes to Cdidsded Financial Statements of this Form 10-K rdgay the accounting policy in
regards to the adoption of the FASB accounting giuig which clarifies the accounting for convertitddt instruments that may be settled in
cash upon conversion, including partial cash setld.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3, “Recent Accounting Pronouncement,” atell to Consolidated Financial Statements of thisnFLOK for a full description ¢
recent accounting pronouncements including theeaspe expected dates of adoption.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MakRisk

We are exposed to financial market risks, primaaiiging from the effect of interest rate fluctoat on our investment portfolio. Interest
rate fluctuation may arise from changes in the m@skview of the quality of the security issuer thverall economic outlook, and the time to
maturity of our portfolio. We mitigate this risk lipvesting only in high quality, highly liquid instments. Securities with original maturities of
one year or less must be rated by two of the timéestry standard rating agencies as follows: ABtgndard & Poor’s, P1 by Moody’s and/or
F-1 by Fitch. Securities with original maturitiesgreater than one year must be rated by two ofdtewing industry standard rating agencies
as follows: AA- by Standard & Poor’s, Aa3 by Moodyind/or AA- by Fitch. By corporate investment ppliwe limit the amount of exposure
to $15.0 million or 10% of the portfolio, whichewvierlower, for any single non-U.S. Government isséesingle U.S. Agency can represent up
to 25% of the portfolio. No more than 20% of theatgortfolio may be invested in the securitiesnfindustry sector, with money market fund
investments evaluated separately. Our policy reguinat at least 10% of the portfolio be in semsitvith a maturity of 90 days or less. We
may make investments in U.S. Treasuries, U.S. Agsncorporate bonds and municipal bonds and matesmaturities up to 36 months.
However, the bias of our investment portfolio iedlr maturities. All investments must be U.S. @lolenominated. Additionally, we have no
significant exposure to European sovereign debt.

We invest our cash equivalents and marketable iesun a variety of U.S. dollar financial instremts such as U.S. Treasuries, U.S.
Government Agencies, commercial paper and corpoiats. Our policy specifically prohibits tradingcsrities for the sole purposes of
realizing trading profits. However, we may liquidat portion of our portfolio if we experience urgseen liquidity requirements. In such a ¢
if the environment has been one of rising interatds we may experience a realized loss, simildriiie environment has been one of declir
interest rates we may experience a realized garnfAecember 31, 2012, we had an investment piordd fixed income marketable securit
of $183.9 million including cash equivalents. If rket interest rates were to increase immediatetyamformly by 1.0% from the levels as of
December 31, 2012, the fair value of the portfalmuld decline by approximately $0.1 million. Actuakults may differ materially from this
sensitivity analysis.

The table below summarizes the amortized costy#dire, unrealized gains (losses) and related weigaiverage interest rates for our cash
equivalents and marketable securities portfoliofd3ecember 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011:
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As of December 31, 2012

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized  Weighted Rate
(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Cost Gains Losses of Return
Money market funds $ 126,57( $ 126,57( $ — $ — 0.01%
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 57,34 57,35¢ 4 (15) 0.17%
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities 183,91! 183,92t 4 (15)
Cash 19,41¢ 19,41t — —
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 203,33( $ 20334! $ 4 % (15)

As of December 31, 2011

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized  Weighted Rate
(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Cost Gains Losses of Return
Money market funds $ 127,55¢ $ 127,55¢ $ — $ — 0.01%
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 137,10¢ 137,20t — (200 0.2%%
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities 264,66° 264,76° — (100)
Cash 24,78¢ 24,78¢ — —
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 289,45( $ 28955t $ — $ (100

The fair value of our convertible notes is subjednterest rate risk, market risk and other faxtwe to the convertible feature. The fair
value of the convertible notes will generally irase as interest rates fall and decrease as intatestrise. In addition, the fair value of the
convertible notes will generally increase as ounemn stock price increases and will generally desseas our common stock price declines i
value. The interest and market value changes dfiedair value of our convertible notes but do ingpact our financial position, cash flows or
results of operations due to the fixed nature efdabt obligation. Additionally, we do not carrgtbonvertible notes at fair value. We present
the fair value of the convertible notes for reqdidésclosure purposes. The following table sumnesrizertain information related to our 2014
Notes as of December 31, 20:

Fair Value Given a Fair Value Given a
10% Increase in 10% Decrease in
(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Market Prices Market Prices

5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 $ 172,71¢  $ 189,98 $ 155,44

We invoice our customers in U.S. dollars. Althodlyé fluctuation of currency exchange rates may ohpar customers, and thus indirec
impact us, we do not attempt to hedge this india@ct speculative risk. Our overseas operationsistomsmarily of design centers in India and
Italy and small business development offices iradaporea and Taiwan. We monitor our foreign cucyeexposure; however, as of Decembel
31, 2012, we believe our foreign currency expossir®t material enough to warrant foreign currehegging.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See Item 15 “Exhibits and Financial Statement Salesdi of this Form 10-K for required financial gatents and supplementary data.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduregydesi to ensure that information required to belossa in the reports we file or submit
pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Act of E&3dmended (“Exchange Act”) is recorded, procesaedmarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the rules and forms ef &fecurities and Exchange Commission,
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and that such information is accumulated and coniated to our management, including our Chief ExgelOfficer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisiorgarding required disclosure.

Management, with the participation of the Chief &ixéve Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaladtthe effectiveness of the design anc
operation of our disclosure controls and procedasedefined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) oEttehange Act as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on this evaluation Ghief Executive Officer and Chief Financial @#r have concluded that, as of
December 31, 2012, our disclosure controls andgohoes were effective.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting as defined in Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our in&icontrol over financial reporting is the procdssigned by, or under the supervision of,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial io#fr, and effected by our board of directors, managnt and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaincial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfes; and includes those policies and procedinats t

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reisie detail accurately and fairly reflect our sactions and dispositions of ass

(i) provide reasonable assurance that transastoa recorded as necessary to permit prepardtfomaacial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #oad our receipts and expenditures are being malyarmaccordance with the
authorization of our management and directors; and

(iif) provide reasonable assurance regarding priawe or timely detection of unauthorized acqusitiuse or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegmts.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive ffiand Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an assessment of the effectiveness dfiteunal control over financial reporting as ofde@enber 31, 2012. In making this
assessment, our management used the criteriardetrfinternal Control — Integrated Frameworésued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COS®3gsed on the results of this assessment, managéaenbncluded that, as of
December 31, 2012, our internal control over finaheporting was effective based on the critemitnternal Control —ntegrated Framewor
issued by the COSO.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2012 has beditealiby PricewaterhouseCoopers,
LLP, an independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in internal control ovemioi@ reporting during the last fiscal quarter thas materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal controber financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goventce

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerddo2013 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities angltange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A riet than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Fo¥KL The information under the heading “Our ExeeaitDfficers” in Part |, Item 1 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K is also incorporateceiveby reference.

We have a Code of Business Conduct and EthicdlIfof aur directors, officers and employees. Oud€of Business Conduct and Ethics is
available on our website at http://investor.rambos/documentdisplay.cfm?DocumentlD=8379. To d&exe have been no waivers under ou
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. We will pagtamendments or waivers, if and when granteduofdnde of Business Conduct and
Ethics on our website.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemertido2013 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities andlange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A ret than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on FofvKl

ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerddo2013 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities angltange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A riet than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on FofrKl

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, adatector Independence

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemertido2013 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities andlange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A ret than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on FofvKl

ltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information responsive to this item is incogied herein by reference to our Proxy Statemerido2013 annual meeting of
stockholders to be filed with the Securities angltange Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A riet than 120 days after the end of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on FofrKl
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(& (1) Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statementshef Registrant and Report of PricewaterhouseCoadpd?s Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm, are included herewith:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accouniinm 49
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&@12011 50
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 51
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomssjlfor the years ended December 31, 2012, 201 2@l 52
Consolidated Statements of Stockhold&msuity for the years ended December 31, 2012, 20012010 53
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraaled December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 54
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 55
Consolidated Supplementary Financial Data (unadylite 95

(& (2) Financial Statement Schedule

The following financial statement schedule of thegRtrant is included herewith and should be reazbnjunction with the Financial
Statements included in this Item 15:

Page

Schedule IF Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 96

All other schedules are omitted because they arapmicable or the required information is showithie Financial Statements or the notes
thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Rasnima.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 151(apfesent fairly, in all material respe
the financial position oRambus Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 312 20d December 31, 2011, and the results of tparations ar
their cash flows for each of the three years inpgeod ended December 31, 2012, in conformity w&itbounting principles generally accej
in the United States of America. In addition, irr @pinion, the financial statement schedule listethe index appearing under item 15(a
presents fairly, in all material respects, the infation set forth therein when read in conjunctieith the related consolidated finant
statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maiet in all material respects, effective interoahtrol over financial reporting as
December 31, 2012 based on criteria establishethtgrnal Control - Integrated Frameworlssued by the Committee of Sponso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO} Toempany's management is responsible for theaedial statements and finan:
statement schedule, for maintaining effective maércontrol over financial reporting and for itssassment of the effectiveness of inte
control over financial reporting, included in Mamagent's Report on Internal Control over Financiap®&ting, under item 9A. O
responsibility is to express opinions on theserfoial statements, on the financial statement sdbednd on the Company's internal cor
over financial reporting based on our integrateditau We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Comp
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thas@dards require that we plan and perform the audibbtain reasonable assurance ¢
whether the financial statements are free of maltemisstatement and whether effective internal mdmver financial reporting was maintair
in all material respects. Our audits of the finahdtatements included examining, on a test basislence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the financial statements, asseshim@ccounting principles used and significantestés made by management, and evalu
the overall financial statement presentation. Qudlitzof internal control over financial reportingciuded obtaining an understanding of inte
control over financial reporting, assessing thé isat a material weakness exists, and testing ewaduating the design and opera
effectiveness of internal control based on the sk risk. Our audits also included performing sattter procedures as we considt
necessary in the circumstances. We believe thaaadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed to provide reasonableamssuregarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantfegeinerally accepted accounting princi
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thaiefifain to the maintenance of records the
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assur
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accoréamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management :
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readsleaassurance regarding prevention or timely deteaf unauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or det@isstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, ol
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 22, 2013
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RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2012 2011
(In thousands, except shares and per share
amounts)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 148,98: $ 162,24
Marketable securities 54,34¢ 127,21.
Accounts receivable 52¢ 1,02¢
Prepaids and other current assets 10,52¢ 8,09¢
Deferred taxes 78¢ 2,79¢
Total current assets 215,17¢ 301,37t
Intangible assets, net 153,17: 181,95!
Goodwill 124,96¢ 115,14¢
Property, plant and equipment, net 86,90¢ 81,10¢
Deferred taxes, long term 4,45¢ 7,531
Other assets 3,131 6,53¢
Total assets $ 587,81 $ 693,65¢
LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 7,91¢ 3 16,56"
Accrued salaries and benefits 23,99. 31,76
Accrued litigation expenses 9,822 10,50:
Other accrued liabilities 12,40: 6,47¢
Total current liabilities 54,13 65,31:
Convertible notes, long-term 147,55t 133,49:
Long-term imputed financing obligation 45,91¢ 43,79:
Long-term income taxes payable 6,53: 9,94¢
Other long-term liabilities 12,07¢ 11,317
Total liabilities 266,21¢ 263,86(
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 12 and 18)
Stockholders’ equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $.001 par value:
Authorized: 5,000,000 shares; Issued and outstgndm shares at December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2011 — —
Common Stock, $.001 par value:
Authorized: 500,000,000 shares; Issued and outistgni1l 1,525,021 shares at December 31, 2012
and 110,267,145 shares at December 31, 2011 11z 11C
Additional paid in capital 1,075,76. 1,049,711
Accumulated deficit (753,979 (619,64
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (300) (389)
Total stockholders’ equity 321,59: 429,79:
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 587,81 $ 693,65

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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RAMBUS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenue:
Royalties $ 232,38 % 299,00: % 320,15!
Contract revenue 1,66¢ 13,35¢ 3,23t
Total revenue 234,05: 312,36: 323,39(
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue* 28,37: 24,08¢ 6,93
Research and development* 140,50: 115,69¢ 92,70¢
Marketing, general and administrative* 112,59« 164,13: 119,47
Restructuring charges 7,301 — —
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets 35,47 — —
Costs of restatement and related legal activities, 244 16,181 4,19(
Gain from settlement — (6,200 (126,801
Total operating costs and expenses 324,48! 313,89¢ 96,50¢
Operating income (loss) (90,439 (1,536 226,88:.
Interest income and other income (expense), net 58 563 1,39(
Interest expense (27,510 (24,829 (20,22%)
Interest and other income (expense), net (27,45)) (24,265 (18,839
Income (loss) before income taxes (117,889 (25,80) 208,04«
Provision for income taxes 16,45 17,25: 57,12;
Net income (loss) $ (134,33() $ (43,059 $ 150,91
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 1.2 $ (039 $ 1.3¢
Diluted $ (1.2) $ (039 $ 1.3C
Weighted average shares used in per share catmsgati
Basic 110,76¢ 110,04: 112,45¢
Diluted 110,76¢ 110,04: 115,88
* Includes stock-based compensation:
Cost of revenue $ 20 % 57t % 172
Research and development $ 9,54¢ $ 10,51¢ % 10,16¢
Marketing, general and administrative $ 12,98( $ 16,90: $ 20,21(

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Net income (loss) $ (134,33) $ (43,059 $ 150,91
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securitiespheax 89 (27) (449
Total comprehensive income (loss) $ (134,24) $ (43,080 $ 150,46t

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated

Common Stock Other
Additional Paid- Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Amount in Capital Deficit Gain (Loss) Total
(In thousands)
Balances at December 31, 2009 105,932 $ 106 $ 818,99. $ (563,85) $ 87 $ 255,32
Net income — — — 150,917 — 150,917
Unrealized loss on marketable securities,
of tax — — — — (449) (449)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
options, equity stock and employee stock
purchase plan 1,481 1 15,06¢€ — — 15,067
Issuance of common stock due to the
settlement with Samsung 4,78¢ 5 78,49t — — 78,50C
Repurchase and retirement of common stock
under repurchase plan (9,529 9) (31,449 (163,649 — (195,10)
Stock-based compensation — — 30,52¢ — — 30,52¢
Balances at December 31, 2010 102,67¢ 10z 911,63: (576,59() (362 334,78:
Net loss — — — (43,057 — (43,057
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net
of tax — — — — (27) (27)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise
options, equity stock and employee stock
purchase plan 1,371 1 10,09z — — 10,094
Net issuance of common stock due to CRI
acquisition 6,220 6 86,137 — — 86,143
Settlement of Samsurgybption related to tr
contingently redeemable common stock — — 13,50C — — 13,50C
Stock-based compensation — — 28,354 — — 28,354
Balances at December 31, 2011 110,267 11C 1,049,711 (619,64 (389 429,79:
Net loss — — — (134,336 — (134,336
Unrealized gain on marketable securities,
of tax — — — — 89 89
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
options, equity stock and employee stock
purchase plan 1,258 2 3,499 — — 3,501
Stock-based compensation — — 22,54¢ — — 22,54¢€
Balances at December 31, 2012 111,525 $ 11z % 1,075,76 $ (753,97() $ (30() $ 321,59‘

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss) $ (134,33) $ (43,05) $ 150,91
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to msthcprovided by (used in) operating
activities:
Impairment of goodwill and long-lived assets 35,47 — —
Stock-based compensation 22,54¢ 27,99¢ 30,54¢
Depreciation 13,19( 11,89« 10,10:
Amortization of intangible assets 30,34 20,19: 5,06¢
Non-cash interest expense and amortization of atibledebt issuance costs 14,69¢ 12,62: 11,07t
Deferred tax (benefit) provision 3,72¢ (24¢) (73
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plant and popgnt 8 — (1539
Non-cash acquisition of patents — (3,000 —
Loss on sale of marketable security — — 87
Change in operating assets and liabilities, neffefcts of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable 497 2,71¢ (1,657
Prepaids and other assets 8,37¢ 8,81( 4,64:
Accounts payable (9,669 10,45: (3,81))
Accrued salaries and benefits and other accrubditias 1,84z (789 28,05(
Accrued litigation expenses (680) 6,44 (1,087
Income taxes payable (3,529 (1,04% 1,50¢
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (17,507 52,99: 235,21¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (46,279 (167,38) (17,000
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (21,809 (19,43) (26,700
Acquisition of intangible assets (1,700 (1,210 (7,760
Purchases of marketable securities (110,716 (173,996 (428,76)
Maturities of marketable securities 183,08t 337,88( 296,63¢
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities — 33 1,82¢
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment — — 257
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 2,58: (24,109 (181,507
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds received from issuance of common stoc&rerdployee stock plans 4,10z 12,28: 16,51«
Payments under installment payment arrangement (1,929 (2,53)) (4,274
Principal payments against financing lease obligati (522) (45€) —
Payment to redeem contingently redeemable comnook gursuant to the settlement
agreement with Samsung — (100,000 —
Proceeds received from issuance of contingentlgeetible common stock and commc
stock pursuant to the settlement agreement withs8am — — 192,00(
Proceeds from landlord for tenant improvements — 8,80( 292
Repurchase and retirement of common stock, inctpdnepayment under share purcha
contract — — (195,109
Repayment of convertible senior notes — — (136,95()
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,65¢ (81,90 (127,521
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (13,260 (53,019 (73,81)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 162,24 215,26:. 289,07:

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 148,98: $ 162,24« $ 215,26




Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:

Interest $ 8,62
Income taxes, net of refunds $ 16,38
Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Non-cash obligation for property, plant and equipme $ 2,517
Property, plant and equipment received and acdruadcounts payable and other accrued

liabilities $ 1,70¢
Intangible assets acquired under installment payrw@angement $ =
Common stock, net, issued pursuant to acquisition $ —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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RAMBUS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Formation and Business of the Company

Rambus Inc. (the “Company” or “Rambus”), the innix@&technology solutions company that brings ini@nto market, was incorporated
in California in March 1990 and reincorporated ial@wvare in March 1997. Unleashing the intellech@ber of its engineers and scientists in
collaborative and synergistic way, the Company imsedevelops, offers and licenses solutions thallenge and enable its customers to creat
the future. In addition to licensing, the Compasigiieating new business opportunities through ioffgoroducts and services where its goal is
to perpetuate strong company operating performanddong-term stockholder value. The Company géesravenue by licensing its
inventions and solutions, whether in the form depéalicensing, solutions licensing, or servicesnarket-leading companies.

While the Company has historically focused its gff@mn the development of technologies for eleétsomemory and chip interfaces, it has
been expanding its portfolio of inventions and sohs to address additional markets in lightingpthys, chip and system security, digital
media, as well as new areas within the semicondirdoistry, such as imaging and non-volatile memdhe Company intends to continue its
growth into new technology fields, consistent wotlr mission to create great value through its imtions and to make those technologies
available through its licensing business model. Kethe Company's efforts, both in its current basses and in any new area of
diversification, will be hiring and retaining inviems, scientists and engineers to lead the devedapof inventions and technology solutions
these fields of focus, and the management and éssBupport personnel necessary to execute its alahstrategies.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Financial Statement Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of Rambus and its wholly owsigasidiaries, Rambus K.K.,
located in Tokyo, Japan, Cryptography Research, located in California, U.S.A., Unity SemicondoicCorporation, located in California,
U.S.A., Mozaik Multimedia, Inc., located in Califda, U.S.A., and Rambus Ltd., located in George A,0@rand Cayman Islands, British W
Indies, which includes Rambus Chip Technologiedi@nPrivate Limited, Rambus Deutschland GmbH, tedan Pforzheim, Germany,
Kamiyacho IP Holdings and Rambus Korea, Inc., ledat Seoul, Korea. In addition, Rambus Internatidrid. and Rambus Delaware LLC
are also subsidiaries. All intercompany accountsteamsactions have been eliminated in the accoyipguconsolidated financial statements.
Investments in entities with less than 20% owngrslyi Rambus and in which Rambus does not havehilitydo significantly influence the
operations of the investee are accounted for ubiagost method and are included in other assets.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amourassats and liabilities and disclosure of contihgssets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amountsvefge and expenses during the reporting periodidhcesults could differ from those
estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year balances were reclassified tdamn to the current year’s presentation. Nonéheke reclassifications had an impact on
reported net income (loss) or cash flows for anthefperiods presented.

Revenue Recognition
Overview

Rambus recognizes revenue when persuasive evidéacearrangement exists, Rambus has delivereprdukict or performed the service,
the fee is fixed or determinable and collectiore@sonably assured. If any of these criteria atenb, Rambus defers recognizing the revenue
until such time as all criteria are met. Determimabf whether or not these criteria have beenmmest require the Company to make
judgments, assumptions and estimates based up@ntinformation and historical experien

Certain revenue contract consists of service fessaated with integration of its solutions int® dustomers’ products and fees associated

with providing training, evaluation and test equ@nhto its customers. Under the accounting guidaintiee deliverables have standalone v
upon delivery, Rambus accounts for each deliversdparately. When multiple-deliverables
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included in an arrangement are separated intordiffaunits of accounting, the arrangement consiierés allocated to the identified separate
units based on a relative selling price hierarégmbus determines the relative selling price fdelaverable based on its best estimate of
selling price (“BESP”). Rambus has determined teatdor-specific objective evidence of selling priceeach deliverable is not available as
there is a lack of consistent number of standasabes and third-party evidence is not a practitetrzative due to differences in its service
offerings compared to other parties and the avidithabf relevant third-party pricing informatioilRambus determined BESP by considering its
overall pricing objectives and market conditionggricant pricing practices taken into considesatinclude discounting practices, the size
volume of transactions, the customer demographégeographic area where services are sold, fisise go-to-market strategy, historical
standalone sales and contract prices. The detetioninaf BESP is made through consultation with apgroval by management, taking into
consideration the go-to-market strategy. As theéagorarket strategies evolve, Rambus may modifpriting practices in the future, which
could result in changes in relative selling pridasmost cases, the relative values of the undedtvyeomponents are not material to the overall
arrangement and are typically delivered within tveetnonths after the core product has been delivémeslich agreements, selling price is
determined for each component and any differentedsmn the total of the separate BESP and totatacintonsideration (i.e. discount) is
allocated pro-rata across each of the componertkeiarrangement.

Rambus’ revenue consists of royalty revenue anttractrevenue derived from Memory and Interfaceiddn ("MID"), Cryptography
Research Inc. ("CRI") and Lighting and Display Tieslogies ("LDT") operating segments. Royalty revegonsists of patent license and
solutions license royalties. Contract revenue aigsif fixed license fees, fixed engineering faas service fees associated with integration of
Rambus’ technology solutions into its customersdurcts.

Royalty Revenue

Rambus recognizes royalty revenue upon notificabipits customers and when deemed collectible.tétras of the royalty agreements
generally either require customers to give Ramlmtidication and to pay the royalties within 60 dafshe end of the quarter during which the
sales occur or are based on a fixed royalty thdtigswithin 45 days of the end of the quarter. MahRambus’ customers have the right to
cancel their licenses. In such arrangements, revenonly recognized to the extent that is conststgth the cancellation provisions.
Cancellation provisions within such contracts galtgprovide for a prospective cancellation withneéund of fees already remitted by
customers for products provided and payment farises rendered prior to the date of cancellaticamBus has two types of royalty revenue:
(1) patent license royalties and (2) solutionsrgmroyalties.

Patent licenses - Rambus licenses its broad piartibpatented inventions to companies who useetigentions in the development and
manufacture of their own products. Such licensigigaments may cover the license of part, or alksgbatent portfolio. The contractual terms
of the agreements generally provide for payments am extended period of time. For the licensingagents with fixed royalty payments,
Rambus generally recognizes revenue from thesaganaents as amounts become due. For the licengirgraents with variable royalty
payments which can be based on either a percentagdes or number of units sold, Rambus earndtiegat the time that the customesale:
occur. Rambustustomers, however, do not report and pay royattresd for sales in any given quarter until after tonclusion of that quart:
As Rambus is unable to estimate the customerss galeny given quarter to determine the royalties th Rambus, it recognizes royalty
revenues based on royalties reported by custonueirsgathe quarter and when other revenue recogndtiiteria are met.

In addition, Rambus may enter into certain settieismef patent infringement disputes. The amouroisideration received upon any
settlement (including but not limited to past rdyglayments, future royalty payments and punitismeges) is allocated to each element of th
settlement based on the fair value of each elenreaddition, revenues related to past royaltiesracognized upon execution of the agreeme
by both parties, provided that the amounts arelfixedeterminable, there are no significant un@éeéd obligations and collectability is
reasonably assured. Rambus does not recognizeea@yues prior to execution of the agreement simeeetis no reliable basis on which it can
estimate the amounts for royalties related to meviperiods or assess collectability. Elementsateatelated to royalty revenue in nature
(including but not limited to past royalty paymeatsd future royalty payments) will be recorded@glty revenue in the consolidated
statements of operations. Elements that are ratiea:to royalty revenue in nature (including but limoited to punitive damage and settlement)
will be recorded as gain from settlement whicheif(eccted as a separate line item within the opegatixpenses section in the consolidated
statements of operations.

Solutions licenses - Rambus develops proprietadyiraustry-standard products that it provides gccitstomers under solutions license
agreements. These arrangements include royaltlégshwan be based on either a percentage of safesiber of units sold. Rambus earns
royalties on such licensed products sold worldviigéts customers at the time that the
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customers’ sales occur. Rambus’ customers, howdweanpt report and pay royalties owed for salemniy given quarter until after the
conclusion of that quarter. As Rambus is unablestomate the customersales in any given quarter to determine the rasitiue to Rambus
recognizes royalty revenues based on royaltiestegpdy customers during the quarter and when ath@mue recognition criteria are met.

Contract Revenue

Rambus generally recognizes revenue using peraeofagpmpletion for development contracts relatelicenses of its solutions that
involve significant engineering and integrationvéegs. For agreements accounted for using the p&ge-of-completion method, Rambus
determines progress to completion using input measoased upon contract costs incurred. Part eétbentract fees may be due upon the
achievement of certain milestones, such as pravisf@ertain deliverables by Rambus or productibehips by the customer. The remaining
fees may be due on pre-determined dates and inslgd#icant up-front fees.

A provision for estimated losses on fixed pricetcacts is made, if necessary, in the period in Wiie loss becomes probable and can be
reasonably estimated. If the Company determindsttiganecessary to revise the estimates of tted tmsts required to complete a contract, th
total amount of revenue recognized over the lifehefcontract would not be affected. However, ®dhktent the new assumptions regarding
total efforts necessary to complete a projectese than the original assumptions, the contrastieeild be recognized sooner than originally
expected. Conversely, if the newly estimated teffarts necessary to complete a project are lotigar the original assumptions, the contract
fees will be recognized over a longer period.

If application of the percentage-of-completion neethiesults in recognizable revenue prior to aniitimg event under a customer contract,
Rambus will recognize the revenue and record ailledbeceivable. As of December 31, 2012 and 20thk balances of unbilled receivable
were not material. Amounts invoiced to its custogriarexcess of recognizable revenue are recordddfasred revenue. The timing and
amounts invoiced to customers can vary signifigagéipending on specific contract terms and caretbex have a material impact on deferred
revenue or unbilled receivables in any given period

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of the net tangible and itfiaiie intangible assets acquired in a
business combination. Intangible assets resultmm the acquisitions of entities accounted for gdhve purchase method of accounting are
estimated by management based on the fair valoetaissets received. Identifiable intangible asset€omprised of patents, customer
contracts and contractual relationships, existauihology, intellectual property and other intatg#éssets. Identifiable intangible assets are
being amortized over the period of estimated bénsfing the straight-line method and estimateduldies ranging from 1 to 10 years .
Goodwill is not subject to amortization, but is gdh to at least an annual assessment for impatrrapplying a fair-value based test.

The Company evaluates goodwill, at a minimum, oammual basis and whenever events and changesumstances suggest that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Goodwélliscated to various reporting units, which araggally an operating segment. The fair
values of the reporting units are estimated usmmeome or discounted cash flows approach. Iicreying amount of the reporting unit
exceeds its fair value, goodwill is considered imgxd, and a second step is performed to measur@ntioent of impairments loss, if any.

Under the income approach, the Company measureslae of the reporting unit based on a projeci&sh flow method using a discount
rate determined by its management which is comnrateswith the risk inherent in its current businesxiel. The Company'’s discounted cash
flow projections are based on its annual finanftedcasts developed internally by management feriusnanaging its business. In the third
quarter of 2012, the Company performed an intermodgvill impairment analysis due to a change in bess strategy for its LDT reporting u
which resulted in an impairment of all of the LD8porting unit's goodwill. See Note 6, "Intangibles&ts and Goodwill" for further details.
The Company also performed its annual goodwill impant analysis as of December 31, 2012 and detedirthat the fair value of each of its
reporting units exceed their carrying value.

Given the current economic environment and the diaicgies regarding the impact on its businesgetisan be no assurance that the
estimates and assumptions made for purposes @fdimpany’s goodwill impairment testing in the fougiharter of 2012 will prove to be
accurate predictions of the future. If the Comparassumptions regarding forecasted revenues oatopgmargin rates are not achieved, the
Company may be required to record goodwill impaimb@harges in future periods, whether in conneatiih the next annual impairment
testing or prior to that if any change constituiddsiggering event outside of the period when theual goodwill impairment test is performed.
It is not possible at this time to determine if
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any such future impairment charge would resulifar does, whether such charge would be matefiaé Company believes that the
assumptions and rates used in its impairment teseasonable. However, they are judgmental, aridtians in any of the assumptions or r:
could result in materially different calculationimpairment amounts.

Long-lived Asset Impairment

The Company evaluates lotiged assets for impairment whenever events or gbsiun circumstances indicate the carrying valugnofisse
may not be recoverable. The carrying value is actverable if it exceeds the undiscounted cashsfi@sulting from the use of the asset an
eventual disposition. The Company’s estimates tfreucash flows attributable to its long-lived dsgequire significant judgment based on its
historical and anticipated results and are sultfgeotany factors. Factors that the Company considgsertant which could trigger an
impairment review include significant negative isthy or economic trends, significant loss of clgr#nd significant changes in the manner of
our use of the acquired assets or the strategyuiooverall business.

When the Company determines that the carrying vafidiee long-lived assets may not be recoverabsedapon the existence of one or
more of the above indicators of impairment, the @any measures the potential impairment based oojegted discounted cash flow method
using a discount rate determined by the Compainetoommensurate with the risk inherent in the Camijsacurrent business model. An
impairment loss is recognized only if the carryargount of the long-lived asset is not recoverahbtexceeds its fair value. Different
assumptions and judgments could materially afteetcalculation of the fair value of the long-livasksets. During 2012 , the Company
recognized an impairment of its lotiged and intangible assets related to its LDT tagsaup. See Note 6, "Intangible Assets and Godtfoit
further details. During 2011 and 2010 , Rambusndidrecognize any impairment of its long-lived dsse

Litigation

Rambus is involved in certain legal proceedingsdslaupon consultation with outside counsel handisidefense in these matters and an
analysis of potential results, if Rambus believes & loss arising from such matters is probabdecam be reasonably estimated, Rambus
records the estimated liability in its consolidatie@dncial statements. If only a range of estimdésdes can be determined, Rambus records a
amount within the range that, in its judgment,aef$ the most likely outcome; if none of the estamavithin that range is a better estimate tha
any other amount, Rambus records the low end afathge. Any such accrual would be charged to expenthe appropriate period. Rambus
recognizes litigation expenses in the period incltihe litigation services were provided.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using an assefaility approach, which requires the recognitidrdeferred tax assets and liabilities for
expected future tax events that have been recagjaifferently in Rambus' consolidated financiaketaents and tax returns. The measuremer
of current and deferred tax assets and liabilisdsased on provisions of the enacted tax law hadeffects of future changes in tax laws or 1
are not anticipated. A valuation allowance is dighbd when necessary to reduce deferred tax assatsounts expected to be realized based
on available evidence.

In addition, the calculation of the Company's tiakilities involves dealing with uncertainties lmetapplication of complex tax regulations.
As a result, the Company reports a liability foresognized tax benefits resulting from uncertaingasitions taken or expected to be taken in
its tax return. The Company considers many faatdrasn evaluating and estimating its tax positiors @ax benefits, which may require
periodic adjustments and which may not accurateficipate actual outcomes.

Stock-Based Compensation and Equity Incentive Plans

The Company maintained stock plans covering a braage of equity grants including stock options)vested equity stock and equity
stock units and performance based instrumentdditian, the Company sponsors an Employee StockHase Plan (“ESPP”), whereby
eligible employees are entitled to purchase Com8tock semi-annually, by means of limited payrolfidetions, at a 15% discount from the
fair market value of the Common Stock as of specifites.

The Company determines compensation expense aegbweidh restricted stock units based on the falu® of our common stock on the
date of grant. The Company determines compensatipanse associated with stock options based ogsthmated grant date fair value metl
using the Black-Scholes Merton valuation model. Tlenpany generally recognizes compensation expgsisg a straight-line amortization
method over the respective vesting period for awéndt are ultimately expected to vest. Accordingtgck-based compensation expense for
2012, 2011 and 2010 has been reduced for estifatfeidures. When estimating forfeitures, the Compaonsiders voluntary termination
behaviors as well as trends of
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actual option forfeitures. The Company will onlgognize a tax benefit from stock-based awards ditiatial paid-in capital if an incremental
tax benefit is realized after all other tax atttésicurrently available have been utilized. In &ddj the Company has elected to account for the
indirect effects of stockased awards on other tax attributes, such ag#ieaurch tax credits, through the consolidatedrstaieof operations
part of the tax effect of stock-based compensation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments witiginal maturity of threenonths or less at the date of purchase. The Compainytains
its cash balances with high quality financial ingtons. Cash equivalents are invested in hightgerand highly-liquid money market securities
and certain U.S. government sponsored obligations.

Marketable Securities

Available-for-sale securities are carried at failue, based on quoted market prices, with the linegbgains or losses reported, net of tax,
in stockholders’ equity as part of accumulated ptwmenprehensive income (loss). The amortized ciodébt securities is adjusted for
amortization of premiums and accretion of discototsaturity, both of which are included in intdraad other income, net. Realized gains
losses are recorded on the specific identificat@thod and are included in interest and other irgamat. The Company reviews its
investments in marketable securities for possibikemnthan temporary impairments on a regular b#sisy loss on investment is believed to
a credit loss, a charge will be recognized in of@na. In evaluating whether a credit loss on & deburity has occurred, the Company
considers the following factors: 1) the Companytent to sell the security, 2) if the Company inteto hold the security, whether or not it is
more likely than not that the Company will be reqdito sell the security before recovery of theusgcs amortized cost basis and 3) even if
the Company intends to hold the security, whetherod the Company expects the security to recdweentire amortized cost basis. Due to th
high credit quality and short term nature of ther(pany’s investments, there have been no credie$osscorded to date. The classification of
funds between short-term and long-term is basedr®@ther the securities are available for use inatjms or other purposes.

Non-Marketable Securities

The Company has an investment in a non-marketalarisy of a private company which is carried attcdhe Company monitors the
investment for other-than-temporary impairment eswbrds appropriate reductions in carrying valuenvhecessary. The non-marketable
security is classified within other assets in tbasolidated balance sheets.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash equivalents, accourusivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilégsoximate their fair values due to tl
relatively short maturities as of December 31, 284@ 2011 . Marketable securities are comprisexvailable-for-sale securities that are
reported at fair value with the related unrealigaths and losses included in accumulated other peimepsive income (loss), a component of
stockholdersequity, net of tax. Fair value of the marketableusities is determined based on quoted market qritlee fair market value of tl
Company's convertible notes fluctuates with interates and with the market price of the stock,dmés not affect the carrying value of the
debt on the balance sheet.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment includes computeipagent, computer software, machinery, leaseholdawements, furniture and fixtures
and buildings. Computer equipment, computer so#warachinery and furniture and fixtures are statezbst and generally depreciated on a
straight-line basis over an estimated useful Iif8 p3 to 5, 7 and 3 years , respectively. Then@any undertook a series of structural
improvements to ready the Sunnyvale and Brecksfatdities for its use. The Company concluded ftatequirement to fund construction
costs and responsibility for cost overruns resuletie Company being considered the owner of thiglings during the construction period
accounting purposes. Upon completion of constragtivze Company concluded that it retained suffic@mtinuing involvement to preclude
de-recognition of the buildings under the FASB autative guidance applicable to sale leasebackdal estate. As such, the Company
continues to account for the buildings as owneties@te and to record an imputed financing okliligetor its obligation to the legal owners.
The buildings will be depreciated on a straighelvasis over an estimated useful life of approxéhye®9 years . See Note 10, “Balance Sheet
Details,” and Note 12, “Commitments and Contingesgifor additional details. Leasehold improvememtsamortized on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of their estimated useful livetherinitial terms of the leases. Upon disposaetssand related accumulated depreciation are
removed from the accounts and the related gaiossrik included in the results from operations.

Research and Development
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Costs incurred in research and development, winicludle engineering expenses, such as salarieekidd benefits, stock-based
compensation, depreciation, professional servindsozerhead expenses related to the general dewetdpf Rambus’ products, are expensec
as incurred. Software development costs are ciggithbeginning when a product’s technological feitist has been established and ending
when a product is available for general releasibomers. Rambus has not capitalized any softdarelopment costs since the period
between establishing technological feasibility gederal customer release is relatively short argliels, these costs have not been material.

Computation of Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated Wgidg the net income (loss) by the weighted avenagmber of common shares outstan:
during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per sharcalculated by dividing the earnings (loss}heyweighted average number of common
shares and potentially dilutive securities outstagdiuring the period. Potentially dilutive commsimares consist of incremental common
shares issuable upon exercise of stock optionsloge stock purchases, restricted stock and restrstock units, and shares issuable upo
conversion of convertible notes. The dilutive effetoutstanding shares is reflected in dilutechazays per share by application of the treasury
stock method. This method includes consideratiah®famounts to be paid by the employees, the anod@xcess tax benefits that would be
recognized in equity if the instrument was exeitiard the amount of unrecognized stock-based cosafien related to future services. No
potential dilutive common shares are included exdbmputation of any diluted per share amount véheat loss is reported. As discussed in
Note 19,"Settlement Agreement with Samsung,” the Compapgmed shares issued to Samsung as contingentgmeable common stock
due to the contractual put rights associated witise shares. As such, the Company used the twe+olethod for reporting earnings per share
for those periods where the contingently redeemedibemon stock was outstanding (during 2010 untigjégt 2011).

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the ahangquity of a business enterprise during a defriem transactions and other events
and circumstances from non-owner sources, incluftirgjgn currency translation adjustments and Uiz@g gains and losses on marketable
securities. Other comprehensive income (loss)ohttx, is presented in the consolidated statenwntemprehensive income (loss).

Credit Concentration

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011 , the Companyghk,aash equivalents and marketable securities weested with various financial
institutions in the form of corporate notes, boadd commercial paper, money market funds, U.S. govent bonds and notes, and municipal
bonds and notes. The Company’s exposure to maskefor changes in interest rates relates primaailits investment portfolio. The Company
places its investments with high credit issuers agdnvestment policy, attempts to limit the ambahcredit exposure to any one issuer. As
stated in the Company’s investment policy, it wilisure the safety and preservation of the Compamyested funds by limiting default risk
and market risk. The Company has no investmentsrdemrated in foreign country currencies and therefemot subject to foreign exchange
risk from these assets.

The Company mitigates default risk by investindpigh credit quality securities and by positionitgyportfolio to respond appropriately to a
significant reduction in a credit rating of any @¥ment issuer or guarantor. The portfolio incluolely marketable securities with active
secondary or resale markets to enable portfoligidity.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company'’s foreign subsidiaries currently useWhS. dollar as the functional currency. Remeasard adjustments for non-functional
currency monetary assets and liabilities are tededlinto U.S. dollars at the exchange rate ircetiethe balance sheet date. Revenue,
expenses, gains or losses are translated at thegavexchange rate for the period, and non-monetswgts and liabilities are translated at
historical rates. The remeasurement gains anddaddbese foreign subsidiaries as well as gaidda@sses from foreign currency transactions
are included in other expense, net in the conselitistatements of operations, and are not maferiany periods presented.

3. Recent Accounting Pronouncement

In December 2012 , the FASB issued Accounting StedslUpdate (“ASU”) No. 2011-11, “Disclosures ab@dfsetting Assets and
Liabilities”. ASU 2011-11 will require the Compary disclose information about offsetting and redeerangements to enable users of its
financial statements to understand the effect ad¢harrangements on its financial position. The geigance is effective for the Company's
interim period ending March 31, 2013. The disclesurequired are to be
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applied retrospectively for all comparative peripdesented. The Company does not expect that tidsugce will have an impact on its
financial position, results of operations or casiws as it is disclosure-only in nature.

In July 2012, the FASB amended its guidance to Bfynipow an entity tests indefinite-lived intangébbssets for impairment. The
amendment will allow an entity to first assess gatie factors to determine whether it is necegsaiperform the two-step quantitative
impairment test. An entity no longer will be reaqadrto calculate the fair value of an indefiniteelivintangible asset unless the entity
determines, based on a qualitative assessmentt thatore likely than not that its fair valueléss than its carrying amount. The amendment
becomes effective for the Company’s interim peeoading March 31, 2013 and early adoption is peeaitthe Company does not expect that
this guidance will have an impact on its finangiasition or results of operations as it does netleny indefinite-lived intangible assets.

4. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated Wididg the net income (loss) by the weighted avenagmber of common shares outstani
during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per shiarcalculated by dividing the earnings (loss}tm®/weighted average number of common
shares and potentially dilutive securities outstapduring the period. Potentially dilutive commsimares consist of incremental common
shares issuable upon exercise of stock optionsloges stock purchases, restricted stock and restrgtock units and shares issuable upon tt
conversion of convertible notes. The dilutive effetoutstanding shares is reflected in dilutechesys per share by application of the treasury
stock method. This method includes consideratiah@®famounts to be paid by the employees, the anod@xcess tax benefits that would be
recognized in equity if the instrument was exeitiard the amount of unrecognized stock-based cosagien related to future services. No
potential dilutive common shares are included exdbmputation of any diluted per share amount véheat loss is reported. As discussed in
Note 19,"Settlement Agreement with Samsung,” the Compapymed approximately 4.8 million shares issueddmS8ung as contingently
redeemable common stock ("CRCS") due to the camtahput rights associated with those shares. Ak, ghe Company used the two-class
method for reporting earnings per share for thasegs where the contingently redeemable commarkst@s outstanding (during 2010 until
August 2011).

The following table sets forth the computation aéic and diluted income (loss) per share:
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Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
CRCS* Other CS** CRCS* Other CS** CRCS* Other CS**
Basic net income (loss) per share:
Numerator:
Allocation of undistributed earnings $ — $ (134,33) $ (2,280 $ (41,879 $ 6,10¢ $ 144,80
Denominator:
Weighted-average common shares
outstanding — 110,76¢ 4,78¢ 107,02: 4,557 107,90«
Basic net income (loss) per share $ — % 1.20) $ (0.25) % (0.39 $ 134 % 1.3¢
Diluted net income (loss) per share:
Numerator:
Allocation of undistributed earnings for basit
computation $ — $ (134,33) $ (1,180 $ (4187) $ 6,10¢ $ 144,80¢
Reallocation of undistributed earnings — — — — (181) 181
Allocation of undistributed earnings for dilute
computation $ — $ (134,33) $ (1,180 $ (41,87) $ 592¢ $ 144,98
Denominator:
Number of shares used in basic computat — 110,76¢ 4,78¢ 107,02« 4,552 107,90
Dilutive potential shares from stock options,
ESPP, convertible notes, CRI retention
bonuses and nonvested equity stock and
stock units — — — — — 3,42¢
Number of shares used in diluted
computation — 110,76¢ 4,78¢ 107,02 4,552 111,33
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ — § (121 $ 0.2 $ (039 $ 13C § 1.3(

* CRCS — Contingently Redeemable Common Stock
**  Other CS — Common Stock other than CRCS

For the years ended December 31, 2012 , 2011 at@,2iptions to purchase approximately 12.2 millid2.0 million and 6.4 million
shares, respectively, were excluded from the cafimul because they were anti-dilutive after comaingdegproceeds from exercise, taxes and
related unrecognized stock-based compensation egpEnor the years ended December 31, 2012 and, 201additional 6.8 million and 4.1
million potentially dilutive shares, respectivehgve been excluded from the weighted average diisihares because there was a net loss for
the periods.

5. Acquisitions
Unity Semiconductor Corporation

On February 3, 2012, the Company completed itsisitigun of a privately-held company, Unity Semicaetbr Corporation (“Unity”), by
acquiring all issued and outstanding shares oftalgtiock of Unity. Pursuant to the merger agredmarFebruary 3, 2012, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company merged with and into YJnitith Unity as the surviving corporation. Undkeetterms of the merger agreement, the
purchase price was $35.0 million subject to cenpaistelosing adjustments to the purchase price whictevagplied as of the end of the sec
quarter of 2012. In addition to the purchase cansition, the Company agreed to pay an aggreg&i®.0fmillion in retention bonuses to
certain Unity employees over the next three yedise.retention bonus payouts are subject to thditon of employment, and therefore, will
be treated as compensation and expensed as inami@draded attribution basis. Of the purchaseepapproximately $5.5 milliom cash wa
deposited into an escrow account until August 3,320 fund any indemnification obligations to the
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Company following the consummation of the mergdre Company acquired Unity’s technology and a pbatiaf non-volatile solid state
memory patents. The solid state memory technols@gypotential successor to the current NAND flasimology, or could be otherwise
deployed in the growing non-volatile memory marlétis memory technology has been designed to aetelthe commercialization of the
Terabit generation of non-volatile memories. Desiasing this technology are expected to achieviednidensity, faster performance, lower
manufacturing costs and greater data reliabiligntNAND Flash. Unity is part of the MID reportingit. The Company incurred
approximately $0.6 million in direct acquisitionsts in connection with the acquisition which wexpensed as incurred.

The purchase price allocation for the businessieed|is based on managemeng'stimate of the fair value for purchase accognirpose
at the date of acquisition. The fair value of teeeis acquired has been determined primarily mgusiluation methods that discount the
expected future cash flows to present value usstighates and assumptions determined by managewigiot) is a level three fair value
measurement. The Company performed a valuationeofiet assets acquired as of the February 3, 204i2g date. The purchase price from
the business combination was allocated as follows:

Total
(in thousands)
Cash $ 182
Property and equipment 51
Other tangible assets 36
Identified intangible assets 19,28(
Goodwill 15,45
Total $ 35,00(

The goodwill arising from the acquisition is prirtamttributed to synergies related to the comborabf new and complementary
technologies of the Company and the assembled aadkiof Unity. This goodwill is not expected todeductible for tax purposes.

The identified intangible assets assumed in theiaitipn of Unity were recognized as existing tealogy based upon their fair values as of
the acquisition date. The acquired intangible adsate an estimated average useful life of 10 yieans the date of acquisition.

Other Acquisition Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Comparyeel into one additional business combinationtardpatent and technology
acquisitions for $13.2 million to expand the Comparexisting technology, which resulted in approxiety $8.1 million of goodwill, $4.1
million of intangible assets (weighted average uisée of 6 years ) and $1.0 million of other ass@ he business combination is part of the
Mobile Technologies Division ("MTD") reporting unithich is part of the CTO reportable segment.

The consolidated financial statements include fherating results of these businesses from theadatequisition. The acquired assets did
not generate any revenue during the reported perfeid forma results of operations for the 2012rmss combinations have not been
presented because their effects were not matertaet Company’s consolidated financial statements.

2011 Acquisition ActivityDuring the year ended December 31, 2011 , the Coynpequired CRI for a total purchase price of $257.
million which consisted of cash of $168.8 milliondaapproximately 6.4 million of the Company's conmstock. The Company expensed the
related transaction costs amounting to approxim&&l9 million . The acquisition of CRI expands thempany's technologies available for
licensing with complementary technologies from @it include patented innovations and solutionséotent protection, network security
and anti-counterfeiting. As part of the acquisititie Company agreed to pay $50.0 million to cer@R| employees and contractors in cash ¢
the Company's common stock, at the Company's gptiger three years following June 3, 2011 (the &Raon Bonus"). The purchase price
from the business combination was allocated asvsli

63




Table of Contents
RAMBUS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Total
(in thousands)

Cash $ 1,42¢
Accounts receivable 1,14(
Identified intangible assets 159,20(
Property and equipment 96&
Other assets 13<
Goodwill 96,99:
Liabilities (2,619

Total $ 257,24

Of the identified intangible assets, $12.2 milliwas recognized as favorable contracts which areigejpatent licensing agreements wt
the Company has no performance obligations. Casdived from these acquired favorable contractsmedlice the favorable contract
intangible asset over the estimated useful lifecils based on the expected payment dates retathd favorable contracts.

2010 Acquisition ActivityDuring the year ended December 31, 2010 , the Coynpatered into various business combinations and
technology asset acquisitions. These transactiadsttotal purchase price of $27.7 million . Thieaasactions were completed to acquire
patents and technology for general lighting, LCRKbghting, microelectromechanical systems displayker technology and key employees.
Direct acquisition costs of $0.3 million relatedtb@ business combinations were expensed as igcdrhe allocation of the purchase price for
these transactions was acquired intangible as&&404 million , property, plant and equipment$6f7 million and goodwill of $2.6 million .

6. Intangible Assets and Goodwill
2012 Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets

In August 2012, as a result of the change in basistrategy for the LDT reporting unit, the Compaawised its projected cash flows for
LDT, triggering an interim impairment analysis afaggwill and longhved assets. The decline in the projected cashsflimr LDT resulted fron
a change in business strategy with less focus@hitther margin display technology licensing andnaneased focus on its general lighting
technologies.

The Company monitors the carrying value of longdivassets for potential impairment each quartexdbas whether certain triggering
events have occurred. As noted above, the Compmaitgd for impairment its long-lived assets in LB3Tod August 31, 2012. The Company
determined its long-lived asset group to be its LiBporting unit comprised primarily of finite-livadtangible assets and property, plant and
equipment.

The Company records an impairment charge on tigelivad assets if it determines that their carryiaduie may not be recoverable. The
carrying value is not recoverable if it exceedsuhdiscounted cash flows resulting from the ustefasset and its eventual disposition. Wher
the Company determines that the carrying valud@iang-lived assets may not be recoverable, thegaay measures the potential
impairment based on a projected discounted cashrfiethod using a discount rate determined by itsagament to be commensurate with the
risk inherent in its current business model. Anainment loss is recognized only if the carrying amtoof the londived assets as a group is
recoverable and the carrying amount exceeds ityd&ie. The impairment charge is recorded to redhe pre-impairment carrying amount of
the long-lived assets based on the relative cagrgimount of those assets, though not to reducesttiging amount of an asset below its fair
value.

As a result of the interim impairment analysis, @@mpany concluded that its LDT asset group washl# to recover the carrying amount
of its LDT assets. Determining the fair value ofamset group unit is judgmental in nature and reguthe use of significant estimates and
assumptions, considered to be Level 3 fair valpets including current replacement costs, revegrawth rates and operating margins, and
discount rates, among others. Accordingly, the Camypvas required to make various estimates in aénéng the fair values of the LDT asset
group. Due to the highly customized nature of tB Lmanufacturing equipment, the Company primartiliaed the cost approach to estimate
the fair value of its property, plant and equipmédmt determine the estimated fair value of its prog plant and equipment, adjustment fact
including cost trend factors, were applied to eadividual asset's original cost in order to estenaurrent replacement cost. The current
replacement cost was then adjusted for estimatedatiens to recognize the effects of deterioratiod obsolescence from all causes, as wi
indirect costs such as installation. Where appeaterithe Company utilized a market approach tonesé the
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fair value of its property, plant and equipmentisTépproach included the identification of markets in actual transactions for similar asset:
based on asking prices for assets currently avaifab sale, as well as obtaining and reviewindgaiardirect market values based quoted price
with manufacturers and secondary market particgpfortsimilar equipment. Upon completion of thisbsis, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of $5.8 million and $0.6 millifur building improvements and software in its LD3sat group, respectively.

The estimated fair value of the LDT intangible asseas determined based on the income approacty Level 3 fair value inputs, as it v
deemed to be the most indicative of the Compaayrs/alue in an orderly transaction between mapketicipants. Under the income approach
the Company determined fair value based on thmastd future cash flows resulting from the licegsifithe technology underlying the
intangible assets. The estimated cash flows ifnteme approach were discounted by an estimateghtesl-average cost of capital which
reflects the overall level of inherent risk of tleporting unit and the rate of return an outside#tor would expect to earn. Upon completion o
this analysis, the Company recorded an impairmeatge of $15.4 million in the third quarter of 20E2ated to the LDT intangible assets.

Accordingly a long-lived asset impairment charggragating to $21.8 million was included in "Impaént of goodwill and long-lived
assets" in the accompanying Consolidated Stateroé@gperations.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of the net tangible and idiiiie intangible assets acquired in each
business combination. The Company performs its impant analysis of goodwill on an annual basis miyifourth quarter of the year unless
conditions arise that warrant a more frequent eatadn. In addition to the annual goodwill impairnh@malysis, the Company performed an
event-driven interim impairment analysis of gooda# of August 31, 2012 as noted above.

Goodwill is allocated to the various reporting snithich are generally operating segments. The gidladwpairment test involves a two-
step process. In the first step, the Company coespiie fair value of each reporting unit to its'gimg value. If the fair value of the reporting
unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill is nopaired and no further testing is required. If thie ¥alue of the reporting unit is less than the
carrying value, the Company must perform the sesbepl of the impairment test to measure the amafuntpairment loss. In the second step,
the reporting unit's fair value is allocated todlthe assets and liabilities of the reportingtunicluding any unrecognized intangible assets
hypothetical analysis that calculates the implid ¥alue of goodwill in the same manner as ifragorting unit was being acquired by a
market participant in a business combination. éfithplied fair value of the reporting unit's goothis less than the carrying value, the
difference is recorded as an impairment loss.

The Company estimated the fair value of all thergépg units using the income approach which waerdg@ned using Level 3 fair value
inputs. The utilization of the income approach étedmine fair value requires estimates of futureraping results and cash flows discounted
using an estimated discount rate. Cash flow prigjestare based on management's estimates of regeowth rates and operating margins,
taking into consideration industry and market ctinds. The discount rate used is based on a welghterage cost of capital adjusted for the
relevant risk associated with the characteristfdh® business and the projected cash flows. Geetstimates used in the income approach
involve information from businesses with developiagenue models and limited financial history, whilecrease the risk of differences
between the projected and actual performance. Ot d&ey assumptions used in applying the incoppra@ach includes discount rates which
ranged from 20% to 35% depending on the reportmitsuoverall risk profile relative to other guitded companies, the reporting units'
respective industry as well as the visibility ofite expected cash flows.

Upon the completion of the goodwill impairment giséd as of August 31, 2012, the Company recordeahacash goodwill impairment
charge of $13.7 million relating to the LDT repagiunit. The goodwill impairment charge is includedimpairment of goodwill and long-
lived assets” in the accompanying ConsolidatedeStants of Operations.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company finalitke financial information that will be regulangviewed for resource allocation and
performance assessment under the new internalami@aagion which was announced in the third quart&012. The new internal organization
structure resulted in four reporting units: MID, CRDT and MTD. The Company performed its annuabdwill impairment analysis as of
December 31, 2012, and determined that the fairevaf each of its reporting units exceeded thairygzg value. The fair value of each of the
reporting units was determined using the income@ah as discussed above.

It is reasonably possible that the businesses qmrirm significantly below the Company's expeota or a deterioration of market and
economic conditions could occur. This would advigrsapact the Company's ability to meet its progettesults, which could cause the
goodwill in any of its reporting units or long-lideassets in any of its asset groups to become iethaBignificant differences between these
estimates and actual cash flows could materiafigcathe Company's future
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financial results. If the MTD and LDT reporting tsare not successful in commercializing new bissirlgrangements, or if the Company is
unsuccessful in signing new license agreementsr@wing its existing license agreements for the Mifid CRI reporting units, the revenue
and income for these reporting units could advgraatl materially deviate from their historical tdsrand could cause goodwill or long-lived
assets to become impaired. If the Company detesired its goodwill or long-lived assets are imedjrit would be required to record a non-
cash charge that could have a material adverset effeits results of operations and financial posit

Goodwill

The following tables present goodwill informatiasr ach of the reportable segments for the yeasdbadcember 31, 2012 :

Impairment

December 31, Addition to Charge of December 31,

Reportable Segment: 2011 Goodwill (1) Goodwill (2) 2012

(In thousands)

MID $ 4,45¢ % 15,451 % — 19,90¢
CTO — 8,07( — 8,07(
All Other 110,69 — (13,700 96,99
Total $ 11514¢ $ 23,52: % (13,700 $  124,96¢

(1) The addition to goodwill resulted from two busss combinations in the first quarter of 2012. [Set 5, “Acquisitions” for further details.
(2) The Company recorded a non-cash goodwill immpaitt charge of $ 13.7 million related to the LDPaging unit as
discussed above.

December 31, 2012

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Reportable Segment: Amount Impairment Losses Amount

(In thousands)

MID $ 19,90: $ — % 19,90¢
CTO 8,07( — 8,07(
All Other 110,69 (13,700 96,99+
Total $ 138,66 $ (13,700 $ 124,96

Intangible Assets

The components of the Company’s intangible assets RBecember 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 veeialaws:

As of December 31, 2012

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount

(In thousands)

Existing technology (1) 3tol0years $ 191,81! $ (57,240 $ 134,57!
Customer contracts and contractual relationships to 1D years 32,65( (14,199 18,45¢
Non-compete agreements 3 years 30C (15€) 142

Total intangible assets $ 224,76¢  $ (71,59) $ 153,17:
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As of December 31, 2011

Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount

(In thousands)

Existing technology 3to1l0years $ 198,37 $ (43,066 $ 155,31:
Customer contracts and contractual relationships to 1D years 33,55( (7,149 26,40:
Non-compete agreements 3 years 40C (15€) 242

Total intangible assets $ 232,32 $ (50,3779 $ 181,95!

(1) The Company recorded a non-cash intangible immgant charge of $15.4 million related to the LDiDgp as discussed
above which has been netted from the gross cargimgunt and accumulated amortization for existaaphology.

The favorable contracts (included in customer @wigrand contractual relationships) are acquiréehpéicensing agreements where the
Company has no performance obligations. Cash reddiom these acquired favorable contracts recheéatvorable contract intangible asset.
During 2012 and 2011 , the Company received $5liiomiand $2.3 milliorrelated to the favorable contracts, respectivelyoADecember 3:
2012 and 2011 , the net balance of the favorabl&act intangible assets was $4.8 million and $8illon , respectively. The estimated useful
life is based on expected payment dates relatdtketéavorable contracts. The group of acquiredhigifsle assets has an estimated weighted
average useful life of approximately 7 years fréna date of acquisition. Refer to Note 5, “Acqusit” for additional details.

In addition to the business acquisitions discussédbte 5, "Acquisitions”, the Company acquiredestpatents in 2012 aggregating $1.7
million , in 2011 aggregating $4.2 million , of vehi $1.2 million was paid in cash, and in 2010 aggtieag $10.0 million .

Amortization expense for intangible assets forytbars ended December 31, 2012, 2011 , and 201$3@3 million , $20.2 million and
$5.1 million , respectively. The estimated futunecatization expense of intangible assets as of Déee 31, 2012 was as follows (amounts in
thousands):

Years Ending December 31: Amount
2013 $ 32,417
2014 27,31(
2015 26,66(
2016 25,76¢
2017 24,12t
Thereafter 16,89¢
$ 153,17:

7. Segments and Major Customers

Operating segments are based upon Rambus' integaatization structure, the manner in which itsrapens are managed, the criteria t
by its Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") teaduate segment performance and availability oasse financial information regularly
reviewed for resource allocation and performansessnent.

Following the completion of the internal reorgati@a structure announced in the third quarter df20n the fourth quarter of 2012, the
Company determined its CODM to be the Chief Exeeu@fficer and determined its operating segmenbetq1) MID, which focuses on the
design, development and licensing of technologyitheelated to memory and interfaces; (2) CRI,chifocuses on the design, development
and licensing of technologies for chip and systenusty and anti-counterfeiting; (3) LDT, which feges on the design, development and
licensing of technologies for lighting and displagiad (4) CTO, which is a centralized researchdewlopment and business incubation
organization that consolidates early-stage investmyéonger-term research activities and worldvédgineering, including MTD. For the year
ended December 31, 2012 , only MID and CTO werssicened reportable segments as they met the qaidveithresholds for disclosure as
reportable segments. The results of the remaintingr @perating segments were not material and therefore combined and shown under
“All Other”.
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The Company evaluates the performance of its segnb@sed on segment operating income (loss), vibidefined as customer licensing
income ("CLI") minus segment operating expensegntat operating expenses are comprised of direxting expenses and the allocatio
certain engineering expenses.

CLlI is defined as total cash royalties receivedrfiits customers under its licensing agreements thvém. Prior to the second quarter of
2011, the Company bifurcated royalty paymentsithaceived from Samsung between revenue and gain §ettlement, which was reflected
as reducing operating expenses. The Company hdsimedrevenue from its customers, including Samsand the gain from the Samsung
settlement as customer licensing income to reffeetotal amounts received from all of its custasrfer the periods presented. In addition,
customer licensing income includes other pateralt@s received but not recognized as revenueoth the third quarter of 2012 and the fot
quarter of 2012, a receipt of a patent royalty paynirom a customer was not recognized as revesinetall revenue recognition criteria wi
met during the period. Additionally, since therthquarter of 2011, the Company has received patgatty payments from certain patent
license agreements assumed in the acquisition di®Rh were treated as favorable contracts. Cashived from these acquired favorable
contracts reduced the favorable contract intangibset on the Company's balance sheet. The Compargombined these cash royalty
payments as CLI to reflect the total amounts resbivom its customers.

Segment operating expenses do not include gain $edttement discussed above, marketing, generahdmihistrative expenses and the
allocation of certain expenses managed at the catgtevel, such as stotdased compensation, amortization, and certain bandscquisitio
costs. The “Reconciling Items” category includesstéhunallocated marketing, general and adminigtratkpenses as well as corporate level
expenses. The presentation of the 2011 and 2010esdglata has been updated accordingly to confatintie 2012 segment operating
income (loss) definition.

The tables below present reported segment operatiogne (loss) for the years ended December 312 22011 and 2010 :

For the Year Ended December 31, 2012

MID CTO All Other Total
(In thousands)
Revenue $ 21504 $ — 3 19,00¢ $ 234,05:
Gain from settlement — — — —
Other patent royalties received 7,50( — 5,16¢ 12,66"
Customer licensing income $ 22254 % — 3 24,16¢ $ 246,71t
Segment operating expenses 37,35! 28,10¢ 32,94: 98,40(
Segment operating income (loss) $ 18519 $ (28,100 $ (8,772 $ 148,31t
Reconciling items (238,75()
Operating loss $ (90439
Interest and other expense, net (27,45))
Loss before income taxes $ (117,88

For the Year Ended December 31, 2011

MID CTO All Other Total
(In thousands)
Revenue $ 292,07 $ — $ 20,28¢ $ 312,36:
Gain from settlement 6,20( — — 6,20(
Other patent royalties received (3,000 — 2,25( (750
Customer licensing income $ 29527 $ — $ 2253¢ $§ 317,81
Segment operating expenses 45,67( 17,77 20,63: 84,07
Segment operating income (loss) $ 249,60 $ (17,77) $ 190¢ $ 233,74:
Reconciling items (235,27
Operating loss $ (1,53¢)
Interest and other expense, net (24,26%)

Loss before income taxes $ (25,80)
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2010

MID CTO All Other Total
(In thousands)
Revenue $ 323,03t $ — $ 352 $ 323,39
Gain from settlement 126,80( — — 126,80(
Other patent royalties received — — — —
Customer licensing income $ 44983t $ — 3 352 $ 450,19(
Segment operating expenses 45,17« 15,39: 7,99¢ 68,56¢
Segment operating income (loss) $ 404,66 $ (15,39) $ (7647 $ 381,62
Reconciling items (154,74)
Operating income $ 226,88
Interest and other expense, net (18,83¢)
Income before income taxes $ 208,04

The Company’s CODM does not review information relggg assets on an operating segment basis. Addltig the Company does not
record intersegment revenue or expense.

Revenue from the Company’s major customers reptiegeb0% or more of total revenue for the yearseehdecember 31, 2012 , 2011 anc
2010 were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Customer A 38% 30% 5€%
Customer B * 11% *
Customer C * 10% 15%

* Customer accounted for less than 10% of tota¢énexe in the period

Revenue from customers in the geographic regiossdan the location of customers' headquartersfisllaws:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
South Korea $ 88,97. $ 94,197 $ 181,86!
USA 63,39¢ 103,36° 23,52¢
Japan 63,68¢ 97,72¢ 117,10:
Canada 7,75¢ 14,75( 59z
Europe 5,23€ 1,99: 157
Other 5,001 331 147
Total $ 234,05. $ 312,36: $ 323,39(

At December 31, 2012, of the $86.9 million of tgieoperty, plant and equipment, approximately 884illion are located in the United
States, $1.0 million are located in India and $8illion were located in other foreign locations. Bécember 31, 2011 , of the $81.1 million of
total property, plant and equipment, approxima$#9.8 million are located in the United States2$tillion are located in India and $0.1
million were located in other foreign locations.

8. Marketable Securities

Rambus invests its excess cash and cash equivalem@rily in U.S. government sponsored obligatiawmmmercial paper, corporate notes
and bonds, money market funds and municipal natd$ands that mature within three years. As of Dexar 31, 2012 and 2011 , all of the
Company’s cash equivalents and marketable seaihtige a remaining maturity of less than one year.



69




Table of Contents
RAMBUS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

All cash equivalents and marketable securitieckgsified as available-for-sale. Total cash, @glivalents and marketable securities are
summarized as follows:

As of December 31, 2012

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Weighted Rate
(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Amortized Cost Gains Losses of Return
Money market funds $ 126,57( $ 126,57 $ — $ — 0.01%
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 57,34¢ 57,35¢ 4 (15) 0.17%
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities 183,91! 183,92¢ 4 (15)
Cash 19,41t 19,41¢ — —
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 20333 $ 20334 $ 4 3% (19
As of December 31, 2011
Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Weighted Rate
(Dollars in thousands) Fair Value Amortized Cost Gains Losses of Return
Money market funds $ 12755¢ $ 12755¢ $ — $ — 0.01%
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 137,10t 137,20¢ — (200 0.2%%
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities 264,66 264,76 — (200
Cash 24,78¢ 24,78¢ — —
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 28945t $ 289,55 $ — $ (100)
Available-for-sale securities are reported at ¥aiue on the balance sheets and classified asvgillo
As of
December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
(Dollars in thousands)
Cash equivalents $ 129,56¢ $ 137,45!
Short term marketable securities 54,34¢ 127,21:
Total cash equivalents and marketable securities 183,91! 264,66°
Cash 19,41t 24,78¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 203,33(  $ 289,45¢

The Company continues to invest in highly ratedligyaighly liquid debt securities. As of Decemigt, 2012 , these securities have a
remaining maturity of less than one year. The Camgeolds all of its marketable securities as atwddldor-sale, marks them to market, and
regularly reviews its portfolio to ensure adheretm#s investment policy and to monitor individuavestments for risk analysis, proper
valuation, and unrealized losses that may be dltzer temporary.

The estimated fair value of cash equivalents andketable securities classified by the length ofetitihat the securities have been in a
continuous unrealized loss position at DecembeRB12 and 2011 are as follows:

Fair Value Gross Unrealized Loss
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2012 2011 2012 2011

(In thousands)
Less than one year
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper $ 51,81¢ $ 137,10¢ $ (15 $ (200

The gross unrealized loss at December 31, 2012@htl was not material in relation to the Compangtal available-forsale portfolio. Th
gross unrealized loss can be primarily attributed tombination of market conditions as well asdémand for and duration of the corporate
notes and bonds. The Company has no intent tatisetk is no requirement to sell and the Compalig\®s that it can recover the amortized



cost of these investments. The Company has fourelitence of
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impairment due to credit losses in its portfolitliefefore, these unrealized losses were recordetthé@r comprehensive income (loss). Howe
the Company cannot provide any assurance thaditfopo of cash, cash equivalents and marketadbeisties will not be impacted by adverse
conditions in the financial markets, which may regthe Company in the future to record an impaimhwharge for credit losses which could
adversely impact its financial results.

See Note 9, “Fair Value of Financial Instrumenfsj’discussion regarding the fair value of the Camys cash equivalents and marketable
securities.

9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value measurement statement defines &irevas the price that would be received fromrsglin asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market partidipahthe measurement date. When determining &hirey the Company considers the
principal or most advantageous market in which@benpany would transact, and the Company considstsmaptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, sastinherent risk, transfer restrictions, and askon-performance.

The Companys financial instruments are measured and recordfair aalue, except for cost method investment eamvertible notes. T
Company’s non-financial assets, such as goodwitngible assets, and property, plant and equipraemimeasured at fair value when there i
an indicator of impairment and recorded at faitueabnly when an impairment charge is recognized.

Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair value measurement statement requiresodisid that establishes a framework for measurimy#édue and expands disclosure ab
fair value measurements. The statement requiresdhie measurement be classified and disclosedénof the following three categories:

Level 1:Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets thabacessible at the measurement date for identinegstricted assets or liabilities.
The Company uses unadjusted quotes to determinealaie. The financial assets in Level 1 includenmpmarket funds.

Level 2:Quoted prices in markets that are not active, putisiwhich are observable, either directly or iadily, for substantially the full
term of the asset or liability.

The Company uses observable pricing inputs inclpenchmark yields, reported trades, and brokdgdgaotes. The financial assets in
Level 2 include U.S. government bonds and notemarate notes, commercial paper and municipal bandsnotes.

Level 3:Prices or valuation techniques that require inthas are both significant to the fair value meamert and unobservable (i.e.,
supported by little or no market activity).

The financial assets in Level 3 include a cost stiment whose value is determined using inputsateboth unobservable and significan
the fair value measurements.

The Company tests the pricing inputs by obtainiriggs from two different sources for the same sgcon a sample of its portfolio. The
Company has not adjusted the pricing inputs itdiaained. The following table presents the finalnicistruments that are carried at fair value
and summarizes the valuation of its cash equivalent marketable securities by the above pricingldeas of December 31, 2012 and 2011 :

As of December 31, 2012
Quoted Market Significant

Prices in Active Other Significant
Markets (Level Observable Unobservable
Total 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
(In thousands)
Money market funds $ 126,57C $ 12657( $ — —
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 57,34! — 57,34¢ —
Total available-for-sale securities $ 18391t § 126,57 $§ 57,34t § —

71




Table of Contents
RAMBUS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

As of December 31, 2011
Quoted Market Significant

Prices in Active Other Significant
Markets (Level Observable Unobservable
Total 1) Inputs (Level 2) Inputs (Level 3)
(In thousands)
Money market funds $ 127,55¢ $ 127,55¢ $ — $ =
Corporate notes, bonds and commercial paper 137,10t — 137,10t —
Total available-for-sale securities $ 26466 $ 127,55¢ $ 137,10t $ —

The Company monitors the investment for other-tteanporary impairment and record appropriate reduastin carrying value when
necessary. The Company made an investment of $#i@min a non-marketable equity security of ayate company during 2009. The
Company evaluated the fair value of the investnretite non-marketable security as of December 8122nd determined that there were no
events that caused a decrease in its fair valusnbile carrying cost.

The following table presents the financial instruntsethat are measured and carried at cost on &cuming basis as of December 31, 2012
and 2011 :

As of December 31, 2012

Quoted
market Significant Impairment
prices in other Significant charges for the
active observable unobservable year ended
Carrying markets inputs inputs December 31,
(in thousands) Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2012
Investment in non-marketable security $ 2,00C $ — — 2,00C $ —
As of December 31, 2011
Quoted
market Significant Impairment
prices in other Significant charges for the
active observable unobservable year ended
Carrying markets inputs inputs December 31,
(in thousands) Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) 2011
Investment in non-marketable security $ 2,00C $ — § — § 2,00C $ —

In 2012 and 2011 , there were no transfers of firinstruments between different categories ofvalue.

The following table presents the financial instruntsethat are not carried at fair value but whiajuige fair value disclosure as of
December 31, 2012 and 2011 :

As of December 31, 2012 As of December 31, 2011
Face Carrying Fair Face Carrying Fair
(in thousands) Value Value Value Value Value Value
5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 $ 172,50( $ 147,55¢ $ 172,71t $ 172,50 $ 133,490 $ 170,28¢

The fair value of the convertible notes at eaclahet sheet date is determined based on recentquatdet prices for these notes which is
a level two measurement. As discussed in Note @an¥ertible Notes,” as of December 31, 2012 , thevertible notes are carried at face
value of $172.5 million less any unamortized dabtalunt. The carrying value of other financial fngtents, including accounts receivable,
accounts payable and other payables, approximaitegalue due to their short maturities.

The Company monitors its investments for other tiemmporary losses by considering current factoduting the economic environment,
market conditions, operational performance, aneragpecific factors relating to the business unileglthe investment, reductions in carrying
values when necessary and the Company’s abilityirgedt to hold the investment for a period of timeich may be sufficient for anticipated
recovery in the market. Any other than temporasglis reported under “Interest and other incompgpse), net” in the consolidated statemen
of operations. For the years ended December 32, @6d 2011 , the Company has not incurred any et loss on its investments.
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Information regarding the Company's goodwill andgdived assets balances are disclosed in Notmtrigible Assets and Goodwill".
10. Balance Sheet Details
Property, Plant and Equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment, net is compriseti@following:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(In thousands)

Building $ 42,12¢ $ 42,95¢
Computer software 36,34¢ 34,40
Computer equipment 29,37: 27,83¢
Furniture and fixtures 12,70¢ 10,01¢
Leasehold improvements 9,731 3,81(
Machinery 13,50: 9,711
Construction in progress 9,55¢ 8,26:
153,34¢ 136,99t

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (66,447) (55,897
$ 86,90f $ 81,10¢

As a result of the interim impairment analysis unidete 6, "Intangible Assets and Goodwill", the Gmany concluded that its LDT asset
group was not able to recover the carrying amobiis DT assets. Upon completion of this analy#ti® Company recorded an impairment
charge of $5.8 million and $0.6 million for buildjimprovements and software in its LDT asset groegpectively, which have been netted
from the gross carrying amount and accumulatededégtion. See Note 6, "Intangible Assets and Golbthfer additional details.

As the Company undertook a series of structurat@avgments to ready the Sunnyvale and Brecksvitiéiies for its use and retained
sufficient continuing involvement to preclude desognition of the buildings under the FASB auttadive guidance applicable to sale leasel
for real estate, the Company accounts for the imgilas owned real estate. As of December 31, 28d2011 , for the Sunnyvale and
Brecksuville facilities that has been completed, @enpany capitalized $42.1 million and $43.0 millia building based on the estimated fair
value of the portion of the unfinished spaces,tediped interest on the unfinished spaces and nmtgin costs related to the build-out of the
facilities. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011 ther additional Sunnyvale space that has not bempleted, the Company capitalized $6.7
million and $6.2 million in construction in progeelased on the estimated fair value of the podfdhe unfinished spaces and capitalized
interest on the unfinished spaces. See Note 12n¥aloments and Contingencies” for additional details

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@032 , 2011 and 2010 was $13.2 million , $11ilian and $10.1 million ,
respectively.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is compri§eieofollowing:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(In thousands)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netxf ta $ 86 $ 86
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities,af tax (386) (475)
Total $ (300 $ (389

11. Convertible Notes

The Company’s convertible notes are shown in tHewviing table.
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(Dollars in thousands) As of December 31, 2012  As of December 31, 2011
5% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 (the "2014ehI9t $ 172,500 $ 172,50(
Unamortized discount (24,94¢) (39,007
Total convertible notes $ 147,55t $ 133,49:
Less current portion — —
Total long-term convertible notes $ 147,55¢  § 133,49

5% Convertible Senior Notes due 20Xan June 29, 2009, the Company issued $150.0 mélggregate principal amount of 58nvertible
senior notes due June 15, 2014. As of the datgsafince, the Company determined that the lialzititpponent of the 2014 Notes was
approximately $92.4 million and the equity compangas approximately $57.6 million . On July 10, 20an additional $22.5 million of the
2014 Notes were issued as a result of the undensrixercising their overallotment option. As af thate of issuance of the $22.5 million 201+
Notes, the Company determined that the liabilitsnponent was approximate$14.3 million , and the equity component was apipnately
$8.2 million . The unamortized discount relatedht® 2014 Notes is being amortized to interest expersing the effective interest method ove
five years through June 2014.

The Company will pay cash interest at an annual@6% of the principal amount at issuance, payabmi-annually in arrears on June 15
and December 15 of each year, beginning on Decefrtyet009. During 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , the Compaid approximately $8.6 million
of interest related to the 2014 Notes in each yisauance costs were approximately $5.1 milliowlich $3.2 million is related to the liability
portion, which is being amortized to interest exgeeaver five years (the expected term of the dabt),$1.9 million is related to the equity
portion. The 2014 Notes are the Company’s genersgcured obligation, ranking equal in right of paytito all of the Compang’existing an
future senior indebtedness and are senior in afpaiyment to any of the Company’s future indebésdrthat is expressly subordinated to the
2014 Notes.

The 2014 Notes are convertible into shares of ti@gany’s Common Stock at an initial conversion wdt&1.8 shares of Common Stock
per $1,000 principal amount of 2014 Notes. Thisgaivalent to an initial conversion price of approately $19.3Jper share of common stoc
Holders may surrender their 2014 Notes for coneerprior to March 15, 2014 only under the followicigcumstances: (i) during any calendar
guarter beginning after the calendar quarter en8iygtember 30, 2009, and only during such calemaarter, if the closing sale price of the
Common Stock for 20 days or more trading days énpiiriod of 30 days consecutive trading days endinthe last trading day of the
immediately preceding calendar quarter exceeds 1#0¥%e conversion price in effect on the lastimgdiay of the immediately preceding
calendar quarter, (ii) during the five business pasiod after any 10 days consecutive trading daiop in which the trading price per $1,000
principal amount of 2014 Notes for each trading daguch 10 days consecutive trading day periodlessthan 98% of the product of the
closing sale price of the Common Stock for suctlitrggday and the applicable conversion rate, ({{jidn the occurrence of specified
distributions to holders of the Common Stock, (ippn a fundamental change of the Company as spedifithe Indenture governing the 2014
Notes, or (v) if the Company calls any or all of 2014 Notes for redemption, at any time prioh®dlose of business on the business
immediately preceding the redemption date. On dted ®arch 15, 2014, holders may convert their 28bdes at any time until the close of
business on the third business day prior to thairtatdate, regardless of the foregoing circumstanc

Upon conversion of the 2014 Notes, the Companypal (i) cash equal to the lesser of the aggrguateipal amount and the conversion
value of the 2014 Notes and (ii) shares of the Camgis Common Stock for the remainder, if any, & @ompany’s conversion obligation, in
each case based on a daily conversion value cedduben a proportionate basis for each trading dafe 20 days trading day conversion
reference period as further specified in the Indent

The Company may not redeem the 2014 Notes at fiisroprior to June 15, 2012. At any time on or aflene 15, 2012, the Company will
have the right, at its option, to redeem the 20d#ehlin whole or in part for cash in an amount &tua00% of the principal amount of the
2014 Notes to be redeemed, together with accruédiapaid interest, if any, if the closing sale praf the Common Stock for at least 20 days
of the 30 days consecutive trading days immedigigty to any date the Company gives a notice démeption is greater than 130% of the
conversion price on the date of such notice.

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change, holdey require the Company to repurchase some of tileir 2014 Notes for cash at a
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of 2084 Notes being repurchased, plus accrued andduimperest, if any. In addition, upon the
occurrence of certain fundamental changes, agelfmatis defined in the Indenture, the Company willgertain circumstances, increase the
conversion rate for 2014 Notes converted in conoeatith such
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fundamental changes by a specified number of steif€@emmon Stock, not to exceed 15.5401 per $1g@bEipal amount of the 2014 Notes.

The following events are considered “Events of D#fainder the Indenture which may result in theederation of the maturity of the 2014
Notes:

(1) default in the payment when due of any priatgf any of the 2014 Notes at maturity, upon repigom or upon exercise of a
repurchase right or otherwise;

(2) default in the payment of any interest, inghgdadditional interest, if any, on any of the 2(Ndtes, when the interest becomes due
and payable, and continuance of such default fiarend of 30 days days;

(3) the Company'’s failure to deliver cash or cast shares of Common Stock (including any additishares deliverable as a result of
a conversion in connection with a make-whole funelatal change) when required to be delivered uperctimversion of any 2014
Note;

(4) default in the Company’obligation to provide notice of the occurrenca dfindamental change when required by the Inde;

(5) the Company’s failure to comply with any «f dther agreements in the 2014 Notes or the Indefother than those referred to in
clauses (1) through (4) above) for 60 days afterGbmpany’s receipt of written notice to the Comypahsuch default from the
trustee or to the Company and the trustee of satdutt from holders of not less than 2%%aggregate principal amount of the 2(
Notes then outstandin

(6) the Company'’s failure to pay when due theqpal of, or acceleration of, any indebtednessrioney borrowed by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries in excess of $30 milliompipal amount, if such indebtedness is not dispbdy or such acceleration is not
annulled, by the end of a period of ten days aftétten notice to the Company by the trustee ahtoCompany and the trustee by
the holders of at least 25% in aggregate prin@padunt of the 2014 Notes then outstanding; and

(7) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency arganization relating to the Company or any ofrtgterial subsidiaries (as defined in
the Indenture).

If an event of default, other than an event of ditfia clause (7) above with respect to the Compaeours and is continuing, either the
trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregateipal amount of the 2014 Notes then outstagpdiay declare the principal amount of, anc
accrued and unpaid interest, including additiontdriest, if any, on the 2014 Notes then outstanttiige immediately due and payable. If an
event of default described in clause (7) above scaith respect to the Company the principal amadistnd accrued and unpaid interest,
including additional interest, if any, on the 204dtes will automatically become immediately due gaglable.

Zero Coupon Convertible Senior Notes due 200h February 1, 2005, the Company issued $300.0milggregate principal amount of
zero coupon convertible senior notes due Februag2910 (the “2010 Notes”) to Credit Suisse Firss®o LLC and Deutsche Bank Securities
as initial purchasers who then sold the 2010 Nimtédsstitutional investors.

The 2010 Notes were unsecured senior obligatiamkimg equally in right of payment with all of Rao#®) existing and future unsecured
senior indebtedness, and senior in right of payreahy future indebtedness that is expressly slibated to the 2010 Notes.

The 2010 Notes were convertible at any time padhe close of business on the maturity date integspect of each $1,0@@incipal of the
2010 Notes:

e cash in an amount equal to the less
(1) the principal amount of each note to be converta
(2) the “conversion valueythich is equal to (a) the applicable conversioe,ratultiplied by (b) the applicable stock price dagined

« if the conversion value is greater than theg@pal amount of each note, a number of shares oflleRa Common Stock (the “net shares”)
equal to the sum of the daily share amounts, catiedlas defined. However, in lieu of delivering net
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shares, Rambus, at its option, may deliver cash,cambination of cash and shares of its CommockSteith a value equal to the net
shares amount.

The initial conversion price was $26.84 per shar@@mmon Stock (which represented an initial cosiger rate of 37.2585 shares of
Rambus Common Stock per $1,000 principal amouthie®010 Notes). The initial conversion price walsjsct to certain adjustments, as
specified in the indenture governing the 2010 Notes

On February 1, 2010, the Company paid upon mattiréyremaining $137.0 million in face value of @10 Notes.

Additional paid-in capital at December 31, 2012 &wtember 31, 2011 includes $63.9 million relatethe equity component of the 2014
Notes.

As of December 31, 2012 , none of the conversionlitimons were met related to the 2014 Notes. Tleeetthe classification of the entire
equity component for the 2014 Notes in permaneuitgds appropriate as of December 31, 2012 .

Interest expense related to the notes for the yarated December 31, 2012 , 2011 and 2010 waslaw$ol

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
2014 Notes coupon interest at a rate of 5% $ 8,62t $ 8,62t % 8,62t
2014 Notes amortization of discount at an additiefi@ctive interest rate of 11.7% 14,69¢ 12,62: 10,11¢
2010 Notes amortization of discount at an effeciiterest rate of 8.4% — — 95¢
Total interest expense on convertible notes $ 2332 § 2124 §  19,69¢

In 2010, the Company adjusted its interest expensmnvertible notes by approximately $0.7 milldure to the incorrect amortization of
the non-cash debt discount related to the 2014N\dtee Company concluded that the correction wasnaterial to the previous or present
periods.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

On December 15, 2009, the Company entered intas lagreement for approximately 125,000 squarefesfice space located at 1050
Enterprise Way in Sunnyvale, California commenangluly 1, 2010 and expiring on June 30, 2020.dffiee space is used for the
Company’s corporate headquarters, as well as emgige marketing and administrative operations actd/ities. The Company has two
options to extend the lease for a period of 60 m®eBach and a one-time option to terminate thelatisr 84 months in exchange for an early
termination fee. Pursuant to the terms of the |ethgelandlord agreed to reimburse the Companycmpately $9.1 million , which was
received by the year ended December 31, 2011 Cbhepany recognized the reimbursement as an adalitimputed financing obligation as
such payment from the landlord is deemed to benguied financing obligation. On November 4, 20blhétter plan for future expansion, the
Company entered into an amended lease for its Satafacility for approximately an additional 3108quare feet commencing on March 1,
2012 and expiring on June 30, 2020. Additionall{ermant improvement allowance to be provided byldhdlord was approximately $1.7
million . On September 29, 2012, the Company edtam® a second amended Sunnyvale lease to reladeriant improvement allowance to
approximately $1.5 million . The Company has natted the tenant improvements construction as cEBwer 31, 2012. The annual base ren
for these leases includes certain rent abatemehinareases annually over the lease term.

On March 8, 2010, the Company entered into a lagesement for approximately 25,000 square feeffimfeoand manufacturing areas,
located in Brecksville, Ohio. The office area igdidor the LDT group’s engineering activities whitee manufacturing area is used for the
manufacture of prototypes. This lease was amende&eptember 29, 2011 to expand the facility to axprately 51,000 total square feet and
the amended lease will expire on July 31, 2019. Cbmpany has an option to extend the lease foriagpef 60 months .

The Company undertook a series of structural imgmoents to ready the Sunnyvale and Brecksvilleifes|for its use. Since these
improvements were considered structural in natoethe Company was responsible for any cost overifian accounting purposes, the
Company was treated in substance as the ownecbfaeamstruction project during the constructioriqguerAt the completion of each
construction, the Company concluded that it rethisificient continuing involvement to preclude meognition of the building under the
FASB authoritative guidance applicable to the sedsebacks of real estate.
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As such, the Company continues to account for thielings as owned real estate and to record anteadiinancing obligation for its
obligations to the legal owners.

Monthly lease payments on these facilities arecatied between the land element of the lease (whiabcounted for as an operating lease)
and the imputed financing obligation. The imputieéiicing obligation is amortized using the effeetinterest method and the interest rate wa
determined in accordance with the requirementsilef leaseback accounting. For the years ended Desredit, 2012 , 2011 and 2010, the
Company recognized in its Consolidated Statemdr®perations $4.1 million , $3.3 million , and $0rbllion , respectively, of interest
expense in connection with the imputed financinligaition on these facilities. At December 31, 2@h2 2011 , the imputed financing
obligation balance in connection with these faeititwas $45.9 million and $43.8 million , respeelyy which was primarily classified under
long-term imputed financing obligation.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011 , the Companyategid $48.8 million and $49.2 million in properptant and equipment based on the
estimated fair value of the portion of the pre-damdion shell, construction costs related to thadsout of the facilities and capitalized interest
during construction period. At the end of the alitease term, should the Company decide not tewehe lease, the Company would reverse
the equal amounts of the net book value of thedingland the corresponding imputed financing oliaga

In November 2011, the Company entered into a lagesement for approximately 26,000 square feeffmfeospace in San Francisco,
California to be used for CRI's office space antldated as an operating lease. This lease hasmencement date of February 1, 2012 and a
lease term of 75 months from the commencement @atannual base rent includes certain rent abaieamel increases annually over the
lease term.

In connection with the June 3, 2011 acquisitio€Bf, the Company is obligated to pay a retentionusao certain CRI employees and
contractors, subject to certain eligibility and @lecation provisions including the condition of doyment, in three equal amounts of
approximately $16.7 million . The first payment wasd in cash during the second quarter of 201@ tae remaining payments payable on
June 3, 2013 and 2014 will be paid in cash or stddke Company’s election. As of December 31, 2ah2 remaining retention bonus
commitment is $33.3 million and may be forfeitecpart or whole by the covered employees and cawtrsicpon voluntary departure from
employment or discontinuation of services. Any antedorfeited will be accelerated and paid by tleenPany to a designated charity. See
Note 5,“Acquisitions,” for additional information regardirthe acquisition of CRI.

On June 29, 2009, the Company entered into an tncewith U.S. Bank, National Association, as teestrelating to the issuance by the
Company of $150.0 million aggregate principal antafrthe 2014 Notes. On July 10, 2009, an additi®22.5 million in aggregate principal
amount of 2014 Notes were issued as a result airiderwriters exercising their overallotment opti®he aggregate principal amount of the
2014 Notes outstanding as of December 31, 20126ah#l was $172.5 million , offset by unamortizedtdéibcount of $24.9 million and $39.0
million , respectively, in the accompanying condated balance sheets. The debt discount is curriesithg amortized over the remaining 18
months until maturity of the 2014 Notes on June2ld 4. See Note 11, “Convertible Notes,” for additl details.

As of December 31, 2012 , the Company’s materiatrestual obligations are as follows (in thousands)

Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
Contractual obligations (1)
Imputed financing obligation (2) $ 5449¢ $ 6,828 $ 6994 $ 7,168 $ 7,34F $ 752¢ $ 18,64«
Leases and other contractual obligations 16,35( 10,74¢ 1,657 1,541 1,04¢ 1,01¢ 34C
Software licenses (4) 43¢ 35¢ 80 — — — —
Acquisition retention bonuses (5) 37,95 18,20 18,20¢ 1,54( — — —
Convertible notes 172,50( — 172,50( — — — —
Interest payments related to convertible
notes 12,93: 8,62¢ 4,312 — — — —
Total $ 29467¢ $ 44,76 $ 203,74¢ $ 10,24¢ $ 839« $ 854 $ 18,98

77




Table of Contents
RAMBUS
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

(1) The above table does not reflect possible gagsin connection with uncertain tax benefitsggraximately $16.8 million including§10.6
million recorded as a reduction of long-term deddrtax assets and $6.2 million in long-term incdaxes payable, as of December 31,
2012 . As noted below in Note 17, “Income Taxedthough it is possible that some of the unrecagphtax benefits could be settled wit
the next 12 months , the Company cannot reasomstilyate the outcome at this time.

(2) With respect to the imputed financing obligatithe main components of the difference betwberamount reflected in the contractual
obligations table and the amount reflected on tbhesGlidated Balance Sheets are the interest oimiiieted financing obligation and the
estimated common area expenses over the futuredgeri

(3) Leases and other contractual obligations ohelihe Company's current operating lease commisreard commitment to purchase
intellectual property from Elpida.

(4) The Company has commitments with various safswendors for non-cancellable license agreengamsrally having terms longer than
one year. The above table summarizes those camttasitligations as of December 31, 2012 which &e presented on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet under current and thgrterm liabilities.

(5) In connection with recent acquisitions, ther@any is obligated to pay retention bonuses t@atedmployees and contractors, subject to
certain eligibility and acceleration provisionslunting the condition of employment. The remainir8838 millionof CRI retention bonust
payable on June 3, 2013 and 2014 will be paid &h @& stock at the Company’s election.

Rent expense was approximately $4.1 million , $2illion and $6.8 million for the years ended DecemB1, 2012 , 2011 and 2010,
respectively.

Indemnifications

The Company enters into standard license agreeriretiits ordinary course of business. Although tlken@any does not indemnify most of
its customers, there are times when an indemnificas a necessary means of doing business. Indieations cover customers for losses
suffered or incurred by them as a result of angmiatcopyright, or other intellectual property inffement claim by any third party arising as
result of the applicable agreement with the Compahg maximum amount of indemnification the Compaayld be required to make under
these agreements is generally limited to fees veddby the Company.

Several securities fraud class actions, privatelsts and shareholder derivative actions were filestate and federal courts against certair
of the Company’s current and former officers anédtors related to the stock option granting astidks permitted under Delaware law, the
Company has agreements whereby its officers aegtdirs are indemnified for certain events or o@nees while the officer or director is, or
was serving, at the Company’s request in such d@gpdde term of the indemnification period is ftie officer’s or director’s term in such
capacity. The maximum potential amount of futurgrpants the Company could be required to make uthése indemnification agreements is
unlimited. The Company has a director and offiosurance policy that reduces the Company’s expasuteenables the Company to recover
portion of future amounts to be paid. As a restithese indemnification agreements, the Companyirmees to make payments on behalf of
primarily former officers and some current officeds of December 31, 2012 and 2011 , the Compadyntede cumulative payments of
approximately $32.2 million and $31.9 million , pestively, on their behalf. These payments werended under costs of restatement and
related legal activities in the consolidated staets of operations. Also, in December 31, 201® Gbmpany reached a settlement agreemen
that resolved the matter captiorgiart J. Steele, et al. v. Rambus Inc., etwhere the Company agreed to settle the claimissighand the
individual defendants for approximately $10.9 mitliwhich was recorded under costs of restatemehtedated legal activities in the
consolidated statements of operations. As of Deeerdb, 2012 , the Company has cumulatively rece$2i3 million from insurance
settlements related to the defense of the Comptngirectors and its officers which were recordeder costs of restatement and related lege
activities in the consolidated statements of op@nat During the year ended December 31, 2012inswance settlements were received.

13. Equity Incentive Plans and Stock-Based Compentan
Stock Option Plans

The Company has three stock option plans underhwgriants are currently outstanding: the 1997 S@gton Plan (the “1997 Plan”), the
1999 Non-statutory Stock Option Plan (the “199%Pland the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “200&nP). Grants under all plans typically
have a requisite service period of 60 months amé8ths , have straight-line or graded vesting sglesdthe 1997 and 1999 plans only) and
expire not more than 10 years from date of graffiechve with
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stockholder approval of the 2006 Plan in May 20@6further awards are being made under the 199vdpid the 1999 Plan but the plans will
continue to govern awards previously granted utttgse plans.

The 2006 Plan was approved by the stockholdersay B006. The 2006 Plan, as amended, provides éassluance of the following types
of incentive awards: (i) stock options; (ii) stoglpreciation rights; (iii) restricted stock; (i@stricted stock units; (v) performance shares and
performance units; and (vi) other stock or cashrdaarlhis plan provides for the granting of awaatikess than fair market value of the
common stock on the date of grant, but such gnaiatdd be counted against the numerical limits ditable shares at a ratio of 1.5 to 1The
Board of Directors reserved 8,400,080d shares in March 2006 for issuance under tais pubject to stockholder approval. Upon stocttér
approval of this Plan on May 10, 2006, the 199 hRas replaced and the 1999 Plan was terminatedp@ih30, 2009 and April 26, 2012,
stockholders approved an additional 6,500,000 shamesach date for issuance under the 2006 PlarseTho will be eligible for awards
under the 2006 Plan include employees, directadscansultants who provide services to the Compayita affiliates. These options typica
have a requisite service period of 60 months amé8ths , have straight-line vesting schedules,expite ten years from date of grant. The
Board will periodically review actual share consuiop under the 2006 Plan and may make a requesiditditional shares as needed.

As of December 31, 2012, 2,729,159 shares 021#00,000 shares approved under the 2006 Plasimeavailable for grant. The 2006
Plan is now the Company’s only plan for providingck-based incentive compensation to eligible erygds, directors and consultants.

A summary of shares available for grant under tbmgany’s plans is as follows:

Shares Available for

Grant
Shares available as of December 31, 2009 7,462,39¢
Stock options granted (1,921,743
Stock options forfeited 1,411,52¢
Stock options expired under former plans (1,231,899
Nonvested equity stock and stock units granted (1) (453,468
Nonvested equity stock and stock units forfeited (1 81,354
Total shares available for grant as of Decembe2G10 5,348,16:
Stock options granted (2,357,001
Stock options forfeited 865,097
Stock options expired under former plans (503,526
Nonvested equity stock and stock units granted (1) (562,257
Nonvested equity stock and stock units forfeited (1 22,401
Total shares available for grant as of Decembef311 2,812,87¢
Increase in shares approved for issuance 6,500,00(
Stock options granted (2) (7,789,220
Stock options forfeited (3) 2,610,81:
Stock options expired under former plans (576,763
Nonvested equity stock and stock units granted (1) (1,113,014
Nonvested equity stock and stock units forfeited (1 284,46¢
Total shares available for grant as of DecembeP12 2,729,15¢

(1) For purposes of determining the number of shawailable for grant under the 2006 Plan agé#wesinaximum number of shares
authorized, each restricted stock granted redineesumber of shares available for grant by 1.5reshand each restricted stock forfeited
increases shares available for grant by 1.5 shares.

(2) Amount includes 2,840,9&hares that were granted from the stock optionangh program (discussed belc
(3) Amount excludes 6,449,255 shares that wemeisdered from the stock option exchange prograstydised below) as the shares are no

longer available for grant.
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Stock Option Exchange Program

On April 26, 2012, the Company launched a one-8toek option exchange program ("option exchangai$pant to which eligible
employees were able to exchange certain outstastidegg options for a lesser number of shares haamexercise price equal to the fair ma
value of the Company’s common stock on June 222 20thie Company's named executive officers, serida presidents and members of its
Board of Directors were not eligible to participa&iehe Program. Pursuant to the terms and comditid the option exchange, the Company
accepted for exchange options totaling 6,449,28bsurrendered options were canceled effectivefabe expiration of the option exchange,
and immediately thereafter, in exchange therefibie Company granted new options with an exercime @f $5.63 per share (representing the
closing price of its common stock on June 22, 2@%2eported on the NASDAQ Global Select Markep)uochase an aggregate of 2,840,986
shares of common stock under the 2006 Plan. Neiorgphave a new contractual term of the longehefdriginal remaining contractual term
of the surrendered options or five years, and geiyewill vest over a three -year period from tregelof grant, with one-third of the shares
vesting on the first year anniversary of the gdaie and the remaining shares vesting monthly dffiimre As a result of the option exchange,
total incremental compensation cost of the newomgtivas approximately $1.0 million . The total rémrey unrecognized compensation cost
related to the original options of $19.9 milliondate incremental compensation cost of the newooptgranted of $1.0 million will be
recognized over the three years requisite senacieg.

General Stock Option Information

The following table summarizes stock option acjivinder the 1997, 1999 and 2006 Plans for the yaated December 31, 2012 , 2011
and 2010 and information regarding stock optioristanding, exercisable, and vested and expecteestaas of December 31, 2012 .

Options Outstanding Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Average Exercise Contractual Aggregate
Number of Shares Price per Share Term Intrinsic Value

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Outstanding as of December 31, 2009 14,456,11( $ 20.9¢
Options granted 1,921,74: $ 22.4i
Options exercised (996,946 $ 12.9¢
Options forfeited (1,411,524 % 49.4:
Outstanding as of December 31, 2010 13,969,38! $ 18.8¢
Options granted 2,357,00: $ 18.8:
Options exercised (873,691 $ 8.4¢
Options forfeited (865,097 $ 14.5%
Outstanding as of December 31, 2011 14,587,59¢ $ 19.7:
Options granted 7,789,22( $ 5.81
Options exercised (221,934 $ 4.4¢
Options forfeited (2,610,812 $ 10.91
Options surrendered in stock option exchange progra (6,449,255 $ 21.11
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012 13,094,81% $ 12.7¢ 6.0 $ 75¢
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2012 12,185,46. $ 13.2¢ 5.8 $ 611
Options exercisable at December 31, 2012 6,129,72¢ $ 19.21 36 % —

Included in stock options granted during the yewteel December 31, 2012 are 1,795,000 stock optth@tisontain a market condition.
These options vest in three years if specifiedksprices are achieved. The fair values of the aystigranted with a market condition were
calculated using a binomial valuation model, whistimates the potential outcome of reaching the&ketaondition based on simulated future
stock prices. As of December 31, 2012 , there ¥es85,000 stock options outstanding that requieeGbmpany to achieve minimum market
conditions in order for the options to become eisatme. No options containing market conditionseveuntstanding as of December 31, 2011.
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The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeagents the total pre-tax intrinsic value forhie-money options at December 31, 2012 ,
based on the $4.87 closing stock price of Rambosifion Stock on December 31, 26&2The NASDAQ Global Select Market, which wo
have been received by the option holders had &biopolders exercised their options as of tha¢ dghe total number of in-the-money options
outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2@%21,106,084 and 6,152 , respectively.

The following table summarizes the information abstock options outstanding and exercisable aseseihber 31, 2012 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average
Remaining
Number Contractual Life Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding (in years) Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$4.13 — $5.32 1,318,08: 96 $ 4.3¢ 9,956 $ 4.87i
$5.63 — $5.63 2,119,12¢ 6.3 $ 5.6: — % —
$5.76 — $6.39 1,394,30: 94 $ 5.81 17,934 $ 6.3¢
$7.06 — $7.17 135,54¢ 83 $ 7.0¢€ 32,44t $ 7.0¢€
$7.31 -$7.31 1,370,14¢ 88 $ 7.31 279,665 $ 7.31
$7.70 — $13.21 1,330,84: 51 § 9.2¢ 990,41t $ 9.3¢
$13.30 — $18.69 1,885,631 33 % 16.6¢ 1,703,14( $ 16.8i
$19.13 - $21.51 1,497,06¢ 48 $ 20.1¢ 1,248,31¢ $ 20.0¢
$21.95 — $30.05 1,380,06: 38 $ 23.5¢ 1,183,85% $ 23.7(
$32.05 - $40.80 664,00( 18 $ 36.4¢ 664,000 $ 36.4¢
$4.13 — $40.80 13,094,81! 6.0 $ 12.7¢ 6,129,72¢ ¢ 19.21

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

During the three year period ended December 312 2@ie Company had one employee stock purchasethla 2006 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.

In March 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Empl@teck Purchase Plan, as amended (the “2006 Raréhan” or "ESPP") and
reserved 1,600,000 shares, subject to stockhafs@moval which was received on May 10, 2006. Onil&f, 2012, an additional 1,500,000
shares were approved by stockholders. Employeesraignwill be eligible to participate in this plafthey are employed by Rambus for more
than 20 hours per week and more than five momtlasfiscal year. The 2006 Purchase Plan providesixanonth offering periods, with a new
offering period commencing on the first trading deyor after May 1 and November 1 of each year.ddiis plan, employees may purchase
stock at the lower of 85% of the beginning of tlfifering period (the enrollment date), or the enaacth offering period (the purchase date).
Employees generally may not purchase more thanuhwer of shares having a value greater than $@5r08@ny calendar year, as measured ¢
the purchase date.

The Company issued 731,449 shares at a weightxd@e price of $4.21 per share during the yearceBaeember 31, 2012 . The
Company issued 271,804 shares at a weighted avprag of $15.62 per share during the year endssmber 31, 2011 . The Company
issued 261,088 shares at a weighted averageqirg®4.78 per share during the year ended DeceB8he2010 . As of December 31, 2012,
1,082,515 shares under the ESPP remain availabissuance.

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock Options

During the years ended December 31, 2012 , 201264@ , Rambus granted 7,789,220 (including optgrasted in the stock option
exchange program and options granted that contaiar&et condition), 2,357,001 and 1,921,743 stqatioas, respectively, with an estimated
total grant-date fair value of $32.7 million , $24nillion and $24.9 million , respectively. Duritige years ended December 31, 2012 , 2011
and 2010 , Rambus recorded stock-based compenseléead to stock options of $15.0 million , $1&n8lion and $22.6 million , respectively.
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As of December 31, 2012 , there was $29.0 millibtotal unrecognized compensation cost, net of etqueforfeitures, related to unvested
stock-based compensation arrangements granted thedstock option plans. This cost is expectedetodlocognized over a weighted-average
period of 2.8 years . The total fair value of oporested for the years ended December 31, 20021, &nd 2010 was $80.0 million , $144.8
million and $137.9 million , respectively.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised 882 million , $6.2 million and $9.1 million for ¢hyears ended December 31, 2012 , 2011
and 2010, respectively. Intrinsic value is thaltwtlue of exercised shares based on the priteed€ompany’s Common Stock at the time of
exercise less the proceeds received from the eraptolp exercise the options.

During the years ended December 31, 2012 , 2012@hd , proceeds from employee stock option exesdistaled approximately $1.0
million , $7.4 million and $12.9 million , respeatiy.

Employee Stock Purchase Plans

During the years ended December 31, 2012 , 20126h@ , Rambus recorded stock-based compensataiadeo the ESPP of $2.2
million , $1.7 million and $1.6 million , respectlly. As of December 31, 2012 , there was $0.7 amllinrecognized compensation cost relate
to share-based compensation arrangements granded tine ESPP.

There were no tax benefits realized as a resudtgfloyee stock option exercises, stock purchaselechases, and vesting of equity stocl
and stock units for the years ended December 3 20011 and 2010 .

Valuation Assumptions

Rambus estimates the fair value of stock optioirsguhe Black-Scholes-Merton model (“BSMTMhe BSM model determines the fair va
of stock-based compensation and is affected by Rahgock price on the date of the grant as welssimptions regarding a number of
highly complex and subjective variables. Thesealdeis include expected volatility, expected lifaled award, expected dividend rate, and
expected risk-free rate of return. The assumptionsxpected volatility and expected life are the assumptions that significantly affect the
grant date fair value. If actual results differrsfgcantly from these estimates, stock-based corsgion expense and Rambus’ results of
operations could be materially impacted.

The fair value of stock awards is estimated asiefgrant date using the BSM option-pricing modslasing a dividend yield of 0% and the
additional weighted-average assumptions as listeka following tables:

The following table presents the weighted-averagpeiaptions used to estimate the fair value of sbptions granted that contain only
service conditions in the periods presented. Tharaptions used to estimate the fair value of stptions granted under the stock option
exchange program are excluded from the following:

Stock Option Plans for Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Stock Option Plans
Expected stock price volatility 57%-68% 50%-75% 49%-69%
Risk free interest rate 0.6%-0.9% 1.4%-2.8% 2.0%-3.2%
Expected term (in years) 5.5-5.7 6.0-6.1 5.9-6.2
Weighted-average fair value of stock options grdinte $3.57 $10.27 $12.98

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Coyngamted 1,795,000 stock options that contain &ketaondition. The fair values of
the options granted with a market condition weldewated using a binomial valuation model, whicliraates the potential outcome of reacl
the market condition based on simulated futurekspoices. The weighted average fair value assatiatth these market condition options v
immaterial.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan for Years Ended Decemib31l,

2012 2011 2010
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Expected stock price volatility 56%-63% 56%-78% 50%-54%
Risk free interest rate 0.2% 0.1% 0.2%-0.3%
Expected term (in years) 0.5 0.5 0.5
Weighted-average fair value of purchase rightstginnder the purchase plan $1.58 $6.16 $6.45

Expected Stock Price VolatilityGiven the volume of market activity in its marketded options, Rambus determined that it wouédthe
implied volatility of its nearest-to-theoney traded options. The Company believes thatskeof implied volatility is more reflective of mhkat
conditions and a better indicator of expected vidlathan historical volatility. If there is notusficient volume in its market traded options, the
Company will use an equally weighted blend of histd and implied volatility.

Risk-free Interest Rate:Rambus bases the risk-free interest rate ustgtiBSM valuation method on implied yield currerdiyailable on
the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with an etprivéerm. Where the expected terms of Rambusksbased awards do not correspond
the terms for which interest rates are quoted, Resnuises an approximation based on rates on thesti@sm currently available.

Expected Term: The expected term of options granted represbatpériod of time that options granted are expeittde outstanding. The
expected term was determined based on historigarence of similar awards, giving consideratiothi® contractual terms of the stock-based
awards, vesting schedules and expectations ofef@mnployee behavior. The expected term of ESPRgisbased upon the length of each
respective purchase period.

Nonvested Equity Stock and Stock Units

The Company grants nonvested equity stock unitdficers, directors and employees. For the yeaeddecember 31, 2012he Compan
granted nonvested equity stock units totaling 7@2,8hares under the 2006 Plan. These awards temrgiee condition, generally a service
period of four years, except in the case of gremthirectors, for which the service period is oeary The nonvested equity stock units were
valued at the date of grant giving them a fair eadfiapproximately $4.8 million . The Company odgaally grants nonvested equity stock
units to its employees with vesting subject toahbievement of certain performance conditions. muthe years ended December 31, 2012,
2011 and 2010, the achievement of certain perfocea&onditions was considered probable, and asudt,rthe Company recognized an
immaterial amount of stock-based compensation esgeglated to these performance stock units fahege years.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 , 2011 atl,28e Company recorded stock-based compensatimnse of approximately $5.3
million , $6.7 million and $6.3 million , respectlly, related to all outstanding equity stock grabtsrecognized stock-based compensation
related to all nonvested equity stock grants, fiencestimate of forfeitures, was approximately9%hillion at December 31, 2012 . This cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedoof 2.0 years .

The following table reflects the activity relatedrionvested equity stock and stock units for theetyears ended December 31, 2012 :
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Weighted-Average
Grant-Date Fair

Nonvested Equity Stock and Stock Units Shares Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2009 783,976 $ 16.2¢
Granted 302,312 $ 21.8i
Vested (314,045) $ 17.1¢
Forfeited (54,236) $ 15.7¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2010 718,007 $ 18.2:
Granted 374,838 $ 17.8¢
Vested (314,401) $ 18.1¢
Forfeited (14,934) $ 21.7¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2011 763,510 $ 18.0z
Granted 742,009 $ 6.4%
Vested (393,383) $ 17.3¢
Forfeited (189,645) $ 11.75
Nonvested at December 31, 2012 922,491 $ 10.2¢

14. Stockholders’ Equity and Contingently Redeemalel Common Stock

During the second quarter of 2011, the CompanyieedCRI. As part of the acquisition, the Compassuied approximately 6.4 million
shares of the Company’s common stock, of which @pprately 161 thousand shares were used to sasisfwithholding obligations for
certain former CRI employees and consultants. Sse Bl “Acquisitions,” for additional informatiorgarding the acquisition of CRI.

Contingently Redeemable Common Stock

On January 19, 2010, pursuant to the terms of thek$Purchase Agreement, Samsung purchased forfreesltihe Company 9.6 million
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) with certastrictions and put rights. The issuance of the&hly the Company to Samsung was mad
through a private transaction. The Stock Purchagedément provided Samsung a one-time put righinbetg 18 months after the date of the
Stock Purchase Agreement and extending to 19 maifittisthe date of the Stock Purchase Agreememptitback to the Company up to 4.8
million of the Shares at the original issue pri€&20.885 per share (for an aggregate purchase pfiap to $100.0 million ). The 4.8 million
shares were recorded as contingently redeemableoarstock on the consolidated balance sheet agodrdber 31, 2010.

The Stock Purchase Agreement prohibited the tranéfihe Shares by Samsung for 18 months afteddte of the Stock Purchase
Agreement, subject to certain exceptions. Afterietin of the transfer restriction period on JuB, 2011, the Stock Purchase Agreement
provided that Samsung could transfer a limited nemab shares on a daily basis, provided the Compathya right of first offer for proposed
transfers above such daily limits, and, if no sadeurs to the Company under the right of first gfédlowed Samsung to transfer the Shares.
Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, the Companyagi®ed that after the transfer restriction per8aimsung will have certain rights to
register the Shares for sale under the securéigs bf the United States, subject to customarysema conditions.

On July 20, 2011, the Company received notice fBamsung exercising their option to put back toGbenpany approximately 4.8 million
of the Shares for cash of $100.0 million . In Aug2@11, the Company paid $100.0 million to Samsuarexchange for the 4.8 million shares,
which were retired. The difference between the amoecorded as contingently redeemable common stodkhe cash paid was recorded as
additional paid-in capital in the Company’s condated balance sheet.

See Note 19, “Settlement Agreement with Samsury,further discussion.
Share Repurchase Program

In October 2001, the Company’s Board of Directting (Board”) approved a share repurchase prograits €fommon Stock, principally to
reduce the dilutive effect of employee stock opdioho date, the Board has approved the authorizsgioepurchase up to 19.0 millishares c
the Company’s outstanding Common Stock over anfurateéperiod of time. On
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February 25, 2010, the Board approved a new skargchase program authorizing the repurchase tf ap additional 12.5 million
shares. Share repurchases under the program mmagdeethrough open market, established plan ortefivaegotiated transactions in
accordance with all applicable securities lawssulnd regulations. There is no expiration dapdiGgble to the program. The new share
repurchase program replaces the program authadriz@dtober 2001.

On August 19, 2010, the Company entered into aestegrurchase agreement (the “Share Repurchasemeng® with J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc., as agent for JPMorgan Chase Beational Association, London Branch (“JP Morgardyépurchase approximately $90.0
million of its Common Stock, as part of its shaepurchase program. Under the Share RepurchaserAgnéethe Company pre-paid to J.P.
Morgan the $90 million purchase price in the thjechrter of 2010 for the Common Stock and J.P. Modglivered to the Company
approximately 4.8 million shares of Common Stockratverage price of $18.88 at the completion ®@Share Repurchase Agreement in
December 2010.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 20&1Gdmpany did not repurchase any shares of its Gon8tock under its share
repurchase program. For the year ended Decemb@&020,, the Company repurchased approximately @lmshares of its Common Stock
with an aggregate price of approximately $195.1ioml, including the price paid pursuant to the iI8®Haepurchase Agreement. As of
December 31, 2012 , the Company had repurchasechalative total of approximately 26.3 million shsua its Common Stock with an
aggregate price of approximately $428.9 milliorcsithe commencement of the program in 2001. Aseaeinber 31, 2012 , there remained a
outstanding authorization to repurchase approxip&t@ million shares of the Company’s outstand@mgnmon Stock.

The Company records stock repurchases as a redtotgiockholders’ equity. The Company records rtiquo of the purchase price of the
repurchased shares as an increase to accumuldigitiwlieen the price of the shares repurchaseded&¢he average original proceeds per
share received from the issuance of Common StogknB the year ended December 31, 2010 , the cuivellprice of the shares repurchased
exceeded the proceeds received from the issuartbe shme number of shares. The excess of $168i6mmvas recorded as an increase to
accumulated deficit for the year ended Decembep310 .

15. Benefit Plans

Rambus has a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the “4pR{&n") qualified under Section 401(k) of the imi@&l Revenue Code of 1986. Each
eligible employee may elect to contribute up to 66he employee’s annual compensation to the 4RI@n, up to the Internal Revenue
Service limit. Rambus, at the discretion of its Bbaf Directors, may match employee contributiam$hie 401(k) Plan. The Company matches
50% of eligible employee’s contribution, up to fivat 6% of an eligible employee’s qualified earmgsn For the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 , Rambus made matching catitits totaling approximately $2.1 million , $1.6llion and $1.2 million , respectively.

16. Restructuring Charges

During the third quarter of 2012, the Company atéd a restructuring program to reduce overall@@te expenses which is expected to
improve future profitability by reducing spending marketing, general and administrative prograntsrafining some of the Company's
research and development efforts. In connectioh thits restructuring program, the Company estimétasit will incur aggregate costs of
approximately $6.0 million to $8.0 million . Duririge year ended December 31, 2012 , the Companyratrestructuring charges of $7.3
million related primarily to the reduction in wotkte, of which $3.4 million was related to the Chiegportable segment; $0.7 million was
related to the MID reportable segment; $0.1 millieass related to the All Other reportable segmend; $3.1 million was related to corporate
support functions that impacted each of the Comgsasperating segments. The Company expects toasuladly complete its restructuring
activities by the first quarter of 2013. There wacerestructuring charges in 2011 or 2010.

The following table summarizes the restructuringivit@es during the year ended December 31, 2012 :

Employee
Severance
and Related Benefits Other Expenses Total
(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2011 $ — % — 3 —
Charges 7,301 — 7,301
Payments (6,39%) — (6,39%)
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 90¢€ — $ 90€
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17. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is comprised of:

Years Ended December 31,
2012 2011 2010

(In thousands)

Federal:
Current $ 15,04¢ $ 16,59t $ 55,33
Deferred 587 (25%) 25k
State:
Current (2,86¢) 17 1,467
Deferred 2,93¢ — —
Foreign:
Current 54: 88¢ 401
Deferred 207 9 (32¢)

$ 16,45. $ 17,25: % 57,121

The differences between Rambus’ effective tax aatkthe U.S. federal statutory regular tax rateaarfollows:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Expense (benefit) at U.S. federal statutory rate (35.0% (35.0% 35.C%
Expense (benefit) at state statutory rate 0.1 (0.7 0.t
Withholding tax 13.2 64.2 17.2
Foreign rate differential 17.4 33.C 2.4
Research and development (“R&D”) credit — (2.0 0.3
Executive compensation 0.2 2.C 0.7
Non-deductible stock-based compensation 0.7 2.8 0.3
Foreign tax credit (13.9) (197.9) —
Capitalized merger and acquisition costs 0.3 5.¢ —
Other (2.2) 0.t (1.9
Valuation allowance 32.£ 192.% (27.0

14.(% 66.€ % 27.5%
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The components of the net deferred tax assetssefmlaws:

As of December 31,
2012 2011

(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Depreciation and amortization $ 20,23( $ 2,06:
Other liabilities and reserves 19,624 35,05C
Deferred equity compensation 64,198 58,32¢
Net operating loss carryovers 38,133 8,432
Tax credits 76,82¢€ 58,314
Total gross deferred tax assets 219,00t 162,18t
Convertible debt (8,019) (12,932
Total net deferred tax assets 210,98 149,25t
Valuation allowance (206,469 (140,98
Net deferred tax assets $ 4,52: § 8,274

As of December 31,
2012 2011

(In thousands)

Reported as:

Current deferred tax assets $ 78¢ $ 2,79¢
Non-current deferred tax assets 4,45¢ 7,531
Non-current deferred tax liabilities (729 (2,055

Net deferred tax assets $ 4,52: $ 8,27¢

As of December 31, 2012 , the Company’s consolilbtdance sheet included net deferred tax assftaghvaluation allowance, of
approximately $211.0 million , which consists of nperating loss carryovers, tax credit carryovansortization, employee stock-based
compensation expenses and certain liabilitiesjglgrteduced by deferred tax liabilities assoaiaédth convertible debt instruments. For the
year endedDecember 31, 2012 , the Company’s valuation allm@dncreased to $206.5 million because of an iseréadeferred tax assets
related to net operating losses and foreign tagitsreManagement periodically evaluates the rehiiitg of the Company's deferred tax assets
based on all available evidence, both positiversgghtive. The realization of deferred tax assedemendent on the Company's ability to
generate sufficient future taxable income duringquis prior to the expiration of tax attributesfttly utilize these assets.

Management periodically evaluates the realizabilftthe Company's net deferred tax assets basatl available evidence, both positive
and negative. The realization of net deferred &pets is dependent on the Company's ability torgemsufficient future taxable income during
periods prior to the expiration of tax statutegulty utilize these assetsThe Company weighed both positive and negativeezsd and
determined that there is a continued need for @at@n allowance due to the uncertainty of genegasufficient taxable income to utilize
deferred tax assets based on forecasted revenhies, the Company considered significant negativdece. Though considered positive
evidence, potential income from currently unsigfedrable patent and related settlement litigati@ne not included in the determination for
the valuation allowance due to the Company's iitghid reliably estimate the probability, timingcdaamounts of such settlements. Even thc
the Company is no longer in a cumulative loss pmsithe uncertainty of generating sufficient taealbbcome to utilize deferred tax assets
based on forecasted revenues is a negative féetbotitweighs the positive factors leading to acasion that a release of the valuation
allowance is not yet appropriate.

As of December 31, 2012 , Rambus has federal r@atipg loss carryforwards for income tax purpasgfe79.2 million which begin to
expire in 2029. As of December 31, 2012 , Rambugsskete net operating loss carryforwards for inctameourposes of $296.2 million which
begin to expire in 2016. As of December 31, 20R2mbus has federal research and development tdit cagryforwards for income tax
purposes of $25.4 million and state research amdldement tax credit carryforwards of $11.3 millionet of federal benefit. The federal
research and development tax credit carryforwaedgnto
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expire in 2018 and the state tax credit can baethforward indefinitely. As of December 31, 201Rambus has foreign tax credit
carryforwards for income tax purposes of $82.4iomllwhich begin to expire in 2016.

In the evendf achange in ownership, as defined under federal tid gax laws, Rambus' net operating loss andreditacarryforwards
could be subject to annual limitations. The aniingtations could result in the expiration of thetroperating loss and tax credit carryforwards
prior to utilization.

Tax attributes related to stock option windfall detions should not be recorded until they resu#t heduction of cash taxes payable. The
Company’s unrealized excess tax benefits from st@tion deductions excluded from the federal aatesiax attributes as of December 31,
2012 were $93.5 million and $99.2 million , respesly. The excess tax benefits will be recordeddditional paid-in capital when they reduce
cash taxes payable.

As of December 31, 2012 , the Company had $16.8mibf unrecognized tax benefits including $10.@ion recorded as a reduction of
long-term deferred tax assets and $6.2 million réed in long term income taxes payabile. If recoguhi£2.0 million would be recorded as an
income tax benefit in the consolidated statemehtperations. As of December 31, 2011 , the Compeaty$16.6 million of unrecognized tax
benefits including $7.0 million recorded as a raaucof long-term deferred tax assets and $9.6aniliecorded in long term income taxes
payable. If recognized, $2.6 million would be retedt as an income tax benefit in the consolidai@t@stents of operations. Although it is
possible that some of the unrecognized tax bengdittd be settled within the next 12 months , tekenfany cannot reasonably estimate the
outcome at this time.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amsusftunrecognized income tax benefits for the yeaded December 31, 2012 , 2Giik
2010 is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Balance at January 1 $ 16,61( $ 11,81¢ $ 10,35:
Tax positions related to current year:

Additions 58¢ 60€ 1,401
Tax positions related to prior years:

Additions 1,521 4,911 14C
Reductions (1,947 (725) (78)
Settlements — — —
Balance at December 31 $ 16,77: 16,61 $ 11,81¢

Rambus recognizes interest and penalties relateddertain tax positions as a component of themetax provision (benefit). At
December 31, 2012 and 2011 , an immaterial amdunterest and penalties are included in long-teroome taxes payable.

At December 31, 2012 , no deferred taxes have pemnided on undistributed earnings of approximagéy7 million from the Company’s
international subsidiaries since these earnings baen, and under current plans will continue tgpbkemanently reinvested outside the United
States. It is not practicable to determine the arhofithe unrecognized tax liability at this time.

Rambus files U.S. federal income tax returns as agincome tax returns in various states anddorgirisdictions. The Company is subj
to examination by the Internal Revenue Service $")Ror tax years ended 2009 through 2011 . The @y is also subject to examination by
the State of California for tax years ended 2008ugh 2011 . In addition, any R&D credit carryfordar net operating loss carryforward
generated in prior years and utilized in thesauturke years may also be subject to examinatiom&yRS and the State of California. The
Company is also subject to examination in variagh&oforeign jurisdictions, including India, fornaus periods.

The Company's future effective tax rates coulddeeesely affected by earnings being higher thaitigated in countries where the
Company has higher statutory rates or lower thaicipated in countries where it has lower statut@tgs, by changes in valuation of its
deferred tax assets and liabilities or by changeax laws or interpretations of those laws.

18. Litigation and Asserted Claims

SK Hynix Litigation
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U.S District Court of the Northern District of Cdrnia

On August 29, 2000, SK Hynix (formerly Hyundai argnix ) and various subsidiaries filed suit agaiRaimbus in the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of California. The complaasserts claims for fraud, violations of federatitrust laws and deceptive practices in
connection with Rambus' participation in a standatting organization called JEDEC, and seekslam@tory judgment that the Rambus
patents-in-suit are unenforceable, invalid andimfinged by SK Hynix, compensatory and punitiverdaes, and attorneys' fees. Rambus
denied SK Hynix's claims and filed counterclaimsgatent infringement against SK Hynix. The case diaided into three phases: (1) uncl
hands; (2) patent infringement; and (3) antitragtjitable estoppel, and other JEDEC-related isReasbus prevailed in all three phases and
judgment was entered against SK Hynix. On appbkalFederal Circuit vacated the judgment and renthtidecase back to the district cc
for further proceedings consistent with its uncleands and spoliation opinions in the SK Hynix &fidron cases. SK Hynix was also awar
costs of appeal; The Company has accrued approxiyr®8.1 million related to those costs as of Deloen81, 2012.

On remand, the district court found that Rambusagrd in spoliation of evidence. Because the asbpatents were otherwise valid and
Rambus did not intentionally destroy particular dgimg documents, the court concluded that the gpjte sanction was to strike from the
record evidence supporting a royalty in excessrebsonable, non-discriminatory royalty. Accordinghe court ordered the parties to submit
briefs on what a reasonable and non-discriminatoyglty would be for the patents in suit.

On December 19, 2012, the court held a hearindgp@mgasonable royalty motion; SK Hynix's motiongammary judgment of invalidity,
new trial, or a stay of the case, and Rambus' mdti@amend the unclean hands decision. No decisians issued to date.

SK Hynix subsequently filed a motion for collateestoppel based on the Micron spoliation decisionemnand. A hearing is scheduled for
March 1, 2013.

Micron Litigation

U.S District Court in Delaware: Case No. 0-792-SLR

On August 28, 2000, Micron filed suit against Rambuthe U.S. District Court for Delaware. The @agserts violations of federal antitrust
laws, deceptive trade practices, breach of conthattd and negligent misrepresentation in conoaatiith Rambus' participation in JEDEC.
Micron seeks a declaration of monopolization by Ras) compensatory and punitive damages, attorfess'a declaratory judgment tieéght
Rambus patents are invalid and not infringed, &edatvard to Micron of a royalty-free license to Rembus patents. Rambus has filed an
answer and counterclaims disputing Micron's claama asserting infringement by Micron of 12 U.Sepas. Micron prevailed on its unclean
hands defense and judgment was entered againstuRaonkihe patent infringement claims. On appeelFéderal Circuit remanded the case
back to the district court for further proceedimgssistent with its opinion.

On January 2, 2013, the court issued its decisiatirfy that Rambus had spoliated documents in aild, that Micron's inequitable condt
defense and JEDEC-based claims and defenses ridgtatent misuse, antitrust, and unfair competiti@re prejudiced, and that the patents-
in-suit are thus unenforceable against Micron. ddwrt issued an order on January 24, 2013, diggtidlgment be entered against Rambus or
the patent infringement claims in 30 days , anglistathe remainder of the case pending appeal.

U.S. District Court of the Northern District of Gfrnia

On January 13, 2006, Rambus filed suit againsttién the U.S. District Court for the Northern Dist of California. Rambus alleges that
14 Rambus patents are infringed by Micron's DDRRR3, GDDR3, and other advanced memory products.bRarseeks compensatory and
punitive damages, attorneys' fees, and injunctliefr This case has been stayed since Febru&903,

European Patent Infringement Cas

In 2001, Rambus filed suit against Micron in ManinineGermany, for infringement of European pate,1E22 642. That suit has not been
active. Two related proceedings in Italy remainvact One relates to Rambus's claim that Micranfisnging European patent, EP 1 4 956.
The court in this proceeding has found the '95ématalid but not infringed. The court also disseid Micron's claims for unfair competition
based on JEDEC as well as abuse of process. Mitdomot appeal this decision so this case is nosed. The second case in Italy involves
Micron's purported claim resulting from a seizuf@wadence in Italy in 2000 carried out by Rambusspiant to a court order. The court in this
proceeding dismissed Micron's claim. Micron hasegbed this decision to the Italian Supreme Court.

89




DDR2, DDR3, gDDR2, GDDR3, GDDR4 Litigatior'DDR2")
U.S District Court in the Northern District of Cédirnia

On January 25, 2005, Rambus filed a patent infrimgg suit in the U.S. District Court for the Nonthdistrict of California court against
Hynix, Infineon, Nanya, and Inotera. Infineon andtera were subsequently dismissed from this tibgeas was Samsung which had been
added as a defendant. Rambus alleges that ceftiéénpatents are infringed by certain of the defamts' SDRAM, DDR, DDR2, DDR3,
gDDR2, GDDR3, GDDR4 and other advanced memory mitsdT his case has been stayed since Februang$, 20

European Commission Competition Director-General

On or about April 22, 2003, Rambus was notifiedhsy European Commission Competition DirectorategeanDirectorate) (the
“European Commission”) that it had received comykafrom Infineon and Hynix, which lead to a stagermnof objections from the European
Commission alleging that through Rambus' partiéipein the JEDEC standards setting organizationsadequent conduct, Rambus violated
European Union competition law.

On December 9, 2009, the European Commission ameaduhat it had reached a final settlement with Rasrto resolve the pending case.
On March 25, 2010, Hynix filed appeals with the & Court of the European Union purporting to Ehaje the settlement and the Europear
Commission's rejection of Hynix's complaint. No idem has issued to date on Hynix's appeal.

Superior Court of California for the County of SaRrancisco

On May 5, 2004, Rambus filed a lawsuit against blicHynix, Infineon and Siemens in San Francisgeefior Court (the “San Francisco
court”) seeking damages for conspiring to fix psiceonspiring to monopolize under the Cartwright, Aetentional interference with
prospective economic advantage, and unfair coniqetiThis lawsuit alleges that there were conceefiéaits beginning in the 1990s to deter
innovation in the DRAM market and to boycott Ramhbus/or deter market acceptance of Rambus' RDRAMuymt. Subsequently, Infineon
and Siemens were dismissed from this action (asutrof a settlement with Infineon) and three Samgsrelated entities were added as
defendants and later dismissed (as a result atlareent with Samsung).

A jury trial against Micron and Hynix began on Ji&te 2011. On November 16, 2011, the jury retumedrdict in favor of Hynix and
Micron and against Rambus and judgment was entgrélde Court on February 15, 2012. The court isgwedrder on January 29, 2013,
awarding costs to Micron and Hynix of $520,000 880,000 , respectively. The Company has accruetrillion related to these costs as
December 31, 2012.

Rambus filed a notice of appeal on April 3, 2014 briefing is currently pending.
Stock Option Investigation Related Clain

On May 30, 2006, the Audit Committee commencedhéermal investigation of the timing of past stogkion grants and related accounting
issues. Several class action, derivative, and f@ishareholder suits were subsequently filed,fallach (with one exception described below)
have been dismissed or settled.

On March 1, 2007, a pro se lawsuit was filed inKtoethern District of California by two alleged Rbhos shareholders against Rambus,
certain current and former executives and board lpeesn and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. This actemagnsolidated with a substantially
identical pro se lawsuit filed by another purporRaimbus shareholder against the same parties.oftsel@ated complaint against Rambus
alleges violations of federal and state securities, and state law claims for fraud and breadidatiary duty. On December 9, 2008, the
court entered judgment in favor of Rambus. Pldmfifed a notice of appeal on December 15, 2008J@ne 16, 2010, the United States Cour
of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit issued a decisaifirming the judgment in favor of Rambus.

On September 11, 2008, the same pro se plaintéi$ & separate lawsuit in Santa Clara County Sop€ourt against Rambus, certain
current and former executives and board membedsPanewaterhouseCoopers LLP. The complaint alleggations of certain California
state securities statutes as well as fraud andgeeglmisrepresentation based on substantiallgainge underlying factual allegations containec
in the pro se lawsuit filed in federal court. Judgrin favor of Rambus was entered on June 15,.2)aintiffs appealed and the court of
appeal issued an order affirming the judgment ocoelder 14, 2012.

Broadcom, Freescale, LSI, MediaTek, and STMicrodiemics Litigation

International Trade Commission 2010 Investigal
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On December 1, 2010, Rambus filed a complaint thighITC requesting the commencement of an investigand seeking an exclusion
order barring the importation, sale for importationsale after importation of products that incogte at least DDR, DDR2, DDR3, LPDDR,
LPDDR2, mobile DDR, GDDR, GDDR2, and GDDR3memorytrollers from Broadcom, Freescale, LS|, MediaTell &TMicroelectronics
that infringe patents from the Barth family of pate and products having certain peripheral inte$aincluding PCI Express interfaces,
DisplayPort interfaces, and certain Serial AT Atment (“SATA”) and Serial Attached SCSI (“SAS”) émfaces, from Broadcom, Freescale,
LSI and STMicroelectronics that infringe patentnfrthe Dally family of patents. The complaint namemong others, Broadcom, Freescale,
LSI, MediaTek and STMicroelectronics as respondextsvell as companies whose products incorponatetcompanies’ accused products
and are imported into the United States, includisgstek Computer Inc. and Asus Computer Internatitre., Audio Partnership Plc, Cisco
Systems, Garmin International, G.B.T. Inc., GigaeB¥echnology Co. Ltd., Gracom Technologies LLCw¢gt-Packard Company, Hitachi
GST, Motorola, Inc., Oppo Digital, Inc., and Seagaechnology. The complaint also names NVIDIA aadan companies whose products
incorporate accused NVIDIA products with certaimijpleeral interfaces, including PCI Express and RigBort peripheral interfaces, and seek
to bar their importation, sale for importation,sale after importation. On December 29, 2010]Tizinstituted the investigation. On June 20,
2011, January 17, 2012, and March 19, 2012, reispbctthe administrative law judge granted joimdtions to terminate the investigation a:
Freescale, Broadcom and Mediatek pursuant to thieegasettlement agreement. A final hearing betbesadministrative law judge was held
October 12-20, 2011.

On July 25, 2012, the ITC issued the notice ofl@germination to terminate the investigation wittinaling of no violation for the following
reasons: all of the asserted patent claims ardidngae to anticipation or obviousness, exceptcfatain Dally claims that include multiple-
transmitters for which the ITC determined there wasnfringement; Rambus did not demonstrate thist@xce of a domestic industry for both
the Barth and Dally patents; the Barth patentsiaenforceable under the doctrine of unclean haart$the Barth patents are exhausted as to
one respondent. The ITC's opinion setting fortld@terminations issued on July 31, 2012. Rambed &l notice of appeal on September 21,
2012.

U.S District Court in the Northern District of Cédirnia

On December 1, 2010, Rambus filed complaints ag8iremdcom, Freescale, LSI, MediaTek and STMicrctedaics in the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of California alleg that 1) products that incorporate at least DDRR2, DDR3, LPDDR, LPDDR2, mobile
DDR, GDDR, GDDR2, and GDDR3 memory controllers frBmoadcom, Freescale, LS|, MediaTek and STMicrdebeics infringe patents
from the Barth family of patents; 2) those samedpats and products from those companies that incatp SDR memory controllers infringe
patents from the Farmwald-Horowitz family; and 8ygucts having certain peripheral interfaces, iditig PCI Express, DisplayPort, and
certain SATA and SAS interfaces, from BroadcomgeBoale, LS| and STMicroelectronics infringe patdram the Dally family of patents. On
March 20, 2011, June 7, 2011, and December 29,,268fectively, Rambus' complaint against MediaFe&escale and Broadcom was
dismissed pursuant to the parties' settlement agee Rambus and LS| announced that they had ehiteieea settlement of their disputes on
February 19, 2013.

On September 26, 2012, the court issued a clairstaartion order. At a December 20, 2012 case manageconference, the court
scheduled an unclean hands trial to start on Aug®is?013, and a patent trial to start on April 2@14.

Potential Future Litigation

In addition to the litigation described above, camigs continue to adopt Rambus technologies intows products. Rambus has notified
many of these companies of their use of Rambustdafy and continues to evaluate how to proceethese matters.

There can be no assurance that any ongoing oeflitigration will be successful. Rambus spends il company resources defending
its intellectual property in litigation, which mapntinue for the foreseeable future given the mldtpending litigations. The outcomes of thes
litigations, as well as any delay in their resalaticould affect Rambus' ability to license itellgctual property in the future.

The Company records a contingent liability wheis pprobable that a loss has been incurred andntfoeiat is reasonably estimable in
accordance with accounting for contingencies. Aoeably possible loss in excess of amounts acésueat material to the financial
statements.

19. Settlement Agreement with Samsung

On January 19, 2010, the Company, Samsung andrcegtated entities of Samsung entered into a&atht Agreement (the “Settlement
Agreement”) to release all claims against eachrotlith respect to all outstanding litigation betwetbem and certain other potential claims.
Under the Settlement Agreement, Samsung has pai@dmpany two installments of $200.0
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million each in cash in the first quarter of 20&8d the parties released all claims against edwdr otith respect to all outstanding litigation
between them and certain other potential claimssuunt to the Settlement Agreement, the CompanySanasung entered into a
Semiconductor Patent License Agreement on Jan@ar2010 (the “License Agreement”), under which Samgslicenses from the Company
non-exclusive rights to certain Rambus patentstesdagreed to pay the Company cash amounts eqd2b10 million per quarter subject to
certain adjustments and conditions related to DBIAM revenue. These payments commenced in thedfirgrter of 2010 and will conclude in
the last quarter of 2014. In addition, as parhef $ettlement Agreement, Samsung purchased apmtetin®.6 millionshares of common sta
of Rambus for cash pursuant to the terms of a Stockhase Agreement dated January 19, 2010 (tbeK&urchase Agreement”), as
described in more details below. Finally, pursuarthe Settlement Agreement, the Company and Sagrsigned a non-binding memorandum
of understanding relating to discussions aroundva generation of memory technologies. On an agtedgssis, Samsung is expected to make
payments to the Company totaling approximately $9ddillion (subject to adjustments per the termthefLicense Agreement) from these
agreements (collectively, “Samsung Settlement3s e $100.0 million retirement of the continggndldeemable common stock described
below.

Under the License Agreement, the Company has gtdot8amsung and its subsidiaries (i) a paid-upgigal patent license for certain
identified Samsung DRAM products (these Samsung MRp#oducts generally include all existing DRAM prads aside from the Rambus
proprietary products) and (ii) a five -year terntgud license to all other semiconductor producésiHicense is a non-exclusive, non-
transferable, royalty-bearing, worldwide patengifise, without the right to sublicense, solely unlerapplicable patent claims of Rambus for
such licensed products, to make (including haveayasgse, sell, offer for sale and/or import suckrised products until the expiration or
termination of the license pursuant to the termthefLicense Agreement. The License Agreement regjtihat Samsung pay the Company
payments over the next five years of (i) a fixedbant of $25.0 million each quarter during 2010 #melfirst two quarters of 2011, and (ii)
thereafter, $25.0 million adjusted up or down basedertain levels of Samsung revenue for DRAM potsl licensed under the License
Agreement for each quarter after 2010 and subgegtrhinimum of $10.0 million and a maximum of $4tillion for each quarter. In addition,
additional payments or certain adjustments to thenents by Samsung to the Company under the Lickgiseement may be due for certain
acquisitions of businesses or assets by Samsuntying licensed products. The License Agreementthadicenses granted thereunder ma
terminated upon a material breach by a party afbtgyations under the agreement, a bankruptcytémgnlving a party or a change of control
of Samsung subject to certain conditions.

Under the Stock Purchase Agreement, on Janua019, Samsung purchased for cash from the Compé&nyiflion shares of common
stock of the Company (the “Sharesiith certain restrictions and put rights. The numiieshares issued was based on a price per shaadte
$20.885 (which was the average of the open ane ttasling price of Rambus common stock on The NAQDRlobal Select Market on
January 15, 2010, the last trading day prior todte of the Stock Purchase Agreement). The Shapessented approximately 8.3% of the
total outstanding shares of Rambus common stottlaatime after giving effect to the issuance tbér&he issuance of the Shares by the
Company to Samsung was made through a privateaittion. The Stock Purchase Agreement provided Sagnawne-time put right,
beginning 18 months after the date of the Stockfage Agreement and extending to 19 months ageddte of the Stock Purchase
Agreement, to elect to put back to the Companyoup & million of the Shares at the original issuegof $20.885 per share (for an aggregate
purchase price of up to $100 million ).

On July 20, 2011, the Company received notice f&amsung exercising their option to put back toGbenpany approximately 4.8 million
of the Shares for cash of $100.0 million . In Aug2@11, the Company paid $100.0 million to Samsangxchange for the Shares which were
retired. The difference between the amount recoegecbntingently redeemable common stock and tble paid was recorded as additional
paid-in capital in the Company’s consolidated be¢asheet.

The Stock Purchase Agreement prohibits the tramdfdre Shares by Samsung for 18 months afterdbe af the Stock Purchase
Agreement, subject to certain exceptions. Afteritipn of the transfer restriction period, the &¢®urchase Agreement provides that
Samsung may transfer a limited number of shares daily basis, provides Rambus with a right oftfofer for proposed transfers above such
daily limits, and, if no sale occurs to Rambus urtte right of first offer, allows Samsung to trearghe Shares. Under the Stock Purchase
Agreement, the Company has also agreed that aftidrdnsfer restriction period, Samsung will haggain rights to register the Shares for sal
under the securities laws of the United Stategestibo customary terms and conditions.

In addition, until 18 months after the date of 8teck Purchase Agreement, subject to customanptros, Samsung is subject to a
standstill agreement that prohibits Samsung framgreg other things, acquiring additional sharesonfimon stock of the Company,
commencing or endorsing any tender offer or exchaffer for shares of common stock of the Compaayticipating in any solicitation of
proxies with respect to voting any shares of comstonk of the Company, or announcing or
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submitting any proposal or offer concerning anyaoatdinary transaction involving the Company. Samgsis also subject to a voting
agreement under the Stock Purchase Agreementrihatips that Samsung will vote its Shares in fadfaloutine proposals (related to election
of directors, certain compensation matters, autledrshare capital increases and approval of trepemtlent auditors) that are recommende
the Board of Directors of the Company at any stotkér meeting. In all other matters, the votingesgnent contained in the Stock Purchase
Agreement requires that Samsung vote its Sharteisame proportion as the votes that are cadt bthar holders of shares of common stocl
of the Company. The voting agreement under thekStacchase Agreement terminates (i) with respe8htares that Samsung transfers in
accordance with the provisions of the Stock Puretfegreement, (i) upon a change of control or baptay event involving the Company or
(iii) when Samsung owns less than 3% of the outitenshares of common stock of the Company.

The Samsung Settlement is a multiple element aeraegt for accounting purposes. For the multiplenel® arrangement, the Company
identified each element of the arrangement andiéted when those elements should be recognizédglitse accounting guidance from
multiple element revenue arrangements, the Comphogated the consideration to each element usiags$timated fair value of the elements.
The Company considered several factors in detengitiie accounting fair value of the elements ofS8hmsung Settlement which included a
third party valuation using an income approach Blezk-Scholes option pricing model and a residygdroach (collectively the “Fair Value”).
The inputs and assumptions used in this valuatierevirom a market participant perspective and ohetuprojected revenue, royalty rates,
estimated discount rates, useful lives and incaredtes, among others. The development of a nuoflibese inputs and assumptions in the
model requires a significant amount of managemeigment and is based upon a number of factorsjdimgy the selection of industry
comparables, market growth rates and other reldaatdrs. Changes in any number of these assunspti@y have had a substantial impact or
the Fair Value as assigned to each element. Thesésiand assumptions represent management'sdtiesaees at the time of the transaction.

Based on the estimated Fair Value, the considerati$900.0 million was allocated to the followiaements:

(in millions) Estimated Fair Value
Settlement Agreement:

Antitrust litigation settlement $ 85.C

Settlement of past infringement 190.(
License Agreement 385.(
Stock Purchase Agreement 192.(
Memorandum of understanding (“MOU") —
Residual value 48.C

Total $ 900.(

The consideration of $900.0 million will be recorel in the Company’s financial statements as fatow

« $575.0 million as revenue which representecetitenated Fair Value of the settlement of pastrigEment ( $190.0 million ) from the
resolution of the infringement litigation and thatent license agreement ( $385.0 million );

e $133.0 million to gain from settlement which regpented the Fair Value of the resolution of thiraist litigation ( $85.0 million ) and
the residual value of other elements ( $48.0 nmlliavhere specific fair value could not be detemdinwhich included other claims and
counter claims released,;

* $192.0 million related to the Stock Purchasee®gnent which included contingently redeemable comstock due to the restrictions
and contractual put rights associated with thoseesh( $113.5 million ) and restricted common stigsked to Samsung ( $78.5
million ).

During 2010 , the Company received cash considerati $500.0 million from Samsung. The amount ated to the common stock issued
to Samsung was allocated to contingently redeendrtenon stock ( $113.5 million ) and stockholdexguity ( $78.5 millior). The remainin

$308.0 million was allocated between revenue ( $ &iillion ) and gain from settlement ( $126.8 iifl ) based on the remaining elements’
estimated Fair Value.

During 2011 , the Company received cash considerati $99.4 million from Samsung, which was adjddtased on certain levels of
Samsung revenue for DRAM products pursuant todhag of the License Agreement. The amount wasathacbetween revenue ( $93.2
million ) and gain from settlement ( $6.2 milliodased on the estimated Fair Value for the
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remaining elements. The total gain related to gitlesnent with Samsung of $133.0 million was redpega through the end of first quarter of
2011.

During 2012 , the Company received cash considerati $87.8 million from Samsung, which was adjddtased on certain levels of
Samsung revenue for DRAM products pursuant togheg of the License Agreement. The total amountreesgnized as revenue.

The remaining $200.0 million is expected to be paiguccessive quarterly payments of approximak@ly.0 million (subject to adjustments
per the terms of the License Agreement), concludirthe last quarter of 2014.

The cumulative cash receipts through 2012 andeimaining future cash receipts from the agreemeittsSamsung are expected to be
recognized as follows assuming no adjustmentsa@éyments under the terms of the agreements:

Received in Estimated to Be Received in Total Estimated

(in millions) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Cash Receipts
Revenue $ 1812 $ 93z $ 87.6 $ 100.C $ 100.C $ 562.2
Gain from settlement 126.¢ 6.2 — — — 133.(
Purchase of Rambus Common Stock 192.( — — — — 192.(
Total $ 500 $ 994 $ 87.6 $ 100.C $ 100.C $ 887.2

20. Subsequent Events

On January 31, 2013, as a result of the restrungyriogram to reduce overall corporate expensesCtimpany entered into an amended
lease for its Sunnyvale facility to reduce the gplayg approximately 31,000 square feet to 125,00@usgfeet. Pursuant to the terms of this
amendment, the Company will pay approximately $iilon for termination fees and broker fees fodueing the size of the facility.

In February 2013, the Company signed a patentdeagreement with LSI. This agreement allows L$h¢tude Rambus patented
innovations in all its products. In addition, tlretcompanies have settled all outstanding claimduding pending disputes related to Rambus
patented innovations. This patent license agreem#rterminate in 2018.
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RAMBUS INC.
CONSOLIDATED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA
Quarterly Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31,

2012(2)  2012(1)(2) 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011 2011
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)

Total revenue $ 57,44 $ 5753( $ 56,21f $ 62,86 $ 8335¢ $100,26: $ 66,21: $ 62,52
Total operating costs and expenses(1) $ 6147 $ 104631 $ 7796 $ 80,42 $101,49. $ 89527 $ 68,72. $ 54,15
Operating income (loss) $ (402) $ (47,100 $ (21,749 $ (17,55 $ (18,139 $ 10,73¢ $ (2,50¢) $ 8,37(
Net income (loss) $ (16,13) $ (58,099 $ (32,216 $ (27,890 $ (28,719 $  47¢ $ (1058) $ (4,230
Net income (loss) per share — basic $ (019 $ (05) $ (029 $ (029 $ (029 % = (010 $  (0.09
Net income (loss) per share — diluted $ (019 $ (052 $ (029 $ (025 $ (0200 $ — 0.10 $ (0.09
Shares used in per share calculations — basic 111,330 110,82t 110,55: 110,35¢ 110,17: 112,33 109,99: 107,61«
Shares used in per share calculations — diluted 111,33 110,82 110,55 110,35¢ 110,17 115,55; 109,99; 107,61

(1) The quarterly financial information include355 million related to the impairment of goodveétid longlived assets in the quarter en
September 30, 2012. Refer to Note 6, "IntangiblseAsand Goodwill" of Notes to Consolidated FinahStatements of this Form 10-K.

(2) The quarterly financial information include8.@ million related to restructuring charges in tharter ended September 30, 2012 $0d
million related to restructuring charges in the quarteedridecember 31, 2012. Refer to Note 16, "RestringuCharges” of Notes
Consolidated Financial Statements of this Form 10-K
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

The Financial Statement Schedule 1l — VALUATION ANDUALIFYING ACCOUNTS is filed as part of this AnnuReport on Form 10-

K.
SCHEDULE 1I-VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Charged Charged to

Beginning of  (Credited) to Other Balance at
Period Operations Account* Utilized End of Period
Tax Valuation Allowance
Year ended December 31, 2010 $ 150,93: — 177 (75,69¢) $ 75,41
Year ended December 31, 2011 $ 75,41 — 65,56¢ — $ 140,98.
$ 140,98: — 65,48 — $ 206,46

Year ended December 31, 2012

*  Amounts not charged (credited) to operations asegdd (credited) to other comprehensive incomesterced tax assets (liabilitie

(@)(3) Exhibits
See Exhibit Index immediately following the signatyages.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

RAMBUS INC.

By: /s/ SATISH RISHI
Satish Rishi
Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief FinanCéicer

Date: February 22, 2013

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each permsbhose signature appears below hereby constitugsppoints Satish
Rishi as his true and lawful agent, proxy and aggrin-fact, with full power of substitution andstéostitution, for him and in his name, place
and stead, in any and all capacities, to (i) a¢s@n, and file with the Securities and Exchangen@ission any and all amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, together with all sahled and exhibits thereto, (ii) act on, sign, atelfuch certificates, instruments,
agreements and other documents as may be necessqpropriate in connection therewith, and (aike any and all actions that may be
necessary or appropriate to be done, as fullylfantents and purposes as he might or could deeirson, hereby approving, ratifying and
confirming all that such agent, proxy and attorimeyact or any of his substitutes may lawfully docause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.
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Signature

/s/ RONALD BLACK

Ronald Black

/s/ SATISH RISHI

Satish Rishi

/s/ 3. THOMAS BENTLEY

J. Thomas Bentley

/s/ SUNLIN CHOU

Sunlin Chou

/sl P. MICHAEL FARMWALD

P. Michael Farmwald

/sl PENELOPE HERSCHER

Penelope Herscher

/s HAROLD HUGHES

Harold Hughes

/sl CHARLES KISSNER

Charles Kissner

/sl DAVID SHRIGLEY

David Shrigley

/sl ABRAHAM D. SOFAER

Abraham D. Sofaer

/sl ERIC STANG

Eric Stang

Title

Chief Executive Officer, President and DirectoritiBipal Executive

Officer)

Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Finar@féiter (Principal

Financial and Accounting Officer)

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013

February 22, 2013
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Exhibit Number

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description of Document

2.2(2)

3.1(3)
3.2(4)
3.3(5)
4.1(6)
4.5(7)

10.1(8)
10.2(9)*
10.4(9)*
10.5(10)*
10.6(11)*
10.7(12)*

10.8(13)

J

10.9(13)

J

10.11(14)1
10.12(15)1

10.13(1)
10.14(16)1

10.15(16)]1
10.16(16)1
10.17
10.18(17
10.18(18
12.1(19)
21.1

23.1

24

31.1

31.2

32.1

Merger Agreement dated as of May 12, 2011, by among Rambus Inc., Padlock Acquisition Corp., Crgpaphy Researc
Inc. and the shareholder representative.

Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioReygistrant filed May 29, 1997.
Certificate of Amendment of Amended and Restatedifi@ate of Incorporation of Registrant filed Juhé, 2000.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Registrant datecduBep23, 2012.

Form of Registrant’'s Common Stock Certificate.

Indenture between Rambus Inc. and U.S. Bank, Naltidgsociation, dated as of June 29, 2009 (inclydhe form of 5%
Convertible Senior Note due 2014 therein).

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into gRtrant with each of its directors and executiffcers.
1997 Stock Plan (as amended and restated as df4A2007) and related forms of agreements.

1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (as amendedestdted as of April 4, 2007) and related fornagrfeement.
2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.

Forms of agreements under the 2006 Equity Incetiga, as amended.

2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended.

Development Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2808nd among Registrant, Sony Computer Entertaitine. and
Toshiba Corporation.

Redwood and Yellowstone Semiconductor Technologghse Agreement, dated as of January 6, 2003, éetRegistrant,
Sony Corporation and Sony Computer Entertainment In

Settlement and License Agreement, dated as of M2itcB005, by and between Registrant and Infinesmrhiologies AG.

Amendment No. 1 to Settlement and License Agreendatéd as of July 8, 2008, by and between Regisarad Qimonda
AG.

Triple Net Space Lease, dated as of December 18, 2§ and between Registrant and MT SPE, LLC.

Settlement Agreement, dated January 19, 2010, ameggstrant, Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd, Sams&ilagtronics
America, Inc., Samsung Semiconductor, Inc. and 8amséustin Semiconductor, L.P.

Semiconductor Patent License Agreement, dated at9a2010, between Registrant and Samsung Efécg€o., Ltd.
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 19, 26ieén Registrant and Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd.

First Amendment of Lease, dated November 4, 20t hnlol between Registrant and MT SPE, LLC.

Employment Agreement between the Company and Rdlatk, dated as of June 22, 2012.

Separation Agreement between Sharon Holt and thes®Rant, dated as of August 30, 2012.

Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges.

Subsidiaries of Registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

Power of Attorney (included in signature page).

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, puit to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of theutes Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Sectoof 3e Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, puraot to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of thesftes Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as adopted pursuant to Sect?oof 3de Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, puisut to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purdaeBection 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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32.2

101.INS=*
101.SCH+
101.CAL+:
101.LAB+
101.PRE%*
101.DEF+

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, pursut to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursadection 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutne
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenin

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhen

I+

(1)
(2)
3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

Management contracts or compensation plans or geraents in which directors or executive officere aligible tc
participate.

Confidential treatment has been granted with raspecertain portions of this exhibit. Omitted ports have been file
separately with the Securities and Exchange Cononiss

XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language) imfation is furnished and not filed or a part of giseration statement |
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 oSenaurities Act of 1933, is deemed not filed forgmses of Section 18
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and othersis®t subject to liability under these sections.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K filedrabruary 25, 2010.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q fileddhoigust 5, 2011.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K fileddmctember 15, 1997.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedMay 4, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filedratoruary 28, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to the Form S-1/A (fibe 833-22885) filed on April 24, 1997.
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filedJane 29, 2009.

Incorporated by reference to the Form S-1 (file388-22885) filed on March 6, 1997.
Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-K filedSmptember 14, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed\vay 1, 2012.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed\tay 16, 2006.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filedvtay 1, 2012

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedApnil 30, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to the FormQG@Hed on April 29, 2005. Assigned to Qimonda int@ber 2006 in connection wi
Infineon’s spin-off of Qimonda.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q fileddmtober 31, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q filedMay 3, 2010.



a7 Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filedJane 25, 2012.

(18) Incorporated by reference to the Form 10-Q fileddmtober 29, 2012.

(29) Incorporated by reference to the Form S-3 filedone 22, 2009.
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Rambus Delaware LLC

Rambus Deutschland GmbH (Germany)
Rambus International Ltd.

Rambus K.K. (Japan)

Rambus Ltd. (Grand Cayman Islands, BWI)
Rambus Chip Technologies (India) Private Limited
Rambus Korea, Inc. (Korea)

Cryptography Research, Inc.

Unity Semiconductor Corporation
Kamiyacho IP Holdings

Mozaik Multimedia, Inc.



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Fora8 $Nos. 333-28597, 333-38855, 333-67457, 337
93427, 333-48730, 333-52158, 333-86140, 333-103F8%,115015, 333-124513, 333-146770, 333-159516388€l181072) and Form S-3
(No. 333-174754) of Rambus Inc. of our report ddtetruary 22, 2013 relating to the consolidatedrfoial statements, financial statement
schedule and the effectiveness of internal comivel financial reporting, which appears in thisrRdrO-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
February 22, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 1 5D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ronald Black, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKl®F Rambus Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dalnare responsible for establishing and maintgjmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesjor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over finaneoégdorting, or caused such internal control oveaditial reporting to be designed undel
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) ilas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasi's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danhave disclosed, based on our most recent ei@uaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that ined management or other employees who have aisagttifole in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 22, 2013

By: /s/ Ronald Black
Name: Ronald Black, Ph.D.
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) AND RULE 1 5D-14(A)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Satish Rishi, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on FornKl6F Rambus Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opgerstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)danare responsible for establishing and maintgmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andéav

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesjor caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over finaneoggdorting, or caused such internal control oveaditial reporting to be designed undel
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargaadang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) ilas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regastt’s internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dainhave disclosed, based on our most recent e@iuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aism@mtifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 22, 2013

By: /sl Satish Rishi
Name: Satish Rishi
Title: Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Finan€#icer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ronald Black, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. t8et 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eo8trbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report of Rambus Inc. on Form 10-K for tlsedl year ended December 31, 2012, fully compliigls the requirements of Section 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 198&lamended, and that information contained ih susual Report on Form 10-K fairly
presents in all material respects the financiabidwn and results of operations of Rambus Inc.

Date: February 22, 2013

By: /s/ Ronald Black
Name: Ronald Black, Ph.D.
Title:  Chief Executive Officer and President




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Satish Rishi, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 881350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eoStrbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report of Rambus Inc. on Form 10-K for tlsedl year ended December 31, 2012, fully compliigls the requirements of Section 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 198lamended, and that information contained ih susual Report on Form 10-K fairly
presents in all material respects the financiabidwn and results of operations of Rambus Inc.

Date: February 22, 2013

By: /sl Satish Rishi
Name: Satish Rishi
Title: Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief FinanCéicer




